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UNITED STATES
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Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
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OR
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant €l filed all reports required to be filed by Sewti8 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
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to such filing requirements for the past 90 dayss v ] No[ ]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ldsmstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥ab site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaRule 405 of Regulation S-T (8§ 232.405 of thispteg) during the preceding 12 months (or
for such shorter period that the registrant wasired to submit and post such files). Ye§[ ] No[ ]

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiilers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is aontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant's knowledgeleffinitive proxy or information statements incorated by reference in Part Il of tt



Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. [ ]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, -accelerated filer, or a small reporting
company (See the definitions of "large acceleréited” "accelerated filer," and "small reportingrapany” in Rule 12[2 of the Exchange Act
Large accelerated filer [ ] Accelerated filer'[ ] Non-accelerated filer [ ] Small reporting compdn]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant$hall Company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Bxge Act). Yes[ ] NoY ]

The aggregate market value of the voting and ndimga@ommon equity held by non-affiliates of thgistérant on June 30, 2013, was

$345.2 million (based on the closing price for gisaof the registrant's Common Stock as reporteti@iNasdaq Capital Market on that date
determining this figure, the registrant has assusudely for this purpose that all of its directoggecutive officers, persons beneficially owning
10% or more of the outstanding Common Stock anthiceother stockholders of the registrant may besitered to be affiliates. This
assumption shall not be deemed conclusive asit@aggfstatus for this or any other purpose.

On February 27, 2014, there were 39,263,837 sludithe registrant's common stock, $0.01 par vauéstanding.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT S

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardlimg statements. "Forward-looking statements,thas term is defined in the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 199E¢ atatements that are not historical facts andlne a number of risks and uncertainti
Words herein such as "may," "will," "should," "cdyl "would," "expects," "plans," "anticipates," "leves," "estimates," "projects," "predict:
"intends," "potential," "continues," and similargressions (as well as other words or expressiofeyeacing future events, conditions or
circumstances) identify forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements include, but are noftiém to: our ability to complete development of;eiwe regulatory approval for,
and successfully commercialize ARIKAYCE® or lipadaamikacin for inhalation (LAI); our estimates @fpenses and future revenues and
profitability; our plans to develop and market npreducts and the timing of these development progratatus, timing, and the results
preclinical studies and clinical trials and prediéal and clinical data described herein; the timiafjresponses to information and di
requests from the US Food and Drug Administratibie (FDA") and other regulatory authorities; ouriical development of product
candidates; our ability to obtain and maintain rdgiory approval for our product candidates; our eqpation as to the timing of regulatory
review and approval; our estimates regarding oupital requirements and our needs for additionakfiging; our estimates of the size of the
potential markets for our product candidates; oaftegtion and licensing of product candidates; ohility to attract third parties witt
acceptable development, regulatory and commereititin expertise; the benefits to be derived frompomate license agreements and other
third party efforts, including those relating toetidevelopment and commercialization of our prodacididates; the degree of protection
afforded to us by our intellectual property porifplthe safety and efficacy of our product candédatsources of revenues and anticipated
revenues, including contributions from license agnents and other third party efforts for the depeient and commercialization of products;
our ability to create an effective direct sales andrketing infrastructure for products we electiarket and sell directly; the rate and degree
of market acceptance of our product candidatestithng and amount of reimbursement for our proctastdidates; the success of other
competing therapies that may become available;tardavailability of adequate supply and manufaetgrcapacity and quality for our prodi
candidates.

Forward-looking statements are based upon our aqurexpectations and beliefs, and involve knownwarichown risk, uncertainties
and other factors, which may cause our actual fssplerformance and achievements and the timirngméin events to differ materially from
the results, performance, achievements or timisgudised, projected, anticipated or indicated in Bmmward-looking statements. Such factors
include, among others, the factors discussed im k& "Risk Factors" as well as those discusseteim [7 under the section entitled
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Finan€ahdition and Results of Operations" and elsewliereughout this Annual Report on
Form 1(-K. We caution readers not to place undue reliameeany such forward-looking statements, which spedk as of the date they are
made. We disclaim any obligation, except as spadlji required by law and the rules of the Secastand Exchange Commission, to publicly
update or revise any such statements to reflecthayge in our expectations or in events, conditioncircumstances on which any such
statements may be based, or that may affect tbkhldod that actual results will differ from thoset forth in the forward-looking statements.
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Insmed is a biopharmaceutical comfanysed on developing and commercializing inh&hedapies for patients battling serious lung
diseases that are often life threatening. Our praduct candidate, ARIKAYCE®, or liposomal amikadam inhalation (LAI), is an inhaled
antibiotic treatment that delivers a proven anaépbanti-infective directly to the site of seriduag infections.

We are currently conducting a phasérgcal trial in the United States (US) and Caaad ARIKAYCE in patients who have lung
infections caused by non-tuberculous mycobact®&iM) and we expect to report top-line clinical riésdrom the double-blind phase of this
clinical trial in March 2014. In 2013, we concludaghase 3 clinical trial in Europe and CanadaRfkBAY CE in cystic fibrosis (CF) patients
who have lung infections caused Bgeudomonas aerugino§é®seudomonas The CF and NTM target indications address orpgietient
populations. Our strategy includes plans to comtirmudevelop ARIKAYCE to broaden the NTM indicatiand for additional indications
beyondPseudomonam CF and NTM. We also plan to develop, acquirdidganse or co-promote other products that addsgsisan or rare
diseases in the fields of pulmonology and infecidisease. Our current primary development foctrs ddbtain regulatory approval for
ARIKAYCE in these two initial indications and togpare for commercialization in the United Statagope, Canada and Japan. We anticipat
that if approved, ARIKAYCE would be the first onaeday inhaled antibiotic treatment option availdblethese CF and NTM indications. The
following table summarizes the current status olKMRYCE development.

Product
Candidate/Target

Indications

Status

Next Expected Milestones

ARIKAYCE Non-
tuberculous
mycobacteria
(NTM) lung
infections

Completed enroliment of 90
patients in our phase 2 clinic:
trial in the United States and
Canada.

Granted orphan drug
designation in Europe and thi
United States.

Granted Quialified Infectious
Disease Product ("QIDP")
designation, which includes
Priority Review, by the U.S.
Food and Drug Administratiol
("FDA") in June 2013.
Granted Fast Track designati
by the FDA in June 2013 whi
permits a rolling submission ¢
a New Drug Application
("NDA").

We expect to report top-line
clinical results from our phast
clinical trial in March 2014.
We expect to enroll the first
patient in our single-arm, ope
label, supportive study in the
United States and Europe
during the second quarter of
2014.

We expect to have dialogue
with the FDA and the Europe
Medicines Agency ("EMA") in
the second quarter of 2014 tc
discuss the regulatory pathwi
If approved, we expect
ARIKAYCE would be the first
approved inhaled antibiotic
treatment for NTM lung
infections.

We are developing plans to
commercialize ARIKAYCE, if
approved, initially in the Unite
States, in certain countries in
Europe, and Canada and
eventually Japar
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aeruginosdung
infections in CF
patients

Product
Candidate/Target
Status Next Expected Milestone:
Indications
Reported top-line results from We expect to submit regulatory
ARIKAYCE our phase 3 clinical trial for filings with the EMA and
Pseudomona registration in Europe and Health Canada in the middle of

Canada in July 2013, in which
once-daily ARIKAYCE
achieved its primary endpoint
of non-inferiority when
compared to twice-daily
tobramycin inhaled solution.
Conducting a two-year, open-
label safety study in patients
that completed our phase 3
clinical trial in Europe and
Canada. We expect to compl
this study in mid-2015.
Reported top-line results from
the first group of patients that
completed the first year of the
two-year open label extension
study.

Granted orphan drug
designation in Europe and the
United States

2014. If the EMA allows a
filing that includes both the CF
and NTM indication we will
most likely submit our filing in
the second half of 2014.

We expect to evaluate our pl:
for this indication in the United
States after reviewing the
results from our phase 2 clini
trial in NTM.

We are developing plans to
commercialize ARIKAYCE, if
approved, in certain countries
in Europe and in Canada wher¢
we expect it would be the only
once-a-day treatment for Pa
lung infections in CF patient

ARIKAYCE
Pseudomona
aeruginosaand
other susceptible
organisms causir
lung infections in
non-CF
bronchiectasis
patients

Completed phase 2 study in t
United States.

Granted orphan drug
designation in the United
States

We expect to evaluate
development and
commercialization strategies
for this indication when we
complete our phase 2 clinical
trial in patients with NTM
infections.

For FDA marketing application andiesv purposes ARIKAYCE is considered a new molecatlaity (NME) primarily due to its
proprietary liposomal technology. For a descriptidour liposomal technology, see "—Our Propriethigosomal Technology." The FDA has
indicated that it considers ARIKAYCE a NME for ajmgition and review purposes even though the agleasypreviously approved drugs with
the active ingredient, amikacin sulfate. FDA chégdzes some drugs as NMEs for administrative pseppeven if they contain an active
moiety (the molecule or ion responsible for thearcof the drug substance) that is closely rel&begictive moieties in products that have
previously been approved by FDA. Amikacin sulfaen FDA-approved antibiotic with proven efficaoythe treatment of a broad range of

gram-negative infections, including PseudomonasNiflll. ARIKAYCE is in the aminoglycoside class oftémiotics.

If approved for NTM patients, we egpARIKAYCE would be the first and only approvedhaied antibiotic for the treatment of NT
lung infections. If approved for CF patients witselddomonas lung infections, we expect ARIKAYCE vdoog the first inhaled antibiotic to
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approved for oncehaily administration in this indication. ARIKAYCEas been granted the following orphan drug designatithe significanc
of that status is described further in thevernment Regulatiosection):

US: NTM lung infectionsPseudomonalsing infections in CF patients, and lung infectiam&on-CF bronchiectasis patients; and
. European Union (EU): NTM lung infections aRdeudomonalsing infections in CF patients.

Corporate History

We were incorporated in the Commornitheat Virginia on November 29, 1999. On Decembgk@10, we completed a business
combination with Transave, Inc. (Transave) a paglaheld, New Jersey-based pharmaceutical compsuséd on the development of
differentiated and innovative inhaled pharmaceilgiéar the site-specific treatment of serious lumfgctions.

Our Strategy

Our strategy is to focus on the depeient and commercialization of innovative inhatleglapies for patients with serious lung
diseases in orphan indications. While we beliewat &RIKAYCE has the potential to treat many differeiseases, our attention is initially
focused on regulatory approval and commercialipgpieeparation for our two initial indications: (M lung infections and (2)
Pseudomonalung infections in CF patients. Our current priestare as follows.

. Continue generating additional clinical data fraindges showing the effects of ARIKAYCE to treat NTivhg infections and
Pseudomonalsing infections in CF patients necessary for newgdipplications in Europe, Canada, Japan and titedJStates;

. Actively pursue new drug filings to secure apprdealARIKAYCE to treat NTM lung infections in thenited States, Europe,
Canada and Japan;

. Actively pursue new drug filings to secure apidor ARIKAY CE to treatPseudomonalsing infections in CF patients in
Europe and Canada;

. Expand our product supply chain in support afical development and if approved, commercialiati

. Prepare for commercial launch in the NTM indicatiothe United States, Europe, Canada and eventiltan and certain otl
countries including Korea, Taiwan and China;

. Prepare for commercial launchseudomonaim CF patients indication in Europe and Canada,;

. Attempt to develop, acquire, in-license or co-préenaromising late stage or commercial productsweabelieve are
complementary to ARIKAYCE and our core competenciesl

. Continue to develop novel formulations of existthgrapies, where such reformulation could matgrialiprove the treatment

paradigm for the underlying disease or to enabtsiptiof a new indication.

In support of these priorities, wengdeted our registrational phase 3 clinical stuARIKAYCE in CF patients witiPseudomonas
lung infections in Europe and Canada. We plan topiete our regulatory filings in Europe and Canfatahis indication in the middle of
2014. If the EMA allows a filing that includes bdtire CF and NTM indication we will most likely sulirour filing in the second half of 2014.
We completed enrollment in our US and CanadiangBadinical study of ARIKAYCE in patients with ralcitrant NTM lung infections. We
intend to launch a single-arm, open label, supp®diudy in the US and Europe during the secondeuef 2014 for other patients with NTM
lung infections who cannot tolerate existing thgrap determined by their prescribing physician. s to scale up manufacturing, we are
identifying second source suppliers, and we plamf@ement supply and quality agreements in prajardor commercialization of
ARIKAYCE. We also intend to continue to work clogelith PARI Pharma GmbH (PARI), the
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manufacturer of our drug delivery nebulizer, tor@s$g our commercial supply needs. We have commehedulild-out of our commercial
infrastructure in preparation for potential comni@raunches in Europe, Canada and the US. Wecwiitinue to evaluate opportunities for
additional products through various business deretnt channels.

Product Candidates

Our lead product candidate, ARIKAYQI LAI, is a once-a-day inhaled antibiotic treatthengineered to deliver an anti-infective
directly to the site of serious lung infections eféa are two key components of ARIKAYCE: the liposdfiormulation of the drug and the
nebulizer device through which ARIKAYCE is inhaleid the mouth and into the lung. The nebulizer tetbgy is owned by PARI, but we
have exclusive access to this technology, whidpéifically developed for the delivery of our Igmmal encapsulation of amikacin, through
our licensing agreement with PARI. Our proprietipgpsomal technology and nebulizer are designedifipally for delivery of
pharmaceuticals to the lung and provides for p@kimiprovements to existing treatments. We belithat ARIKAYCE has potential usage for
at least two orphan patient populations with higmet need: patients who have NTM lung infection$ @ patients who hawseudomonas
lung infections. We estimate the combined globalkatpotential for these two orphan indicationbéoapproximately $1 billion.

ARIKAYCE has the potential to be diféntiated from amikacin and certain marketed dfagthe treatment of chronic lung infectic
if it can be demonstrated to provide improved effi, safety and patient convenience. We believeKARICE's ability to deliver high,
sustained levels of amikacin directly to the lungl o the specific site of the underlying infectimould distinguish it from other alternatives.
We are also investigating ARIKAYCE's potential fhurability of effect, benefiting patients when t#atment or for an extended period of
treatment. In addition, the inhalation delivery”Ad®RIKAYCE may reduce the potential for adverse egeuch as ototoxicity (hearing loss,
ringing in the ears and/or loss of balance) andhrapxicity (toxicity to the kidneys), as compansih intravenous (IV) administration of
amikacin. If approved, we expect that ARIKAYCE v administered once-daily for approximately 18uies via inhalation using the
eFlow® Nebulizer System, which has been optimizezt#ically for ARIKAYCE by PARI. We believe thahis nebulizer system will reduce
treatment time or dosing frequency, as comparel thiz currently marketed inhaled antibiotics, whiefjuire dosing two to three times daily
with treatment times ranging from approximatelytd@0 minutes per day. By easing the patient'srtreat burden we believe that ARIKAY(
can potentially improve patient compliance, whiah elieve may in turn lead to a reduction in theettgoment of antibiotic resistance and,
ultimately, lead to clinical benefit.

We believe that ARIKAYCE may provid&) improved efficacy resulting from sustained agifion of drug in the lung and improved
ability to reach the site of infection (for GFseudomonafections, this means penetration of biofilm aadilitated drug release by factors t
are secreted by the bacteria, and for NTM, thismeemhanced uptake into macrophages, where NTM gftewvs); (2) decreased adverse
events and improved tolerability as compared witlikacin delivered intravenously; and (3) reducedinig frequency or treatment time as
compared to existing products. In the future we r@yduct head-to-head comparative studies thatdMoeiinecessary to make comparative
statements against other products.

ARIKAYCE for Patients with NTM Lung Infections
Overview of NTM Lung Infections

Non-tuberculounycobacteriapr NTM, are organisms common in soil and water Haate been associated with lung disease in sele
patient groups. NTM have characteristics that anda to tuberculosis, or TB, but NTM are not cagious. Many people have NTM in their
bodies, but NTM do not normally lead to an infentiperhaps because the body's immune system sfidegsercomes the threat of infectic
It is not completely understood why certain indivads are
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susceptible to NTM infections. However, the paenho become infected by NTM often are immune-camised, due to comorbidities such
as HIV or rheumatoid arthritis, or have structutainage in their lungs, due to smoking, chronicrolssize pulmonary disease ("COPD") or
CF, at the time of the infection.

NTM are organisms that invade andtipiyl chiefly within macrophages. They are charastially resistant to most antibiotics. NT
lung infections are chronic, debilitating and peggive and often require lengthy, repeat hospiétidins. Signs and symptoms of NTM
pulmonary disease are variable and nonspecificy Ti@ude chronic cough, sputum production andyfati Less commonly, malaise, dyspnea
fever, hemoptysis, and weight loss also can oemually with advanced NTM disease. Evaluation tsroEomplicated by the symptoms cat
by co-existing lung diseases. According to a stuglylished in thédmerican Journal of Respiratory and Critical Caretiicine, these
conditions include chronic obstructive airway diseassociated with smoking, bronchiectasis, previoycobacterial diseases, CF and
pneumoconiosis (Olivier et al. 2003).

Current Treatment Options and Limitations

There currently is no drug approvweéurope or the US for treatment of NTM lung infens, and as a result all current drug
treatments for NTM are used off-label. Patientsadten treated with the same antibiotics that aeduo treat TB. Such treatments usually
consist of lengthy multi-drug antibiotic regimemgjich are often poorly tolerated and not very dffex; especially in patients with severe
disease and patients who have failed prior treatsn®&TM patients average 7.6 antibiotic coursesyper (SDI Healthcare Database, July
2009). Treatment guidelines published in 2007 eé&mmerican Journal of Respiratory and Critical Careetcinereported that few clinical
trials were under way to identify treatment recomdwaions, and no new antibiotics had been stuaiethe treatment of NTM lung infections
in multi-center, randomized clinical trials sinéeetlate 1990s.

Although approved for other indicatso amikacin sulfate is not approved by the FDANGM lung infections. In practice, however
is often recommended by physicians as part oftdredsird treatment regimen for some NTM patients. dielivered most commonly by
intravenous administration and, far less ofteninyalation. Because the drug is delivered for memiha time, resulting in high systemic
(blood) levels of the drug, there can be considertxicity, including ototoxicity and nephrotoxigj associated with intravenous treatment.
There are very few prior studies to support whatedshould be administered to effectively treat Nddlents even with these existing
medications and they are often titrated on a pahgmpatient basis.

Market

The prevalence of human diseasébatable to NTM has increased over the past twodkscdn 2012, in collaboration with the NIH,
we funded a study performed by Clarity Pharma Rebethat showed there were an estimated 50,006 cdgrilmonary disease attributable
NTM in the US in 2011 and that such cases werenastid to be growing at a rate of 10% per year. N3 kbur to five times more prevale
than TB in the US (Incidence of TB from Center fisease Control and Prevention Morbidity and MatalVeekly Report, March 2012). In a
decade-long study, researchers found that the d&gof NTM in the US is increasing at approxima&ds per year and that those NTM
patients over the age of 65 are 40% more likeldiéathan those who do not have the disease (Adjestial, Prevalence of Pulmonary
Nontuberculous Mycobacterial Disease among MediBareeficiaries, USA, 19¢-2007, American Journal of Respiratory and CritiCale
Medicine, April 2012).
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In 2013, we engaged Clarity Pharmagaech to perform a similar chart audit study ofNifi Europe and Japan. Based on results of
this study, researchers estimated that there gm@@mately 20,000 cases of pulmonary diseasébataable to NTM within the European
nations of France, Germany, the United Kingdomy lémd Spain combined and approximately 30,00Géntiventy-eight countries comprising
the European Union. In addition, there are nea2l)@0 cases in Japan. Although populatiased data on the epidemiology of NTM infecti
in Europe are limited, consistent with US prevagtrends, recent published studies concur thaipeaee in Europe is increasing and,
according to a study published in the Japanesadbktekkaku in 2011, Japan has one of the worlidkdst NTM disease rates.

Although there are many species ofMNfat have been reported to cause lung infectidR$KAYCE is intended to treat two of the
most commoniMycobacterium Aviun€omplex (MAC) andMlycobacterium abscess(#. abscessus MAC accounts for the vast majority of
NTM lung infections with prevalence rates from 78more than 85% in the US. The reported prevaleatss foiM. abscessusange from
3% to 11% in the US. The diagnosed prevalence dfli$pecies causing lung infections varies geogralyievith MAC rates of 25% to 55%
reported in Europe. MAC is also the most common NJd¢hogen in Japan.

ARIKAYCE for NTM Lung Infections: Potential Advantges and Distinguishing Features
If approved, ARIKAYCE would be thedi and only approved treatment for patients lmgtthi TM lung infections.
Liposomal Design and Formulation

We believe that ARIKAYCE may be etige in treating patients with NTM lung infectiodsie to the apparent ability of the
ARIKAYCE liposomes to be taken up inside lung mgtrages that harbor NTM. Macrophages are immune waélbse primary function
includes removing foreign particles and bactemafthe lungs. NTM are taken up by and multiply diesthese macrophages. Many antibiotics
cannot efficiently gain access to the macrophatgzior. ARIKAYCE liposomes, however, are designede internalized by lung macropha
and thereby deliver high levels of drug inside itircrophages where the NTM bacteria are located.

Preclinical Activity

ARIKAYCE has been shown to have sigseén vitro activity against MAC andl. abscessughen compared with amikacin solution
(study conducted by L.E. Bermudez at Oregon Staigdusity, data on file, 2010). ARIKAYCE also hasdm shown to more effectively kill
certain forms of NTM in cultured lung phagocytesampared to soluble amikacin.

Route of Administration

We believe ARIKAYCE has the potentmloffer a safety profile different from that etiavenous delivery of amikacin. For example,
unlike the intravenous administration of amika@RIKAYCE would deliver the drug more directly todlsite of disease. We anticipate this
will result in less exposure of non-disease sibeanbikacin. We believe this may reduce the potéfdiahe occurrence of any drug-related
systemic toxicity, such as nephrotoxicity, whiclegpecially important with diseases like NTM thequire long-term drug administration.
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Anticipated Dosage Regimen

We believe ARIKAYCE, if approved, ddumprove patient convenience by providing onceéag-dosing. According t8DI
Healthcare DatabasNTM patients average 7.6 antibiotic courses an@ hOspital days per year. We anticipate that ARIKFE will be
administered once daily outside of the hospitakjmproximately 13 minutes per day for a period4fiays for this indication. We believe that
an effective inhaled treatment that improves thieames for an NTM patient would represent a sigaiit benefit in the patient's quality of i

Current Clinical Program

We are currently conducting a phasérgcal trial in the US and Canada for ARIKAYCE adult patients with recalcitrant NTM lung
infections. We completed enroliment in October 28h8 last patient last visit occurred in January42dhe phase 2 clinical trial is a
randomized, placebo-controlled study of 90 aduligmés with recalcitrant NTM lung infections. Theaee two parts to the study: a randomized
portion and an open-label portion. Additionally, heve initiated a scintigraphy sub-study to exanting deposition and distribution of
ARIKAYCE in the lung.

In the randomized portion of the stushtients were screened to include in the sthdge who have NTM lung infections with
persistent sputum culture positive for MACMr abscessuwhile on ATS/IDSA-guidelines-based treatment regirfer at least six months
prior to screening. Patients who are NTM cultursifiee and meet the eligibility criteria to enrollthe study received, in addition to their
ongoing antibiotic treatment regimen, either ARIK&E 590 mg or a placebo both delivered once dadyawi optimized, investigational eFlow
Nebulizer Systenr

The primary efficacy endpoint forghstudy is the change in mycobacterial density fo@seline to the end of 84 days of treatment.
There is a pre-specified stratification of patientth MAC versus Mabscessuand patients with and without cystic fibrosis. Btedy will alsc
measure certain secondary, tertiary and explorandpoints, including but not limited to: the profgmn of patients with culture conversion to
negative, the time to "rescue" anti-mycobactenabd, the change from baseline in six-minute wadkashce and oxygen saturation, the chang
from baseline in patient reported outcomes, antuatian of safety and tolerability. At the conclosiof the randomized portion of the study,
eligible patients will receive ARIKAYCE once daitgr an additional 84 days during the open-labetiparof the study, primarily to measure
longer-term safety and efficacy. We previously agrevith the FDA on this clinical trial design. Wepect results from the randomized portion
of the clinical trial in March 2014.

In addition to the phase 2 clinig@ltoutlined above, we will launch a single-arrmpgea label, supportive study with planned sites in
the US, Europe, Australia and Canada. We curremtlicipate this program's participants will consisapproximately 50 patients who have
NTM lung infection but are not eligible for entmytdo our phase 2 clinical trial. We believe thahidal data collected from the experience v
these patients may help regulatory authoritiessaduate ARIKAYCE's safety and suitability for treeg NTM lung infection patients.

ARIKAYCE received orphan drug statushe US and Europe for the treatment of NTM.
Development History

Nonclinical evaluations of ARIKAYCI relation to NTM infections indicate: (1) high aamtrations of drug are deposited in the
lung, and high levels are sustained for prolongeribgs,
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with low serum concentrations, and (2) ARIKAYCE laitro activity that is superior to amikacin solution agsidifferent strains of NTM.

Data obtained froim vitro testing of ARIKAYCE with respect to four differestrains of MAC andV. abscessumdicate dose
response with ARIKAYCE and superior activity todramikacin. We believe that the safety and efficata obtained from the phase 3,
phase 2 and open label studies of ARIKAYCE in CH aan-CF patients with chronic lung disease andpahry infections and the non-
clinical data collected to date serve as the Hasifuirther development of ARIKAYCE in patients WilNTM lung infections.

We submitted an IND to launch a phastudy of ARIKAYCE in CF and non-CF patients wi#icalcitrant NTM lung disease. In
August 2011, prior to starting the NTM study, wanaunced that the FDA placed a clinical hold onhase 3 trial for ARIKAYCE in patients
with recalcitrant NTM lung infections. The clinicabld for the NTM study was lifted in January 20TBe FDA based its clinical hold decision
on an initial review of the results of a long-terat inhalation carcinogenicity study with ARIKAYCEVhen rats were given ARIKAYCE daily
by inhalation for two years, 2 of the 120 rats reiog the highest dose developed lung tumors. Thatsereceived ARIKAYCE doses that were
within two-fold of those in clinical studies (nortiz@d on a body surface area basis or a lung wéigsis). ARIKAYCE was not associated
with changes that may lead to tumors in shortentstiudies in animals. Additionally, ARIKAYCE wastrehown to be genotoxic in our
standard series of tests. The relevance of thenadxbeat tumors to the use of ARIKAYCE in humansds known. The FDA requested we
conduct a phase 2 clinical trial, instead of owvpyusly agreed upon phase 3 clinical trial in &M patients, to provide proof-of-concept
efficacy and safety data for ARIKAYCE in NTM patisnDespite the change in status from phase 3deeB, the study design and target
enrollment did not change. In connection with tiAFS decision to lift the clinical hold for all ddase indications, we agreed to conduct a doc
inhalation toxicity study of ARIKAYCE. In 2013, weoncluded the dog inhalation toxicity study. In snamy, the final report from the study
stated that the lung macrophage response in dogjsiwdlar to that seen in our previous 3 month mipsiog study, and there was no evidence
of neoplasia, squamous metaplasia or proliferathanges.

Strategy for Commercialization

We currently plan to retain marketitghts for ARIKAYCE for NTM indications globallyGiven the current lack of approved
treatments for NTM lung infections, we believe wdl ilnmediately have a strong market position if KRYCE is approved for
commercialization in the NTM indication. We belie&RIKAYCE will require a limited commercial infragtcture because of the small focu
nature of the potential physician prescribing pagiah for NTM patients. In 2013, we commenced prafians for the potential
commercialization of ARIKAYCE, including hiring MaPauls, our Chief Commercial Officer. We planitbsieveral other new positions to
support our future sales and marketing efforts.iiéy also seek to out-license ARIKAYCE outside ofdpe, Canada and the US.

ARIKAYCE for CF Patients with Pseudomonasung Infections
Overview of CF and Pseudomonas Lung Infections

CF is an inherited chronic diseasd ih often diagnosed before the age of two. Cliscgrimarily in individuals of central and
western European origin. CF affects roughly 70,68idren and adults worldwide, including 30,000ldreén and adults in the US (Cystic
Fibrosis Foundation Patient Registry, 2011) an@@3 patients in Europe (Hoiby, BMC Medicine, 202132). There is no cure for CF.
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Despite extensive treatment with iplédtantibiotics, improved nutrition, and otheranments, life expectancy of a CF patient is only
about 37 years (Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Paiagistry, 2011). Median predicted age of survigatalculated using life table analysis (as
calculated by actuaries) given the ages of theepegtiin the registry and the distribution of deathsing this calculation, half of the people in
the patient registry are expected to live beyomdntiedian predicted survival age, and half are d@rgédo live less than the median predicted
survival age.

Among other issues, CF causes thsittklcy mucus to develop in and clog the lungs. Théates an ideal environment for various
pathogens, such #&seudomonasto colonize and lead to chronic infection of ttweg, inflammation and progressive loss of lungchion. In
fact, chronic bronchial infections witPlseudomonaare a major cause of morbidity and mortality ampatients with CF. Once a CF patient
acquires @seudomonamfection, it is difficult to eradicate. The curtebest available treatment is chronic administratf antibiotics to
suppress the bacteria, reduce inflammation ancepresung function for as long as possible. The odtinfection withPseudomonain CF
patients increases with age. It is estimated tB% @f adult CF patients have chronic infection tuBseudomonafCFF Patient Registry,
2011). A study reported in tliwurnal of Cystic Fibrosi¢Liou, 2010) found that deterioration in lung fuiect of CF patients is the main cause
of death and that, despite best efforts, lung fonadeclines by 1% to 3% annually.

Current Treatment Options and Limitations

CF therapy significantly impacts pats' quality of life. Patients generally receixée@sive antibiotic treatments, which can be
delivered via the oral, intravenous and inhaledesuSome CF patients spend up to three hoursagetalling medications and other treatme
including inhaled antibiotics, and often face theeden of taking in excess of 20 pills per day. @ltrently approved inhalation treatments for
Pseudomonalung infections require two- to three-times a dagidg.

Antibiotics delivered via inhalatiane part of the standard treatment for CF patieiits Pseudomonaking infections and are
generally thought to be a way to deliver more @&ctiwg directly to the site of infection compareithvother routes of administration. The most
used treatment in the US for the management ofhéhRseudomonamfection in subjects with CF is suppressive thgrafih tobramycin. On
example is twice daily Tobi inhaled solution, whistapproved by the FDA for CF patients ages sawyand above with a FEV1 (forced
expiratory volume in 1 second) of 25%-75%, has ks#d in the US since January 1998. A 1999 studgnted that Tobi, 300 mg,
administered twice a day for cycles of 28 daysfeid by 28-days-off treatment was shown to redRsmudomonasolony counts, increase
FEV1 percent predicted, reduce hospitalizationsadetitease additional antibiotic use (Ramsey e1889, New England Journal of Medicine).
High levels of tobramycin can be attained in thaglwith relatively low systemic exposure with indéldrug compared to intravenous
tobramycin. However, patients using Tobi must bgedidtwice a day for approximately 15 to 20 minuateishalation session per dose for a
total of approximately 30 to 40 minutes per daycéte data show that the effect of Tobi on pulmoriangction in CF patients has lessened
since its introduction into the marketplace momnth decade ago (Konstan et al., Journal of Clgtiosis, January 2011, and Assael et al., 3
th European Cystic Fibrosis Society Conference, P&&eJune 2011). In addition, according to infotiorapresented at a FDA advisory pa
resistance to Tobi has increased 85% in the tenpegéod from 1999 to 2009 (FDA advisory panel USA-AIDAC for Tobi-Podhaler,
September 2012).

Market

We estimate that the global marketlie treatment dPseudomonalking infections in CF patients is approximately @56illion. We
believe this market is being driven by physiciatesire to
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maintain the lung function of CF patients, whichtioues to decline in many patients despite extenseatment with current therapies
including currently approved inhaled antibioticse\believe that the following additional factors mesd to further market growth:

. Better patient adherence to physician prescribgithiens resulting from more convenient (less frejaen less time consumir
treatments;

. Physicians initiating treatment with inhaled ardtiiis earlier for patients withseudomona their lungs;

. CF patients living longer;

. Physicians moving to a different antibiotic evetlier month as opposed to giving patients off-tregtininolidays on alternate
months; and

. The standard of care in the rest of the world cwritig to advance closer to that in the EU and tBe U

ARIKAYCE for CF Patients with Pseudomonas Lung Irdgons: Potential Advantages and Distinguishing Reges
Patient Compliance Considerations

We believe ARIKAYCE may facilitate ther patient compliance with prescribed treatmegtmens; patient compliance with or
"adherence" to prescribed treatment is generalpeeted to impact the effectiveness of treatmerat.gfoduct can improve adherence, it ma
able to differentiate itself from other marketedgs. In the case of treatment and management ohiciiPseudomonaking infections in CF
patients, currently the most used treatment int8eds suppressive therapy with 300 mg twice dailyabi inhaled solution and tobramycin
inhaled powder. Tobi is administered twice daily 28 days followed by a 28-day-off period. This leyof "on and off" treatment is repeated in
a chronic pattern. We anticipate that ARIKAYCE wabble administered once daily for approximately i8utes per day for 28 days followed
by a 28-day off-drug period. We believe that artyaied treatment that reduces the treatment bunden@F patient could represent a
significant improvement in the patient's qualityliéd and result in improved compliance, as welteduce the development of antibiotic
resistance.

Liposomal Design and Formulation

We believe ARIKAYCE has the potent@ideliver high levels of amikacin directly to thite of bacteria in the lung for a sustained
period of time, which we expect would differentiétérom other marketed drugs for the treatmenthoonicPseudomonalksing infections in
CF patients. Current inhaled antibiotics are comgared as standard treatments for CF patientsPgdudomonaking infections and
generally are thought to be a way to deliver mougdiirectly to the site of infection as compardthvether methods of delivery. However, CF
patients seldom clear tliRseudomonagermanently from their lungs, in part because eftttick sticky mucus these patients produce irr thei
lungs, and often become chronically infected despikisting antibiotic treatments. All existing amghycoside antibiotics, including
tobramycin and amikacin, are positively charged t&mdl to bind to the negative surfaces of mucustlh@diofilm. In contrast, we have
designed ARIKAYCE to be a neutrally charged liposomvhich has been shown in laboratory studiesetepate both CF mucus and a
Pseudomonabiofilm. This means that ARIKAYCE may reach theesitf thePseudomonamfection in CF patients' lungs more efficientlath
the other currently available aminoglycoside awotibs, including currently available inhaled antitics.

In addition, ARIKAYCE has demonstichie prolonged half-life in animals' lungs. We bedighis effect is due to our proprietary
liposomal technology. One important measure okfifectiveness
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of antibiotics is the maintenance of anti-bactedialg levels in the lung above the minimum inhihitooncentration. We anticipate that
ARIKAYCE will be maintained in the human lung im@anner similar to what was demonstrated in aniitualiss.

We believe ARIKAYCE may be furtheffdrentiated from other marketed drugs for thettresmt of chronid®seudomonaking
infections in CF patients due to improved lung fimt during both on-treatment and off-treatmentlegcTypically an inhaled antibiotic is
given to CF patients with chronRseudomonalsing infections for 28 days followed by a 28-dafrtvéatment cycle, which is often repeated
chronically or for the rest of a patient's life.Aebruary 2014, we reported interim data from auo-year open label extension study which
showed a mean increase in relative change in FiNch was sustained during both on-treatment afitr@htment months. In addition, during

phase 2 studies ARIKAYCE demonstrated statisticsitiyificant and clinically meaningful improvementpulmonary function throughout the
28-day treatment period, and such improvement wssied during the 28-days off treatment period.

We have also reported data showirrghallity of effect for longer off-treatment periada an open-label phase 2 extension trial (TRO:
105), CF patients using ARIKAYCE demonstrated sasthefficacy in lung function improvement durin@&day treatment period and 56-
day offtreatment period across multiple cycles of therapgompared to baseline. In this clinical study]s¥RYCE produced an improveme
in lung function that was sustained over six cyttgaling approximately 17 months. During the a#f@tment periods for this study,
approximately 50% to 70% of the benefit achievedrduthe on-treatment periods was sustained atitideof the off-treatment periods. To our
knowledge, no other inhaled antibiotic has showstaned improvement in lung function at the end 66-day off-treatment period.

Route of Administration

We believe ARIKAYCE has the potentmbffer a safety profile different from that eftiavenous delivery of aminoglycosides.
Pseudomonais susceptible to several broad spectrum antitsiptiotably aminoglycosides. Some examples of anyoogide antibiotics
include tobramycin and amikacin. Studies found #minoglycosides are an important class of anfitsdbr the treatment dfseudomonas
lung infections in CF patients because of theialdrantimicrobial activity and concentration deperidmctericidal activity (Lacy et al., 1998;
Lortholary et al., 1995; Zembower et al., 1998jrdmenous antibiotics were originally used for tneant of chronic infections associated with
CF and are still used for pulmonary exacerbati@bsdies report that ototoxicity and nephrotoxieitg common adverse events associated wi
the use of intravenous aminoglycosides and thdsetefare related to plasma drug levels (Mingeatidreq and Tulkens, 1999).

There are two main obstacles to ¢ffeand safe treatment of CF:

. Drug Resistance. High-level multi-drug resistanemplicates eradication of such strains from thenbhial secretions of CF
patientsPseudomonaking infections are commonly treated using aminoggjde antimicrobial agents, such as amikacin and
tobramycin. However, due to drug resistance, sicgitly higher concentrations of these drugs altbgeminimum inhibitory
concentration are required at the site of infectiime intravenous dosage levels required to actdaeh exposures can be
nephrotoxic and ototoxic.

. Limited Penetration. There is limited penetratintoiand through the sputum/biofilm matrix by amilyggside antibiotics. The
antibiotics are positively charged and the biofirmegatively charged. As a result the antibidbicgl to the biofilm and the
availability of the drug at the location of the mziorganism is suboptimal. We believe that our peipry liposomal technology
will result in localized targeting of drugs, leadito increased availability
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of the drug at the location of the microorganisrhjlevsignificantly reducing drug exposure at nogedise sites throughout the
body and reducing the occurrence of systemic delaged toxicity.

Current Clinical Program

We completed a registrational phasériical trial of ARIKAYCE for CF patients witfPseudomonaking infections in Europe and
Canada during the second quarter of 2013. The ghasa was a randomized, open label, maétiater study designed to assess the compa
safety and efficacy of once-daily ARIKAYCE admirdetd for approximately 13 minutes via the eFlow Nizler System and twice-daily Tobi
(tobramycin inhalation solution) administered fppeoximately 15 minutes per treatment via the PARIPlus Nebulizer System for a daily
total of approximately 30 minutes per day in CHeyets withPseudomonasA total of 302 adult and pediatric CF patientswghronic
Pseudomonawere randomized to receive 28-days of ARIKAYCE tneent or Tobi delivered twice-daily via the PARI [RQus® Nebulizer
System over a 24-week treatment period. The prireadpoint of the study was relative change in fdreepiratory volume in one second
("FEV ;") measured after three treatment cycles, with egcte consisting of 28 days "on" treatment andi@gs "off" treatment. The study

was designed to demonstrate non-inferiority to Tadla 5% non-inferiority margin with 80% power agpleipon by us and the European
Medicines Agency (EMA). Secondary endpoints meaburere relative changes in FE\at other time points, time to and number of

pulmonary exacerbations, time to antibiotic restaatment, change in densityR$eudomonais sputum, respiratory hospitalizations and
changes in Patient Reported Outcomes assessingy@fdlife. Top-line results from this study indgited:

. ARIKAYCE achieved its primary endpoint of norfeniority to Tobi for relative change in FEMrom baseline to the end of the
study;

. Overall, secondary endpoints, as summarized atstrneayed comparability of once-daily ARIKAYCE compadneith twicedaily
Tobi; and

. The safety profile of ARIKAYCE was comparableTobi during all three treatment cycles, with adesevents consistent with

those seen in similar studies and expected in alptpn of CF patients receiving inhaled antibisti¢here was no difference
between arms in the reporting of serious adversatsvand there were no unexpected adverse events.

We are conducting a two-year, opéellaafety study in patients that also completadregistrational phase 3 clinical study of
ARIKAYCE for CF patients witiPseudomonalsing infections in Europe and Canada. Approximaf@ys of the eligible patients that
completed our registrational phase 3 clinical stooysented to participate in the safety study. @dteents in this study will receive
ARIKAYCE for up to a two year period, using the sanycles of a 28 day on-treatment period and aa¥8ff-treatment period. In February
2014, we reported interim data from our two-yeagrofabel extension study which showed a mean isergarelative change in FEMvhich

was sustained during both on-treatment and oftstreat months. We expect to use this interim datanfthis study as part of our regulatory
filings with the EMA and Health Canada, which weegt to submit during 2014, and we expect to coteghds study in mid-2015.

ARIKAYCE has been granted orphan dstagus in the US and Europe for the treatmefsgfudomonaling infections in CF
patients.
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Development History
Nonclinical evaluations of ARIKAYCIa relation toPseudomonaking infections indicate:

. High concentrations of drug are deposited inltimg, and high levels are maintained for prolongedods, with low serum
concentrations;

. ARIKAYCE penetrates CF sputum aRdeudomonabiofilm;

. ARIKAYCE exhibits antipseudomonal activity in vitro andin vivomodels, including against resistant isolates; and

. Virulence factors secreted Bgeudomonafacilitate the release of amikacin from ARIKAYCE.

Our predecessor liposomal amikacimfdations for inhalation were evaluated in a sedkphase 1 clinical studies involving healthy
volunteers and CF patients wBtseudomonaking infections. The current formulation of ARIKANEOwas evaluated in phase 2 clinical studies
in CF patients witlPseudomonaling infections. We completed two randomized, pteeceontrolled phase 2 studies with ARIKAYCE in 105
CF patients with chronieseudomonalsing infections in Europe and the US. In theseisgjgatients in the ARIKAYCE 560 mg cohort
demonstrated statistically significant and clinigaheaningful improvement in lung function throughdhe 28-day on-treatment period
compared with placebo. In addition, the improvementing function that was achieved at the enchef28-day on-treatment period was
sustained during the 28-day off-treatment periodlwas statistically significantly better than plaoe

In a separate follow-on open-labaljtircycle clinical trial conducted in Europe, ARMYCE was given at a dose of 560 mg once
daily via an eFlow Nebulizer System for six cyolgsich consisted of a 28-day on-treatment and 56edftreatment period, which is double
the standard 28-day off-treatment period. In thiseal study, ARIKAYCE produced a statisticallygsificant improvement in lung function
that was sustained over the six cycles (approximate months). In addition, approximately 50% t®& 0f the benefit achieved during the 28-
day on-treatment periods was sustained at the the &6-day off-treatment periods. In other worIRIKAYCE demonstrated sustained
efficacy in lung function improvement during thedtment and off-treatment periods across multipiées of therapy. To our knowledge, no
other inhaled antibiotic has shown sustained im@neent in lung function at the end of a 56-day oé&tment period. In addition, ARIKAYCE
was well tolerated with overall adverse events rgggbas consistent with those expected in a papulaf CF patients receiving other inhaled
medicines.

In August 2011, we announced thatRbé placed a clinical hold on our phase 3 trial ARRIKAYCE in CF patients with
Pseudomonalung infections, which was lifted in May 2012. Argtal hold is an order issued by the FDA to thersgor to delay a proposed
clinical trial or suspend an ongoing clinical trithe FDA based its clinical hold decision on atiahreview of the results of a long-term rat
inhalation carcinogenicity study with ARIKAYCE. Wheats were given ARIKAYCE daily by inhalation fowo years, 2 of the 120 rats
receiving the highest dose developed lung tumdiesg rats received ARIKAYCE doses that were withio-fold of those in clinical studies
(normalized on a body surface area basis or awseight basis). ARIKAYCE was not associated withrafas that may lead to tumors in
shorter-term studies in animals. Additionally, ARIKCE was not shown to be genotoxic in our standanies of tests. The relevance of the
observed rat tumors to the use of ARIKAYCE in husiamnot known.

In connection with the FDA's decistorlift the clinical hold for the CiPseudomonas aeruginokag infection indication, we agreed
to conduct a 9 month dog inhalation toxicity stwdyARIKAYCE. In 2013, we concluded the 9 month thag inhalation toxicity study. In
summary, the final report from the study stated tha lung macrophage response in dogs was sitoilinat seen
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in our previous 3 month dosing dog study, and thvas no evidence of neoplasia, squamous metamgapialiferative changes.

We expect to reevaluate our planangigg a US phase 3 clinical trial in CF patienthwseudomonaling infection after we receive
the results from the ongoing phase 2 clinical indTM patients in the US.

Strategy for Commercialization

We currently plan to retain marketights for ARIKAYCE for CF patients witPseudomonaking infections in certain countries in
Europe, and in Canada and the US. We believe ARIREYill require a limited commercial infrastructurethese regions because of the
small focused nature of the potential physiciarsgribing population for CF patients. We may seetutlicense ARIKAYCE in certain
countries in Europe, as well as outside of Eur@amada and the US.

ARIKAYCE for Non-CF Bronchiectasis Patients with Pseudomonasung Infections
Disease

We believe ARIKAYCE has the potent@mbe used to treat non-CF bronchiectasis charaetebyPseudomonalsing infections.
However, we are currently concentrating our develept efforts on the treatment®$eudomonaking infections in CF patients and patients
with NTM lung infections. We will evaluate our déepment and commercialization strategies for thiidation when we complete our pha
study in patients with NTM infections.

Non-CF bronchiectasis is a seriouspuary condition characterized by localized, igesible enlargement of the bronchial tubes.
Accumulation of mucus in the bronchi leads to freminfections, which causes inflammation and frtleduces lung function. Patients evt
to a chronic inflammation-infection cycle. Disedmeden has primarily been linked to productive doagd high levels of sputum production.

Market

It is estimated that there are mbe:nt250,000 non-CF bronchiectasis patients in 8€%DI Innovations in Healthcare Analytics,
2008), of which approximately 30% of non-CF broraitasis patients are infected wiRkeudomona@/Nilson, C.B., et al., Eur Respir, 1997, 10
(8):1754-1760); Nicotra, M.B., et al., Chest, 19918(4):955-961). Currently there are no approveibentics for this indication. When
bronchiectasis patients become infected Wiseudomonasthey tend to have more frequent exacerbationdhasgitalizations and are more
frequent users of antibiotics.

Development Program

ARIKAYCE was granted orphan drug ssain the US for the treatment of bronchiectasigatients withPseudomonasr other
susceptible pathogens.

In May 2009 we completed our randadizplacebo controlled US phase 2 study (TR02-20ARIKAYCE in the treatment of
chronicPseudomonamfection in non-CF patients with bronchiectasistie study, 64 study subjects were randomized1(Lt@ receive
ARIKAYCE 280 mg, ARIKAYCE 560 mg or a placebo omlaily basis during a 28-day on-treatment perioce 3ibjects completed follow-up
assessments at the end of a 28-day off-treatmeiotdpd his study provided initial evidence of sgfablerability and clinically meaningful
improvement in pulmonary function throughout thet@atment period in the treatment of chroRgeudomonasfection in non-CF patients
with bronchiectasis.

17




Table of Contents

In the study both ARIKAYCE 280 mg aARIKAYCE 560 mg were well tolerated. The adverserds experienced by patients dur
the study were consistent with underlying chronitgl disease in bronchiectasis patients. There wavidence of renal toxicity or ototoxicity.
Patients in the 560-mg cohort had a slightly highequency of dry cough post administration thatigmas in the 280 mg cohort. Cough was of
short duration and self-limiting. One patient distioued treatment due to dysphonia (hoarsenesifioutty speaking) and cough.

There was a statistically significeeduction inPseudomonadensity observed in the 560 mg ARIKAY CE cohort tiekato the
placebo cohort. Patients receiving ARIKAYCE expacded fewer pulmonary exacerbations at a rate 8b4as compared to 10.5% in those
receiving placebo. No patients in the ARIKAYCE cakaequired antiPseudomonaescue treatment, whereas 15% of patients in teepb
cohort required treatment. Hospitalization from aayse occurred at a 5.3% rate for patients ipldbeebo cohort, as compared to a 2.3% rate
for patients in the ARIKAYCE cohort. Patients radeg ARIKAYCE achieved improvements in patient rigafpry symptoms and quality of
life assessments compared with patients receiviaxgpo.

Although we believe there is an oppoity to develop ARIKAYCE for non-CF bronchiectssive do not intend to initiate further
clinical studies with respect to a non-CF bronctaisis indication until we have completed additiaciadical studies for CF patients with
Pseudomonalung infections and for patients with NTM lung iof®ns. Following those studies, we will evaluateether to develop
ARIKAYCE further for non-CF bronchiectasis.

ARIKAYCE has been granted orphan dstagus in the US for the treatment of bronchiéstaspatients witiPseudomonaaeruginos
and other susceptible microbial pathogens.

Our Proprietary Liposomal Technology

We have designed our liposomal tetdmospecifically for use in delivering pharmaceats to the lung. Drugs deposited in the lung
typically have short residence times, from minudtea few hours, which is problematic for treatingd conditions where maintaining high
concentrations locally in the lung for long periarfgime is required. We believe our technologyvitles for potential improvements over the
conventional inhalation method for delivering phaomuticals to the pulmonary system. These potesudigntages include improvements in
efficacy, safety and patient convenience.

Liposomes are microscopic membraméisthat contain water. Liposomes usually havimgle membrane but can also be designed
have several membrane layers. These layers camargad like the layers of an onion or like bubbitesde of larger bubbles. In all cases, tl
is water in the liposome's core and between ea@h.lén a liposome drug delivery system, the daugdntained in the liposome and the
liposomes are administered to the patient duriegttnent. Water soluble drugs are located in thestme's water core, and drugs that do not
dissolve in water are located in or associated thiehmembrane layers.

For ARIKAYCE

Nebulized ARIKAYCE is comprised ofthamikacin in solution for immediate availabiléypd amikacin inside liposomes for a
sustained benefit. These liposomes are efficielintaty vehicles, and we designed ARIKAYCE liposoniesinhalation therapy. ARIKAYCE
liposomes are less than 0.3 microns in mean diaraatbcontain amikacin in the water interior inexyvhigh concentration. The relatively
small size of the liposomes aids its ability to @eate both patient mucus and bacterial biofilrdebtver drug close to bacteria. Our liposomes
are highly compatible with lung tissue because tireyformed using neutral lipids identical to thémend naturally in the lung. The liposomes
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maintain drug in the lung and thus provide susthiaivery to the lung, which may be importantreating certain bacterial infections that
have a significant pulmonary component.

Charge-Neutral Liposomes

We believe neutrally charged liposemey enable greater penetration into the mucubiiitn, thereby providing higher drug
concentrations to kill bacteria which produce tiailm. The materials found in a patient's mucuséhaegative charges, and biofilms that are
produced by bacteria to protect themselves alse hagative charges. Because opposite charges atict other, positively charged
antibiotics, like amikacin, bind to the negativelyarged compounds on the surfaces of the mucubiefilin. This binding prevents effective
penetration of positively charged antibiotic drugte the spaces in which the bacteria are loc&edcifically, in the case ¢fseudomonaking
infections in CF patients, these barriers are #ieept's own sticky mucus and bacteria's protediigélm. In the case of NTM, the barrier to
effective treatment is in gaining access to theriat of infected macrophages. ARIKAYCE liposomes effective delivery systems that
penetrate these barriers and provide high levetsug in the lung for a long time.

Potential for Increased Efficacy and with Low Drugoxicity

A potential benefit of our inhalatidrug delivery technology over systemic deliventhe same drug may be enhanced efficacy as a
result of greater amounts of the drug being dedigtatirectly to the site of disease. With highemala®ed antibiotic concentrations bacterial
infections are more readily treated. Another adegetof localized targeting of drugs using this upigelivery system is that non-disease sites
throughout the body are exposed to significanthg lérug. We believe this reduces the potentiahferoccurrence of drug-related toxicity.

High-Efficiency Drug Encapsulation

We have designed our liposomes t@gsulate very high concentrations of drug intotieddy small liposome structures. According
pre-clinical models, this efficiency allows our cpatt, drug-laden liposomes to physically penetoateteria-generated biofilms. Further, we
have found that drug is released from the liposobyedisruptive factors secreted Bgeudomonaswhich we believe will cause liposomes to
release their drug contents near to where the tactside in the lungs.

Endogenous Lipid Excipients

We believe the ability to releaseglcontents in proximity to the bacteria may redimsechance of systemic adverse reactions. The
lipid components of our compounds are the sambasetfound naturally in the lung, which may ensumore natural metabolism and
clearance than other drug delivery systems sugamdisles comprised of man-made polymers contaidig.

Our liposomal formulation is key toth the retention of amikacin in the lung, whicloais once-a-day dosing, and the ability of
ARIKAYCE to gain close access to bacteria eithehimia biofilm, as in the case in CF patients, @him infected macrophages, as in the case
of NTM patients. It is localization near the ba@dhat may improve efficacy by allowing high contrations of drug to be delivered where
needed most.

With a neutral surface charge andlissie, ARIKAYCE liposomes are able to effectivgdgnetrate the thick CF mucus and the
bacteria's protective biofilm, both of which we ibgk restrict the availability of unencapsulatedraoglycosides such as tobramycin and
amikacin. ARIKAYCE liposomes are also readily takgmby immune cells in the lung (alveolar macrogsghat "eat”
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inhaled particles. When NTM infect these immundsgehe bacteria are usually sheltered againstlaftam external antibiotics, but with
ARIKAYCE, the uptake of the liposomes allows thegito get inside these cells to attack the orgasism

For Other APIs

We believe that our liposomal teclogyl can be used for the successful delivery ofrdthwe molecular weight products as well as t
molecular weight compounds such as peptides, moteid genes. Our unique lipid-based delivery sys@re not dependent on the inhalation
device and can be designed to be administered @ith@ nebulized aerosol spray or as a dry powder.

Optimized eFlow Nebulizer System

If approved for commercialization, @epect that ARIKAYCE will be administered oncelgaiia inhalation using an eFlow Nebuliz
System, optimized specifically for ARIKAYCE by PARA third-party vendor. For additional informatiabout PARI and our contractual
relationship with PARI, see "—Manufacturing" and Lieense and Collaboration Agreements."

The optimized eFlow Nebulizer Systera medical device that uses PARI's patented efdotnology to enable highly efficient
delivery of inhaled medication, also called aersmion, including liposomal formulations via a xating, perforated membrane that includes
thousands of specially designed laser-drilled haldsch aids the delivery of ARIKAYCE to the lungle believe the optimized eFlow
Nebulizer System is state of the art and highliciffit. The eFlow Nebulizer System delivers a y@gh density of active drug, in a precis
defined and controlled droplet size, with a higbpgmrtion of respirable droplets delivered in atigtdy short period of time. In addition, the
eFlow Nebulizer System has a quiet mode of operaitsosmall in size, light weight and provides éptional battery-powered operation. We
believe that using the eFlow Nebulizer System ivdeARIKAYCE will reduce treatment time and eabe patient's treatment burden and
thereby potentially improve patient compliance. Wésieve that improved compliance with the presativeatment regimen may lead to a
reduction in the development of antibiotic resistaby increasing the exposure of the infectioh&rinimum inhibitory concentration of
antibiotic and therefore may ultimately lead tonial benefit.

MANUFACTURING OF ARIKAYCE

The ARIKAYCE used in our clinical slies is manufactured for us by Ajinomoto Althea;.I(Althea), a third-party contract
manufacturing organization in the US. We are wagkiith Althea to develop commercial production daifiges for AIRKAYCE. Our
agreement with Althea provides for a term expirdngy 2014, subject to an earlier termination ugwngrovision of 180 days' notice by either
party, or in the event of an uncured material bneaertain bankruptcy or liquidation events, or miplee occurrence of certain other specified
termination events. We are negotiating with Altheaxtend the manufacture of ARIKAYCE at Althea beg July 2014. There can be no
assurance that we will enter into an agreementteend the manufacture or that we will enter intcagnreement on terms favorable to us.

In February 2014, we entered int@greement with Therapure Biopharma Inc. ("Therdpdoe the manufacture of the Company's
product ARIKAYCE at the larger scales necessaiguigport commercialization. Pursuant to the agre¢nttem Company and Therapure will
collaborate to construct a production and qualitytml area for the manufacture and testing of ARWCE in Therapure's existing
manufacturing facility in Mississauga, Ontario, @da. Therapure will manufacture ARIKAYCE for ther@many on a non-exclusive basis.
The agreement has an initial
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term of five years from the first date on which Tdpure delivers ARIKAYCE to us after we obtain pésmelated to the manufacture of
ARIKAYCE.

We are also exploring the possibitifyestablishing our own manufacturing facilitiesNew Jersey in order to support clinical studies
and to support in the commercial launch of ARIKAY.CE

All sites of manufacture of ARIKAYQlSe the technology developed and optimized by wsawd all our manufacturing partners
must comply with applicable regulations relatingtie current good manufacturing practices (cGMBUlaions of regulatory agencies. The
cGMP regulations include requirements relatingh®drganization of personnel, buildings and fdesitequipment, control of components anc
drug product containers and closures, producti@hpraocess controls, packaging and labeling conthaliling and distribution, laboratory
controls, records and reports, and returned oagely products. We believe that all facilities wiket cGMP requirements for the sterile
manufacturing of finished ARIKAYCE product.

The eFlow nebulizer system is manuwiied by PARI under the names PARI Pharma GmbHuiojie and PARI Respiratory
Equipment, Inc., in the US. PARI manufactures eHf@liulizer systems utilizing technology licenseslyaloped and optimized within its
company and produces several commercially availBlew technology based products for use in Eurbjoeth America and other countries.
PARI maintains facilities and equipment necessargupport manufacture of eFlow nebulizers for ugh WRIKAYCE. PARI must comply
with applicable governmental regulations relatiognedical device production in each country of nfaciure. We will continue to work with
PARI to address our manufacturing needs for omicdi program and plan for commercialization. Fddiional information about PARI and
our contractual relationships with PARI, see "—Inse Agreements and Collaboration Agreements."

We seek to maintain the quality of suppliers through quality agreements and our eeaddit program.
IPLEX

In addition to the ARIKAYCE developntgprogram, we have a second proprietary compdiidEX®, which is IGF-1, with its
natural binding protein, IGFBP-3. IPLEX is no longedevelopment priority for us. We no longer hpvetein development capability or the
in-house capability to manufacture IPLEX. Previgusinder the proprietary IPLEX protein platform, wmaintained an expanded access
program for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (alsowna@s ALS or Lou Gehrig's disease) until drug siggplvere exhausted at the end of 2011. |
is our intention to seek licensing partners for EEX development programs. In 2012, we out-li@hthe IPLEX technology to Premacure
Holdings AB and Premacure AB of Sweden (collectiy&Premacure") for retinopathy of prematurity icakion. In March 2013, we amended
the Premacure License Agreement to provide Preraaeitin the option to pay us $11.5 million and asewmy of our royalty obligations to
other parties in exchange for a fully paid liceneseMarch 2013, Shire plc announced that they aeguPremacure. In April 2013 Shire
exercised this option and paid us $11.5 milliord as a result we are not entitled to future rogalfrom Shire.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
Patents and Trade Secrets

We own or license rights to more tR80 issued patents and pending patent applicaitiothe US and in foreign countries, including
more than 90 issued patents and pending pateatedeb
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ARIKAYCE. Our success depends in part on our gbititmaintain proprietary protection surrounding ptoduct candidates, technology and
know-how; to operate without infringing the propaigy rights of others; and to prevent others frafninging our proprietary rights. We
actively seek patent protection by filing patenplagations, including both new inventions and impggments of existing technology that are
important to the development of our business inBe Europe, Canada and selected other foreignetsatkat we consider key for our product
candidates. These international markets generatlyde Australia, Japan, China, India, Israel arexigb.

Our patent strategy includes obtajmatent protection, where possible, on compostmfmatter, methods of manufacture, methods
of use, methods of treatment, dosing and admitistraegimens and formulations. We also rely odéraecrets, know-how, continuing
technological innovation, in-licensing and partidgesopportunities to develop and maintain our pietary position.

We monitor for activities that mayringe our proprietary rights, as well as the pesgion of third-party patent applications that may
have the potential to create blocks to our prodacttherwise interfere with the development of business. We are aware, for example, o
patents, and corresponding international countespawned by third parties that contain claimstealao treating lung infections using inhaled
antibiotics. If any of these patents were to beded against us, we do not believe that our pegasoducts would be found to infringe any
valid claim of these patents.

Reflecting our commitment to safeglirag proprietary information, we require our emgeg, consultants, and collaborators to sign
confidentiality agreements to protect the exchasfgwoprietary materials and information. We alselsto preserve the integrity and
confidentiality of our data and trade secrets byntaining physical security of our premises andggl and electronic security of our
information technology systems.

In the U.S., we own patents that,;up®IKAYCE approval, would be listed in the FDA ige Book that cover the ARIKAYCE
composition and its use in treating lung infectidnsludingPseudomonaand NTM. Four such patents are U.S. Patent No 47369 (expires
June 6, 2025), U.S. Patent No. 7,718,189 (expirae 8, 2025), U.S. Patent No. 8,226,975 (expireguiul5, 2028), and U.S. Patent
No. 8,632,804 (expires December 5, 2026). We adse iour allowed and nine pending U.S. patent appbtins. Two patents have be
granted by the European Patent Office and fiveiegiibns are pending. Twenty nine patents haveiateed in major foreign markets,
e.g., Japan, China, Korea, Australia, and Indiacwbover ARIKAYCE and methods of using ARIKAYCErftreating lung infections. Forty
one foreign patent applications are pending thaécthe ARIKAYCE composition and its use in tregtinng infections, including
Pseudomonaand NTM. We anticipate that in the U.S., we willegotential patent coverage for ARIKAYCE and igg un treating lung
infections, including®seudomonaand NTM, through at least February 2029, whichudek an additional six months of pediatric excliagiv

In addition to the intellectual progyealready granted to us, we were recently infatrathe following:

. The U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) grhbt&. Patent Application No. 13/527,213 for ARIKE&¥ on January 2:
2014 as U.S. Patent No. 8,632,804, entitled, "l-jmded compositions of anti-infectives for treatnugmonary infections and
methods of use thereof." Once granted, it will pdevexclusivity at least through December 5, 2028s new patent will cover
method for treating a pulmonary infection, inclugimPseudomonas aeruginoaad a mycobacterial infection, among others, in
a cystic fibrosis patient, with an aerosolized phaceutical formulation comprising an aminoglycosiagether with our
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liposomal delivery technology. Specifically, thetgrat will cover a method for treating a pulmonanrfection in a cystic fibrosis
patient comprising administering to the patienfarosolized composition comprising ARIKAYCE.

. The USPTO granted U.S. Patent Application No. 18/880 for ARIKAYCE on February 4, 2014 as U.S. Ratdo. 8,642,075,
entitled, "Lipid-based compositions of anti-infeets for treating pulmonary infections and methaddsse thereof." It will
provide exclusivity at least through December 2&0rhis new patent will cover an aerosolized cositpn of our novel, once-
daily inhalation formulation comprising amikacindaliposomal delivery technology for the treatmehpolmonary infections,
includingPseudomonas aeruginoaad mycobacterial infections, among others.

. The USPTO intends to grant U.S. Patent Applicalion 13/664,181 for ARIKAYCE in a patent titled, fiid-based
compositions of anti-infectives for treating pulnaoy infections and methods of use thereof." Oneatgd, it will provide
exclusivity at least through December 5, 2026. Tiei& patent will cover a method for treating oryiding prophylaxis against
a mycobacterial infection with an aerosolized phaseutical formulation the patent comprising an amgiycoside together with
our liposomal delivery technology.

. The USPTO intends to grant U.S. Patent ApplicatNo. 13/675,559 for ARIKAYCE on March 18, 2014l48. Patent
No. 8,673,348 in a patent titled, "Lipid-based casipons of anti-infectives for treating pulmonanyections and methods of
use thereof." Once granted, the patent will proerelusivity at least through December 5, 2026 sTiaw patent will cover a
method for treating Bseudomonas aeruginos#ection in a patient, with an aerosolized pharewaical formulation comprising
an aminoglycoside together with our liposomal dewtechnology. Specifically, the patent will co@emethod for treating a
Pseudomonas aeruginos#dection comprising administering to the patientaeerosolized composition comprising ARIKAYCE.

. The USPTO intends to grant U.S. Patent Applicalion 13/675,587 for ARIKAYCE on March 18, 2014 assUPatent
No. 8,673,349 in a patent titled, "Lipid-based casipons of anti-infectives for treating pulmonanyections and methods of
use thereof." Once granted, the patent will proerelusivity at least through December 5, 2026 sTaw patent will cover a
method for treating Burkholderiainfection in a patient, with an aerosolized pharendital formulation comprising an
aminoglycoside together with our liposomal delivegghnology. Specifically, the patent will covemathod for treating a
Burkholderiainfection comprising administering to the patientagerosolized composition comprising ARIKAYCE.

. On September 4, 2013, the European Patent Offaetep Patent No. 1909759 entitled "Sustained Relebanti-infective
Aminoglycosides" for ARIKAYCE. The granted patembpides protection for novel anti-infective formtitans comprising an
aminoglycoside and our liposomal delivery technglagcluding ARIKAYCE. The composition of matterteat provides
exclusivity in all the available European Patenfic@fs member states, at least through July 196 208e granted patent also
includes claims relating to the use of the aforeiiteed aminoglycoside/lipid formulations for trewgipulmonary infections,
including those caused by Pa lung infections amthitemycobacterial infections, among others.

. On October 16, 2013, the European Patent OfficetgdaEU Patent No. 1581236, for ARIKAYCE in a patgthed, "Sustained
release of anti-infectives." This patent provideslesivity at least through October 29, 2023 inadlthe available European
Patent Office member states. The patent providetegtion for the use of ARIKAYCE's formulation conging amikacin and
liposomal delivery technology for the treatmenpafmonary infections in CF patients. Specificatlye patent includes claims
relating to the use of the aforementioned formatafor treating®seudomonas aeruginopalmonary infections, as well as
certain mycobacterial infections, among others.

23




Table of Contents

Through our agreements with PARI,hage license rights to U.S. and foreign patentsapmdications that cover the eFlow Nebulizer
System medical device. We have rights to use thalizers in clinical trials and, pursuant to itsegments with us, PARI has agreed to
negotiate in good faith and enter into a commestigply agreement.

Individual patents extend for varyiimge periods depending on the effective datelwftfithe patent application or the date of patent
issuance, and the legal term of the patents icdh@tries in which they are obtained. Generallyeps issued in the US are effective for the
longer of 17 years from the issue date or 20 ykars the earliest effective filing date, if the pat application was filed prior to June 8, 1995;
or 20 years from the earliest effective filing datehe patent application was filed on or aftand 8, 1995.

The term of our foreign patents vaiieaccordance with provisions of applicable Idaal, but typically is 20 years from the earliest
effective filing date.

License and Collaboration Agreements
License Agreements and Other Collaboration Agreemds Relating to ARIKAYCE

PARI Pharma GmbHWe currently have a licensing agreement with PARIuse of the optimized eFlow Nebulizer System for
delivery of ARIKAYCE in treating patients with CBronchiectasis, and NTM infections. Under the lging agreement, we have rights to
several US and foreign issued patents, and pap@fications involving improvements to the optimizefelow Nebulizer System. We currently
have rights to use the nebulizers in clinical friahd PARI has agreed to negotiate in good faithesuter into a commercial supply agreement.

We are obligated under this licensiggeement to use commercially reasonable efforttietelop, commercialize, market, and sell
ARIKAYCE for use in CF indications in one or moreunitries (and at least in the US). Under the lizenagreement, we paid PARI an upfr
license fee and PARI is entitled to receive milastpayments up to an aggregate of €4.3 millioreeitth cash, qualified stock or a combination
of both, at PARI's discretion, based on achieveroénertain future milestone events including fasteptance of MAA submission (or
equivalent in the US) of ARIKAYCE and the devicest receipt of marketing approval in the US for KRYCE and the device, and first
receipt of marketing approval in a major EU couritlyARIKAY CE and the device, and NDA acceptance aggulatory approval of
ARIKAYCE. In addition, PARI is entitled to receiveyalty payments in the mid-single digits on thé e@mmercial sales of ARIKAYCE
pursuant to the licensing agreement, subject t@icespecified annual minimum royalties.

This license agreement will remaireffect on a country-by-country basis until theafiroyalty payments have been made with respe
to the last country in which ARIKAYCE is sold, ontil the agreement is otherwise terminated by eiflagty. We have the right to terminate
this license agreement upon written notice for PARhcured material breach, if PARI is the subjgctpecified bankruptcy or liquidation
events, or if PARI fails to reach certain specifieilestones. PARI has the right to terminate titisrise agreement upon written notice for our
uncured material breach, if we are the subjecpet#ied bankruptcy or liquidation events, if wesigs or otherwise transfer the agreement to .
third party that does not agree to assume all ofights and obligations set forth in the agreementif we fail to reach certain specified
milestones.

Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapestilnc.—In 2005 and 2009, we entered into research fundgrgements with Cystic Fibrosis
Foundation Therapeutics, Inc. (CFFT) whereby weiked $1.7 million and $2.2 million for each resppez agreement in research funding for
the development of
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ARIKAYCE. If ARIKAYCE becomes an approved product fCF in the US, we will owe a payment to CFFT pfta $13.4 million that is
payable over a three-year period after approval @mmercialized drug in the US. Furthermore, ifaie sales milestones are met within
5 years of the drug commercialization approvahm S, we would owe an additional payment of $3il89an.

National Institutes of Allergy anddntious Diseases-In 2012, we entered into a cooperative researdhdamelopment agreement
(CRADA) with National Institutes of Allergy and laeftious Diseases (NIAID) to evaluate the safetyeffidacy of ARIKAYCE in patients
with NTM lung disease in our phase 2 clinical studyAID agreed to provide biostatistical advisonput in connection with the phase 2 NTM
study. If we decide not to continue with the comeraization of ARIKAYCE in NTM, NIAID will have theright to complete the clinical trial.
Further NIAID may elect to pursue its rights toahtlicense rights to certain inventions made utkderCRADA.

License Agreements and Other Collaboration Agreemes Relating to Other Compounds

Ipsen and Genenteeln March 2007, we were granted a license or sahe as applicable to patents held by Ipsen andrech to
develop IPLEX in certain medical indications in 18 and foreign territories. In November 2008 wingd Royalty-Free Worldwide Rights
for IPLEX from Ipsen and Genentech in connectiothyiotential expanded access ALS programs.

NAPO Pharmaceuticatsin January 2007, we entered into an agreementNRRO Pharmaceuticals, whereby we granted NAPO a
license for INSM-18 also known as Masoprocal. Tiberlse gives NAPO the right to develop, manufactuneg commercialize Masoprocal
products for any indications relating specificdthydiabetes, cardiac disease, vascular diseasabalietdisease and Syndrome X. The
agreement calls for payments from NAPO to us uperatchievement of certain milestones which haveyepbbeen met.

TriAct—In December 2010, we entered into an agreemehtWwif\ct Therapeutics Inc. ("TriAct") whereby weagrted TriAct an
exclusive license for INS-18 also known as Masogkothe license gives TriAct the right to develomnufacture and commercialize
Masoprocal products for any indications relatingafically to oncology. The agreement calls for ibsue of TriAct common stock to Insmed
upon the achievement of certain milestones. To, detenilestones have been achieved and no commok Bas been received.

Eleisor—In February 2011, we entered into an agreemeft Bliison Pharmaceuticals whereby we granted Eleisoexclusive
license for Inhaled CISPLATIN Lipid Complex. Theédinse gives Eleison the right to develop, manufacad commercialize inhaled
CISPLATIN Lipid Complex for cancers affecting thenh. Payments totaling $1.0 million were receiwve@011 and were recorded in license
fees.

Premacure (now Shire ple)in May 2012, we entered into an agreement withmaicure pursuant to which we granted to Premacure
an exclusive, worldwide license to develop manufectind commercialize IGF-1, with its natural bivgdprotein, IGFBP-3, for the prevention
and treatment of complications of preterm birtte (tRremacure License Agreement"). In March 2013amended the Premacure License
Agreement to provide Premacure with the optionay ps $11.5 million and assume any of our royaltjygations to other parties in exchange
for a fully paid license. In March 2013, Shire plinounced that they acquired Premacure. In ApfiB2Bhire exercised this option and paid us
$11.5 million, and as a result we are not entittetliture royalties from Shire.
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Trademarks

In addition to our patents and traderets, we have filed applications to registetagetrademarks in the US and/or abroad, including
INSMED, ARIKACE, ARIKAYCE, and IPLEX. At present, have received either registration or a noticallofvance for these marks from
the US Patent and Trademark Office. We have alsmived foreign allowances or issued foreign regisins for certain of these marks. In
December 2012, we learned that the EMA had no tibjeto our use of the name ARIKACE. In early 200 learned that the FDA approved
our use of the name ARIKAYCE as our proposed tratae for our liposomal amikacin for inhalation puoticandidate. Our ability to obtain
and maintain trademark registrations will in certgeographical locations depend on making useeofrthrk in commerce on or in connection
with our products and approval of the trademark®fo products by regulatory authorities in eactrtoy.

COMPETITION

The biotechnology and pharmaceutitdlistries are highly competitive. We face potdrttanpetitors from many different areas
including commercial pharmaceutical, biotech anda@ecompanies, academic institutions and scientigher smaller or earlier stage
companies and non-profit organizations developimgiafective drugs and drugs for respiratory dsssa Many of these companies have
greater human and financial resources and may r@¢kict candidates in more advanced stages of @@weint and may reach the market
before our product candidates. Competitors mayldpvgroducts that are more effective, safer or éegensive or that have better tolerability
or convenience. We also may face generic compstittere thirdearty payors will encourage use of the generic petal Although we believ
that our formulation delivery technology, respirgtand anti-infective expertise, experience andMedge in our specific areas of focus
provide us with competitive advantages, these (ialerompetitors could reduce our commercial opyity/.

Major Competitors for ARIKAYCE

Our major competitors include pharmaical and biotechnology companies that have ajgupltherapies or therapies in development
for the treatment of chronic lung infections. Irdghantibiotics are a standard of care in the treatraf CF to manage the chroflseudomonas
infections due to the high concentrations of dragasited directly into the lung, where the infeatiesides.

Novartis has two products for thatment ofPseudomonaking infections in CF patients. Tobi inhaled salatiwas the first inhaled
antibiotic to be approved by the FDA for the treatiinof CF patients witRseudomonalsing infections and has been sold in the US since
January 1998. Tobi inhaled solution requires adsiriafion twice daily for approximately 15 to 20 miies per treatment for a daily total of
approximately 30 to 40 minutes per day. Tobramydiralation powder, also known as TIP or Tobi Podh®] is a dry powder version of
tobramycin approved by the EMA in 2011 and FDA @12 for use by CF patients wiseudomonasTIP requires administration twice daily
for approximately 5 to 10 minutes per treatmentafalaily total of 10 to 20 minutes per day. The iarbducts continue to be the most used
products in Europe and the US.

Forest Laboratories markets inhal@@stin in Europe under the name Colomycin® as ietiaolution and Colobreathe as inhaled dry
powder. Colistin is used in Europe primarily asadjunct therapy and in some cases as a primargaheBecause it is less expensive than
Tobi, colistin is used as a first line treatmens@me countries that have a more restrictive reigduent system. Colistin is not approved for
inhaled treatment in the US, but it is frequented off label (via pharmacist compounding) for gatis that cannot use Tobi and for more
severe patients in the off month alternating withbilin an attempt to maintain lung function in pats who are deteriorating on Tobi alone.
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Gilead Sciences markets Cayston®&é¢amam for inhalation) which received approval friiva FDA in early 2010. Cayston requires
administration three times per day for two to thm@autes for each treatment for a daily total gbraximately about 10 minutes. Gilead
received conditional approval for Cayston in Eurdpeng September 2009. Cayston is approved forcgnke of treatment.

In addition, we are aware of at l¢agt other companies, Aptalis Pharmaceuticals aaldBios Pharmaceuticals, which have product
potentially competitive to ARIKAYCE currently in delopment.

Market data on marketed competitorglie treatment d?Pseudomonalsing infections in CF patients as reported by tigdvidual

companies is summarized below.

Product/Product
Candidate
for
Pseudomonas Estimated
Lung Key Annual Sales
Competitor Infections in CF Patients Class of Product Marketing Approvals (millions)
Novartis Tobi (Tobramycin Inhalation Solution or TI: Aminoglycoside Europe, US and Cana $ 387 (combinec
Novartis Tobi Podhaler (Tobramycin Inhalation Powder or 1 Aminoglycoside Europe, US and Cana
Gilead Cayston (Aztreonam for Inhalation Solutic Monobactan Europe and U Not reportec
Forest Colomycin (Colistimethate Sodium for Inhalatic Polymyxin Europe Not reportec
Forest Colobreathe (Colistimethate Sodium Powct Polymyxin Europe Not reportec
Chiesi Bramitok® and BETHKIS (Tobramycin Inhalation Solutio Aminoglycoside Europe and U Not reportec
Aptalis Pharmaceuticals Aeroquin™ (Inhaled Levofloxacin) Flouroquinolone None—phase 3 Not approved
(data reported
KaloBios Pharmaceutice KBO0O01-A (IV administered PEGylated mAb fragment) Monoclonal Antibody None—phase 2 Not approved
(initiated January 201{

We are not aware of any other comgmdeveloping an inhaled antibiotic for NTM lundgictions. While there is no approved
treatment for NTM lung infections, there is an Aiman Thoracic Society (ATS)/Infectious Diseasesi&gmf America (IDSA) treatment

regimen that is utilized.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION

Orphan Drugs

European Union

The EMA grants orphan drug desigmatmpromote the development of products that niter therapeutic benefits for life-

threatening or chronically debilitating conditioafecting not more than five in 10,000 people ia ElJ. In addition, orphan drug designation

can be granted if the drug
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is intended for a life threatening, seriously digdting or serious and chronic condition in the &tdl that without incentives it is unlikely that
sales of the drug in the EU would be sufficienjuistify developing the drug. Orphan drug designat®available either if there is no other
satisfactory method approved in the EU of diagrpsimeventing or treating the condition or if a hreat does exist, but the proposed orphan
drug will be of significant benefit to patients.

Orphan drug designation provides ofymities for free protocol assistance and fee cédas for access to the centralized regulatory
procedures before and during the first year afterketing approval, which reductions are not limitedhe first year after marketing approval
for small and medium enterprises. In addition, piraduct which has an orphan drug designation spulesgly receives EMA marketing
approval for the indication for which it has suasigjnation, the product is entitled to orphan dsuglusivity, which means the EMA may not
approve any other application to market the samg tbr the same indication for a period of ten gedhe exclusivity period may be reduced
to six years if the designation criteria are naglenmet, including where it is shown that the pids sufficiently profitable not to justify
maintenance of market exclusivity. Competitors megeive marketing approval of different drugs aldgics for the indications for which the
orphan product has exclusivity. In order to dorsmwever, they must demonstrate that the new drug®tmgics provide a significant benefit
over the existing orphan product. This demonstnatibsignificant benefit may be done at the timéndfal approval or in post-approval
studies, depending on the type of marketing authtian granted.

United States

Under the Orphan Drug Act (ODA), fii2A may grant orphan drug designation to drugsnickéel to treat a rare disease or condition
("rare" generally meaning that it affects fewenttz®0,000 individuals in the US) if it meets cantariteria specified in the ODA and FDA's
implementing regulations at 21 CFR Part 316. Affter FDA grants orphan drug designation, the genéeiatity of the drug and the specific
potential uses for which it has obtained desigmagice disclosed publicly by the FDA.

Orphan drug designation qualifiesdheg sponsor for various development incentivethefODA, including tax credits for qualified
clinical testing, and a waiver of the NDA applicatiuser fee (unless the application includes aitatidn for other than the rare disease or
condition for which the drug was designated). $bgbrovides the potential for certain exclusivignkfits. However, it does not convey any
advantage in or shorten the duration of the regofateview and approval process, and safety aret@feness of a drug must still be
established through adequate and well-controllediss. The first NDA applicant with FDA orphan drdgsignation for a particular active
ingredient to actually receive FDA approval of thesignated drug for the indication for which it Isash designation, is entitled to a seyea4
exclusive marketing period, often referred to gghan drug exclusivity, in the US for that produstiandication. During the orphan drug
exclusivity period, the FDA may not approve anyestapplications to market the same drug for theesiatication for use, except in limited
circumstances, such as a showing of clinical sopgrito the product that has orphan drug excligi®rphan drug exclusivity does not
prevent the FDA from approving a different drug floe same disease or condition, or the same dnayddferent disease or condition.

Drug Approval
Europe

To obtain approval of a drug under fegulatory systems, we may submit marketing aightions either under a centralized or
decentralized procedure. These procedures appheiEU
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member states, plus the European Economic Aredaresiniceland, Lichtenstein, and Norway. The calited procedure, which is compulsc
for medicines produced by certain biotechnologirakcesses and for orphan drugs and is optiondhéme which are highly innovative,
provides for the grant of a single marketing auttadion that is valid for all EU member states. ©@nthis procedure, an applicant submits an
application, including a summary of product chagsstics and proposed labeling and packaging,gadference member state and concernec
member states. The reference member state prepdra$t assessment and drafts of the related raktevithin 120 days after receipt of a valid
application. Within 90 days of receiving the refeze member state's assessment report, each cotheeeneber state must decide whether to
approve the assessment report and related matéfialsmember state cannot approve the assessamnt and related materials on the grot

of potential serious risk to the public health, thgputed points may eventually be referred toBhspean Commission, whose decision is
binding on all member states.

United States

In the US, pharmaceutical productssarbject to extensive regulation by the FDA. Thddfal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FDCA)
and other federal and state statutes and regusatimvern, among other things, the research, dgradot, testing, manufacture, storage,
recordkeeping, approval, labeling, promotion andket@ng, distribution, post-approval monitoring amgborting, sampling and import and
export of pharmaceutical products. Failure to cgnvgth applicable US requirements at any time dyitime product development process,
approval process or after approval may subjechapemy to a variety of administrative or judiciahstions, such as imposition of clinical
holds, FDA refusal to approve and even acceptdoiew pending new drug applications, warning Istteroduct recalls, product seizures, tota
or partial suspension of production or distributiorunctions, fines, refusals of government coctsarestitution, disgorgement, civil penalties,
and criminal prosecution.

Pharmaceutical product developmeniiénUS typically involves:

. Completion of preclinical laboratory tests, anirsaldies and formulation studies in compliance whth FDA's good laboratory
practice, or GLP, regulations;

. Submission to the FDA of an investigational newgdapplication, or IND, which must become effectbefore human clinical
trials may begin;

. Approval by an independent institutional revieward, or IRB, at each clinical site before ea@l may be initiated;

. Performance of adequate and wedhtrolled human clinical trials in accordance wjthod clinical practices, or GCP, to estak

the safety and efficacy of the proposed drug feheadication;

. Submission to the FDA of a NDA;

. Satisfactory completion of an FDA advisory comndtteview, if applicable;

. Satisfactory completion of an FDA inspection of thenufacturing facility or facilities at which tipeoduct is produced to asst
compliance with cGMP, and to assure that the tasli methods and controls are adequate to pretfedrug's identity,
strength, quality and purity; and

. FDA review and approval of the NDA.

Adequate and wedbntrolled clinical trials to must be conductedstablish the safety and effectiveness of the thugach indicatio
for which FDA approval is sought. Satisfaction @A pre-market approval requirements typically takemy years and the actual time
required may vary substantially based upon the, tgpmplexity and novelty of the product or disease.
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Preclinical Studies

Preclinical studies include laborgtevaluation of product chemistry, formulation daogicity, pharmacology, as well as animal trials
to assess the characteristics and potential safetyefficacy of the product. The conduct of theclinécal tests must comply with federal
regulations and requirements including good lalmoyapractices and the Animal Welfare Act. An INDosgor must submit the results of the
preclinical tests, together with manufacturing mmfation, analytical data, any available clinicaleder literature, and a proposed clinical trial
protocol, among other things, to the FDA as padrofND. Certain non-clinical tests, such as anitests of reproductive toxicity and
carcinogenicity, may continue even after the INBubmitted. An IND automatically becomes effect®@edays after receipt by the FDA,
unless before that time the FDA raises concermgiestions related to one or more proposed cliti@ds and places the clinical trial on a
clinical hold. In such a case, the IND sponsor tnedFDA must resolve any outstanding concerns befwe clinical trial can begin. As a result,
submission of an IND may not result in the FDA wadilog clinical trials to commence.

Clinical Trials

Clinical trials involve the adminiation of the investigational new drug to healthjunteers or patients under the supervision of a
qualified investigator. Clinical trials must be clutted: (i) in compliance with federal regulatio(ig;in compliance with good clinical practic
or GCP, an international standard meant to prabectights and health of patients and to definerdes of clinical trial sponsors,
administrators, and monitors; as well as (iii) unpietocols detailing, among other things, the otdyes of the trial, the parameters to be used
in monitoring safety, and the effectiveness critéo be evaluated. Each protocol involving testindJ.S. subjects (patients and healthy
volunteers) and subsequent protocol amendmentshausibmitted to the FDA as part of the IND. Initdd, an IRB at each institution
participating in the clinical trial must review aagprove the plan for any clinical trial beforedmmences at that institution. Information abou
certain clinical trials must be submitted withiresfiic timeframes to the National Institutes of Hleaor NIH, for public dissemination on their
ClinicalTrials.gov website. Progress reports datgithe results of the clinical trials must be sitted at least annually to the FDA and there
additional, more frequently reporting requiremdhgerious adverse events occur.

A study sponsor might choose to disicwe a clinical trial or a clinical developmembgram for a variety of reasons. The FDA may
order the temporary, or permanent, discontinuatiom clinical trial at any time, or impose othenstions, if it believes that the clinical trial
either is not being conducted in accordance witl F&quirements or presents an unacceptable righetalinical trial patients or subjects. An
IRB may also require the clinical trial at the didebe halted, either temporarily or permanentdy failure to comply with the IRB's
requirements, or may impose other conditions.

Clinical trials to support NDAs foramketing approval are typically conducted in theequential phases, but the phases may over
be combined. For phase 1, the initial introductidthe drug into healthy human subjects or patieritis the target disease or condition, the
drug is tested to assess metabolism, pharmacatsnetiarmacological actions, side effects assatiaith increasing doses and, if possible,
early evidence on effectiveness. Phase 2 usualbhias trials in a limited patient population withe target disease or condition to identify
possible adverse effects and safety risks, tomnedirily evaluate the efficacy of the product fpesific targeted diseases and to determine
dosage tolerance and optimal dosage. If a compdanwnstrates evidence of effectiveness and an @ddesafety profile in phase 2
evaluations, phase 3 trials are undertaken to k& additional information about clinical effigaand safety in a larger number of patients,
typically at geographically dispersed
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clinical trial sites, in order to generate enougkado statistically evaluate the drug for potdrat@roval, to establish the overall benefit-risk
relationship of the drug and to provide adequdiarimation for the labeling of the drug.

In some cases, FDA may condition apalof a NDA for a product candidate on the sposszgreement to conduct additional clini
trials to further assess the drug's safety anatffness after NDA approval. Such post-approvalstiare typically referred to as phase 4
studies. In some circumstances, the FDA may aldera sponsor to conduct post-marketing clinigalgrafter approval of the product, if new
safety information arises raising questions abloetdrug's risk-benefit profile. Those clinical tsiare typically referred to as Post-Marketing
Requirements, or PMRs.

NDA Application

After completion of the required dtial testing, an NDA is prepared and submittechtoEDA. FDA approval of the NDA is required
before marketing of the product may begin in the Tt& NDA must include the results of all precladicclinical and other testing and a
compilation of data relating to the product's phaeoiogy, chemistry, manufacture, and controls. ddst of preparing and submitting an NDA
is substantial. Under federal law, the submissiomast NDAs is additionally subject to a substdrdigplication user fee, and the manufacture
and/or sponsor under an approved new drug apmlitatie also subject to annual product and estaidishuser fees. These fees are typically
increased annually.

The FDA has 60 days from its receifipd NDA to determine whether the application Wil accepted for filing based on the FDA's
threshold determination that it is sufficiently colete to permit substantive review. Once the subimisis accepted for filing, the FDA begins
an in-depth review. The FDA has agreed to certaifiopmance goals in the review of NDAs. Under Pripsion Drug User Fee Act guidelines
that are currently in effect, the FDA has a goaiw#lve months from the date of the receipt ofeandard nonpriority NDA to review and act on
the submission for a drug considered to be a nelgcutar entity, or eight months for a priority NO&r such drug. The review process may b
extended by FDA for three additional months to adeiscertain information or clarification regardingormation already provided in the
submission.

The FDA may refer applications fowabdrug products or drug products that presefficdif questions of safety or efficacy to an
advisory committee, typically a panel that includbsicians and other experts, for review, evalmatind a recommendation as to whether the
application should be approved. The FDA is not labloy the recommendation of an advisory committeéjttgenerally follows such
recommendations.

Before approving a NDA, the FDA wijpically inspect one or more clinical sites toagsscompliance with Good Clinical Practice.
Additionally, the FDA will inspect the facility dhe facilities at which the drug is manufactureBARwill not approve the product unless
compliance with current good manufacturing pradtisesatisfactory and the NDA contains data thavige substantial evidence that the drug
is safe and effective in the indication studied.

After the FDA evaluates the NDA ahd thanufacturing and testing facilities, it issa@ber an approval letter or a complete respons
letter. Complete response letters generally outheedeficiencies in the submission and delingadeatiditional testing or information neede:
order for the FDA to reconsider the applicatioranfl when those deficiencies have been addresskd EDA's satisfaction in a resubmission
of the NDA, the FDA will issue an approval lett&he FDA has
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committed to reviewing such resubmissions in twsinmonths depending on the type of informatiasiuded.

An approval letter authorizes comri@nmarketing of the drug with specific prescribiimformation for specific indications. As a
condition of NDA approval, the FDA may require siandial post-approval testing and surveillance tnmitor the drug's safety or efficacy and
may impose other conditions, including labelingnieBons that can materially affect the potenti@rket and profitability of the drug. The FI
also may require submission of a risk evaluatioth mitigation strategy, or REMS, plan to mitigatey aaentified or suspected serious risks.
The REMS could include medication guides, physic@ammunication plans, assessment plans, and elsrteassure safe use, such as
restricted distribution methods, patient registr@sother risk minimization tools. Once grantedhduct approvals may be withdrawn if
compliance with regulatory standards is not mangdior problems are identified following initial rkating.

Upon NDA approval of a new chemiaatity, or NCE, which is a drug that contains naaemoiety that has been approved by FDA
in any other NDA, that drug receives five yearsnafrketing exclusivity during which FDA cannot reaeiany ANDA seeking approval of a
generic version of that drug. Certain changesdoug, such as the addition of a new indicatiorhtogackage insert, are associated with a thre
year period of exclusivity during which FDA canragtprove an ANDA for a generic drug that includes¢hange

Market and data exclusivity provissamder the FDCA can delay the submission or tipecsal of certain applications for competing
products. The FDCA provides a five-year period afi4patent data exclusivity within the United Statethe first applicant to gain approval of
a NDA for a new chemical entity (also referred $d'BlICE"). A drug is a new chemical entity if the &Das not previously approved any other
new drug containing the same active moiety, whicthé molecule or ion responsible for the actiothefdrug substance. During the exclusi
period for a new chemical entity, the FDA may notept for review an abbreviated new drug applicatay ANDA, or a 505(b)(2) NDA
submitted by another company that references thdqarsly approved drug. However, an ANDA or 5052p)IDA may be submitted after fc
years if it contains a certification of patent itiddy or nor-infringement.

The FDCA also provides three yearmafketing exclusivity for a NDA, 505(b)(2) NDA, supplement to an existing NDA or 505(b)
(2) NDA if new clinical investigations, other thaioavailability studies, that were conducted orrsmred by the applicant, are deemed by the
FDA to be essential to the approval of the appheatfor example, for new indications, dosage®rsiths or dosage forms of an existing drug.
This three-year exclusivity covers only the cormudit of use associated with the new clinical ingedtbns and, as a general matter, does not
prohibit the FDA from approving ANDAs or 505(b)(RDAs for generic versions of the original, unmodifidrug product. Five-year and three
year exclusivity will not delay the submission @paoval of a full NDA; however, an applicant subtnig a full NDA would be required t
conduct or obtain a right of reference to all &f ireclinical studies and adequate and well-cdettallinical trials necessary to demonstrate
safety and effectiveness.

After NDA approval, owners of relevainug patents may apply for up to a five-year pagxtension. The allowable patent term
extension is calculated as half of the drug'sriggthase (the time between IND application and NIDBmission) and all of the review phase
(the time between NDA submission and approval)oup thaximum of five years. The time can be shodeéhEDA determines that the
applicant did not pursue approval with due diligerthe total patent term after the extension mayeroeed 14 years. For patents that might
expire during the application phase, the patentaswmay request an interim patent extension. Arrimtpatent extension increases the
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patent term by one year and may be renewed uputdifoes. For each interim patent extension grariteddpost-approval patent extension is
reduced by one year. The director of the UnitedeStRatent and Trademark Office must determineagatoval of the drug covered by the
patent for which a patent extension is being soiglitely. Interim patent extensions are not aaalié for a drug for which a NDA has not beer
submitted.

Fast Track Designation and Priority Review

The FDA has various programs, inatgdiast track designation and priority review, thed intended to expedite or simplify the
process for the development and FDA review of dthgs meet certain qualifications. The purposéhebe programs is to provide important
new drugs to patients earlier than under standBr feview procedures.

Increasing rates of bacterial andyalrinfections and resistance to current therapiesg with associated high rates of mortality, tia
the 2012 passage of the Generating Antibiotic Iticea Now (GAIN) Act in the United States. The GARt established incentives for the
development of new therapies for serious andtlifeatening infections by making streamlined ptyoréview and fast track processes avail
for drugs which the FDA designates as Qualifie@ttibus Disease Products, or QIDPs. To qualifydfsignation as a QIDP according to the
criteria established in the GAIN Act a product miistan antibacterial or anti-fungal drug for huroae intended to treat serious or life-
threatening infections, including: those causeaianti-fungal resistant pathogen, including naretmerging infectious pathogens; or cause
by qualifying pathogens listed by the FDA in ac@orde with the GAIN Act.

Under the fast track program gengyaiile sponsor of an IND may request FDA to degigtize drug candidate as a fast track drug if
is intended to treat a serious condition and fudfil unmet medical need. FDA must determine ifdhey candidate qualifies for fast track
designation within 60 days of receipt of the spoissequest. Once FDA designates a drug as aréast tandidate, it is required to facilitate
development and expedite the review of that drugroyiding more frequent communication with anddzuice to the sponsor.

In addition to other benefits suchitesability to have more interactions with FDA, Anay initiate review of sections of a fast track
drug's NDA before the application is complete. Tolting review is available if the applicant prdeis and FDA approves a schedule for the
submission of the remaining information and theliappt pays applicable user fees. However, FDA'®tperiod goal for reviewing an
application does not begin until the last sectibthe NDA is submitted. Additionally, the fast tkadesignation may be withdrawn by FDA if
FDA believes that the designation is no longer sujgg by data emerging in the clinical trial prazes

Under FDA policies, a drug candidatgenerally eligible for priority review, or rewiewithin an eight-month time frame from the
time an NDA is submitted, if the drug candidatevides a significant improvement compared to maxkelteigs in the treatment, diagnosis or
prevention of a disease. A fast track designatad dandidate would ordinarily meet FDA's criteiéa priority review. The FDA makes its
determination of priority or standard review durthg 60-day filing period after a NDA submissionddahe GAIN Act establishes priority
review for QIDPs.

Combination Products

A combination product is a productgised of (i) two or more regulated componengs, drug/device, biologic/device,
drug/biologic, or drug/device/biologic, that areypitally, chemically, or otherwise combined or nixand produced as a single entity; (ii) two
or more separate products
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packaged together in a single package or as anditomprised of drug and device products, devideb#ological products, or biological and
drug products; (iii) a drug, device, or biologigabduct packaged separately that according towsstigational plan or proposed labeling is
intended for use only with an approved individuapecified drug, device, or biological product wdhbpth are required to achieve the inter
use, indication, or effect and where upon appro¥#he proposed product the labeling of the appigu®duct would need to be changed,
e.g., to reflect a change in intended use, dosatge, Strength, route of administration, or sigrafit change in dose; or (iv) any investigational
drug, device, or biological product packaged sepfrahat according to its proposed labeling isise only with another individually specified
investigational drug, device, or biological produdtere both are required to achieve the intendedindication, or effect.

FDA is divided into various branchesCenters, by product type. Different Centersdsily review drug, biologic, or device
applications. In order to review an application&écombination product, the FDA must decide whiemt&r should be responsible for the
review. FDA regulations require that FDA determihe combination product's primary mode of actiarP®OA, which is the single mode of
a combination product that provides the most imgurtherapeutic action of the combination prodlibe Center that regulates that portion of
the product that generates the PMOA becomes tleclealuator. If there are two independent modexctibn, neither of which is subordinate
to the other, the FDA makes a determination ashichwCenter to assign the product based on consigteith other combination products
raising similar types of safety and effectivenessggions or to the Center with the most expertisevaluating the most significant safety and
effectiveness questions raised by the combinatiodyct. When evaluating an application, a lead &emtay consult other Centers and apply
the standards that would be applicable but stilinecomplete reviewing authority, or it may coltaate with another Center, by which the
Center assigns review of a specific section ofahyglication to another Center, delegating its nené@thority for that section. Typically, the
FDA requires a single marketing application subaditto the Center selected to be the lead evalugtbgugh the agency has the discretion to
require separate applications to more than oneeCe@he reason to submit multiple evaluations fkeéfapplicant wishes to receive some
benefit that accrues only from approval under gi@aar type of application, like new drug prodestclusivity. If multiple applications are
submitted, each may be evaluated by a differemnt Genter.

Like their constituent products—dragsl devices—combination products are highly regdland subject to a broad range of
postmarketing requirements including cGMPs, adveveat reporting, periodic reports, labeling andeaitising requirements and restrictions.

Antibiotic Exclusivity

If FDA designates a drug product &3l@P, and if that product is approved, FDA wiltexd by an additional five years any non-
patent marketing exclusivity period awarded, such five-year exclusivity period awarded for a rehemical entity or a seven-year
exclusivity period awarded for an approved prodwitlh orphan designation. For example, an approvedyrt with orphan designation and
QIDP designation would have twelve years of mangeéxclusivity. This exclusivity applies only withspect to drugs that are first approved
on or after July 9, 2012.

A drug sponsor may request that F28ighate its product as a QIDP at any time pricdDA submission. FDA must make a QIDP
determination within 60 days of receiving the dasigpn request. Any NDA for a drug designated 4P will be granted priority review.
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Disclosure of Clinical Trial Information

Under U.S. and certain foreign lamteinded to improve clinical trial transparency sgms of clinical trials are in many cases require
to register and disclose information about theiricél trials. This can include information relatedthe product, patient population, phase of
investigation, study sites and investigators, ahémaspects of the clinical trial is then madelicuds part of the registration. Sponsors are als
obligated in many cases to disclose the resultseif clinical trials after completion. Disclosuséthe results of these trials can be delayed
the new product or new indication being studiedtheen approved. Competitors may use this publiegitable information to gain knowledge
regarding the progress of development programs.

Other US Postmarketing Regulatory Requirements

Once an NDA is approved, a produditlvé subject to certain post-approval requiremerds instance, FDA closely regulates the
post-approval marketing and promotion of drugsiuding standards and regulations for direct-to-comsr advertising, off-label promaotion,
industry-sponsored scientific and educational &@iwvand promotional activities involving the Inet.

Drugs may be marketed only for thpraped indications and in accordance with the miowis of the approved labeling. Changes to
some of the conditions established in an appropgtiaation, including changes in indications, labg) or manufacturing processes or
facilities, require submission and FDA approvahafew NDA or NDA supplement before the change amiplemented. A NDA supplement
for a new indication typically requires clinicaltdasimilar to that in the original application, athé FDA uses the same procedures and actior
in reviewing NDA supplements as it does in reviegiiDAS.

Adverse event reporting and submissioperiodic reports is required following FDA appal of a NDA. The FDA also may require
postmarketing testing, known as phase 4 testialg,minimization action plans and surveillance taitar the effects of an approved produc
place conditions on an approval that could resthietdistribution or use of the product.

In addition, quality control as wali drug manufacture, packaging, and labeling prresdnust continue to conform to cGMPs after
approval. Drug manufacturers and certain of thaicentractors are required to register their estasients with FDA and certain state
agencies, and are subject to periodic unannoumspections by the FDA during which the FDA inspeuntmufacturing facilities to assess
compliance with cGMPs. Accordingly, manufacturensstrcontinue to expend time, money and effort maheas of production and quality
control to maintain compliance with cGMPs.

Regulatory authorities may withdrameguct approvals or request product recalls if mgany fails to comply with regulatory
standards, if it encounters problems followingi@itmarketing, or if previously unrecognized prahkeare subsequently discovered.
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In addition to the potential postnetikg commitments and requirements noted aboveefample, phase 4 studies, REMS) drugs
manufactured or distributed pursuant to FDA appisgee subject to a broad array of extensive antiraaing regulation by the FDA,
including, among other things, requirements retptmrecordkeeping, periodic reporting, product glimg and distribution, advertising and
promotion and reporting of adverse experiences thighproduct. After approval, most changes to tipr@ved product, such as adding new
indications or other labeling claims are subjeqbrior FDA review and approval. There also are itwing, annual user fee requirements for
any marketed products and the establishments atwgich products are manufactured, as well as pplication fees for supplemental
applications with clinical data.

In addition, drug manufacturers atttko entities involved in the manufacture and distion of approved drugs are required to
register their establishments with the FDA andestafencies, and are subject to periodic unannounspdctions by the FDA and these state
agencies for compliance with cGMP requirements.ngka to the manufacturing process are strictlyleégd and often require prior FDA
approval before being implemented. FDA regulatialse require investigation and correction of anyiaktons from cGMP and impose
reporting and documentation requirements upongbasor and any third-party manufacturers that gomsor may decide to use. Accordingly,
manufacturers must continue to expend time, moaey effort in the area of production and qualitpteol to maintain cGMP compliance.
Once an approval is granted, the FDA may withdiasvapproval if compliance with regulatory requireseand standards is not maintained o
if problems occur after the product reaches theketar

Later discovery of previously unknopmoblems with a product, including adverse evefitsnhanticipated severity or frequency, or
with manufacturing processes, or failure to compith regulatory requirements, may result in revisi¢o the approved labeling to add new
safety information; imposition of postarket studies or clinical trials to assess newtgafsks; or imposition of distribution or othesstriction:
under a REMS program. Other potential consequeincasie, among other things:

. Restrictions on the marketing or manufacturihthe product, complete withdrawal of the produoni the market or product
recalls;

. Warning letters or holds on post-approval chiitials;

. Refusal of the FDA to approve pending NDAs qo@aments to approved NDAs, or suspension or rdiataf product license
approvals;

. Product seizure or detention, or refusal to pietime import or export of products; or

. Injunctions or the imposition of civil or crimdhpenalties.

The FDA strictly regulates marketitaheling, advertising and promotion of productstthre placed on the market. Drugs may be
promoted only for the approved indications anddecadance with the provisions of the approved labe¢é FDA and other agencies actively
enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting thenpotion of off-label uses, and a company that isitbto have improperly promoted off-label
uses may be subject to significant liability.

In addition, the distribution of peeiption pharmaceutical products is subject toRhescription Drug Marketing Act, or PDMA, whi
regulates the distribution of drugs and drug samatehe federal level, and sets minimum standardbe registration and regulation of drug
distributors by the states. Both the PDMA and dstates limit the distribution of prescription pharogautical product samples and impose
requirements to ensure accountability in distritoti

36




Table of Contents
Pediatric Information
European Union

For the EMA, pediatric data or an@wed pediatric investigation plan, or PIP, is liegg to submit an MAA in the European Union.
In December 2010, we received Positive OpiniorhefRPediatric Committee of the EMA on the agreenséour PIP, on the granting of a
deferral, and on the granting of a waiver for amikgsulfate) nebulizer suspension for inhalatise,un the treatment éfseudomonalsing
infection/colonization in CF patients in accordamgth relevant European regulations. Our PIP igexttdo modifications from time to time.

United States

Under the Pediatric Research Equity & 2003, or PREA, NDAs and NDA supplements nugsttain data that are adequate to asse:
the safety and effectiveness of the drug for thenedd indications in all relevant pediatric subgagians and to support dosing and
administration for each pediatric subpopulationvithich the drug is safe and effective. The FDA mayijts own initiative or at the request of
an applicant, grant deferrals for submission o&datfull or partial waivers. Unless otherwise riegd by regulation, PREA does not apply to
any drug for an indication for which orphan destimahas been granted. Under the Best PharmackufiireChildren Act (BPCA), pediatric
research is incentivized by the possibility of additional months of pediatric exclusivity, whidtgranted, is added to existing exclusivity
periods and patent terms listed for the applicdblg in the FDA's Orange Book at the time the sposatisfies FDA's "written request" for
pediatric research. Sponsors may negotiate thestefrthe written request during drug developmertiilgthe sponsor of an orphan designate
drug may not be required to perform pediatric #adinder PREA, they are eligible to participatthsincentives under the BPCA.

Regulation Outside the US and Euroj

In addition to regulations in the |@i&d Europe, we will be subject to a variety of ftatjans in other jurisdictions governing clinical
studies of our candidate products. Whether or reoblatain FDA approval for a product, we must ob&gproval of a product by the
comparable regulatory authorities of countriesidetshe US before we can commence clinical studli@sarketing of the product in those
countries. The requirements for approval and tpe@fal process vary from country to country, argltime may be longer or shorter than that
required for FDA approval. Furthermore, we musiabtny required pricing approvals in additioneégulatory approval prior to launching t
product in the approving country.

Health Canada

Health Canada (HC) is the governnagi@ncy that provides regulatory and marketing agrior drugs and therapeutic products in
Canada. The upcoming Legislative and Regulatory éfiwidation (LRM) is the most significant drug regalry system reform in Canada in
more than 50 years and is expected to overhaulda&&ood and Drugs Act and Regulations. The LRppstts a ‘lifecycle’ regulatory
approach and is focused on strengthening evideaseebdecision making, good regulatory planningniéing, post-licensing, accountability,
authority and enforcement. Through this framew#t€, intends to improve the market authorization pescand implement necessary
regulatory frameworks. In October 2010, HC accédsréts modernization efforts. This included thegwrsed regulatory pathways for Orphan
Drugs (harmonized with US/EU regulations).
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Japan

The Minister of Health, Labour and N&ee is the government agency that provides régotaapproval for pharmaceutical products in
Japan. Parties engaged in manufacture or sal@diipts in Japan must receive the approval of thestir of Health, Labour and Welfare. The
Pharmaceutical Affairs Law of Japan requires anieefor marketing authorization when importingapahn and selling pharmaceutical prod
manufactured in other countries. It also requirémreign manufacturer to get each of its manufactusites certified as a manufacturing site of
pharmaceutical products to be marketed in Japanedaive a license for marketing authorization,tteufacturer or seller must, at the very
least, employ the certain manufacturing marketinglity and safety personnel. A license for margetiuthorization may not be granted if the
quality management methods and postmarketing safahjagement methods applied with respect to themaweutical product fail to conform
to the standards stipulated in the ordinances pigated by the Ministry of Health, Labour and Wedfar

In addition to the licensing requiamts for entities that engage in manufacturing,artipg and sales of medical products as
mentioned above, the law also requires that thaaakgroducts have obtained approval before theynaarketed and sold in Japan. The
process for the approval includes such elemengsasiation and testing of trustworthiness of theical trial, testing of quality, efficacy,
absorption and egestion, toxicity, and safety efghoducts. The time required for the approval @ssovaries depending on the product, but it
can be years. The product also needs approvalifong to be applied for redemption of health irsmure. The medical products which once ar
approved and marketed are also subject to reguokirrparketing vigilance of safety and quality unther standards of Good Manufacturing
Practice.

Medical Device Regulation

If approved, ARIKAYCE will be admintiezed via inhalation through an optimized eFlow bleder System, which is a medical device
that is also subject to extensive government reigumlaThe optimized eFlow Nebulizer System is apprbin the EU, and it must be approved
in any country in which we intend to commercialideIKAYCE.

Medical devices may seek and recaigeketing authorization from FDA as stand-aloneicks; or in some cases, may seek and
receive marketing authorization as part of a comém product. In either case, the ultimate produititneed to satisfy FDA requirements. The
basic pathways for marketing authorization for desiin the United States are 510(k) clearance.

Medical devices are also subjecteidain post-clearance, post-approval requiremdisse requirements include continuing Quality
System compliance, Medical Device Reporting, amgliements governing labeling and promotional atisieg.

In addition to regulations in the W& will be subject to a variety of regulationsoiter jurisdictions governing the medical device.
Whether or not we obtain FDA approval for a prodarad the medical device that will be used with ARMCE, we must obtain approval of a
product and the medical device by the comparalgjelagory authorities of countries outside the Ukewe can commence marketing of the
product in those countries. The requirements fpragal and the approval process vary from courtrgauntry, and the time may be longer or
shorter than that required for FDA approval.

Under certain harmonized medical depproval/clearance regulations outside the &fSrence to US clearance permits fast-
tracking of market clearance. Other regions arenbaized
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with EU standards, and therefore recognize the @ ifConformité Européene, which means Europearid@mity) as a declaration of
conformity to applicable standards. CE mark isd#ad designation for EU member States for mark#taaization.

Reimbursement of Pharmaceutical Products

In the US, many independent thirdypaayers, as well as the Medicare and state Me&bgragrams, reimburse buyers of
pharmaceutical products. Medicare is the fedemdam that provides health care benefits to saiii@ens and certain disabled and
chronically ill persons. Medicaid is the need-bafggteral and state program administered by thestatprovide health care benefits to certair
persons. In return for including our pharmaceutt@mahmercial products in the Medicare and Medicaidiularies, making them eligible for
federally funded payments, we will need to agrepay a rebate to state Medicaid agencies that geadimbursement for those products. We
will also have to agree to sell our commercial pidd under contracts with the Department of Vetevsffiairs, Department of Defense, Public
Health Service, and numerous other federal ageasi@gll as certain hospitals that are designaedfl@B covered entities (entities designate
by federal statutes to receive drugs at discouptiegs) at prices that are significantly below piige we charge to commercial pharmaceutica
distributors. These programs and contracts ardyhiglgulated and will impose restrictions on ousiness. Failure to comply with these
regulations and restrictions could result in a loissur ability to continue receiving reimburseméatour drugs once approved. Medicare and
Medicaid programs may also seek penalties for ipgronarketing, including off-label marketing, ofrairugs.

Different pricing and reimbursemectiemes exist in other countries. In the Europeamr@onity, governments influence the price of
pharmaceutical products through their pricing agichbursement rules and control of national hedile systems that fund a large part of the
cost of those products to consumers. Some jurisd&bperate positive and negative list system&unthich products may only be marketed
once a reimbursement price has been agreed. Tmabiabursement or pricing approval, some of themetries may require the completion
of clinical trials that compare the cost-effectiesa of a particular drug candidate to currentlylalke therapies. Other member states allow
companies to fix their own prices for medicines, fmonitor and control company profits. The downwpressure on health care costs in
general, particularly prescription drugs, has bez@ery intense. As a result, increasingly highibeasrare being erected to the entry of new
products. In addition, in some countries, crossiboimports from low-priced markets exert a comnaaressure on pricing within a country.
There can be no assurance that any country thairiescontrols or reimbursement limitations fougliproducts will allow favorable
reimbursement and pricing arrangements for anyuofpooducts.

Healthcare Law and Regulation/Fraud and Abuse Laws

Healthcare providers, physicians tnidi-party payors (government or private) ofteayph primary role in the recommendation and
prescription of health care products. In the UnBmerous detailed requirements apply to governmediprivate health care programs, and a
broad range of federal and state fraud and abusé&amsparency laws are relevant to pharmacewt@aapanies. Federal and state healthcare
laws and regulations in these areas include thewolig:

. The federal anti-kickback;

. The federal civil False Claims Act;

. The federal Health Insurance Portability and éwdtability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), as amended by tHealth Information
Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act fHHCH), and similar state privacy laws;
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The federal criminal false statements statute;

. The federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act, benqeémented as the Open Payments Program; and
. Analogous and similar state laws and regulations
EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2013, we had al wit61 employees, including 25 in research, cihiregulatory and quality assurance; 18 in
technical operations, manufacturing and qualitytednand 18 in general and administrative funcsigncluding pre-commercial activities. We
anticipate additional hires in 2014.

Our success depends in large measucair ability to attract and retain capable exeeubfficers and highly skilled employees who
are in great demand. None of our employees aresepted by a labor union and we believe that datioas with our employees are generally
good. Generally, our employees are at-will emplgyé&towever, we have entered into employment agretéth certain of our executive
officers.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We file electronically with the Seities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, our anmmdrts on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amemdsn® those reports filed or furnished pursuargaotion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, which we refer to as the BExgfe Act. We make available on our website atMitprw.insmed.com, free of charge,
copies of these reports as soon as reasonablyqgadalet after filing these reports with, or furnispithem to, the SEC. The public can also ol
materials that we file with the SEC through the SE&kbsite at http://www.sec.gov or at the SECHliPiReference Room at 100 F Street,
Washington, DC 20549. Information on the operatibthe Public Reference Room is available by cgltime SEC at 800-SEC-0330.

Also available through our websitésrestor Relations Corporate Governance" pagelaagters for the Audit, Compensation and
Nominations and Governance committees of our boadirectors, our Corporate Governance Guidelines, our Code of Business Cond
and Ethics.

The references to our website andStEE€'s website are intended to be inactive texafatences only. Neither the contents of our
website, nor the contents of the SEC's websiteinam@porated by reference in this Annual ReporForm 10-K.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The financial information requiredden this Item 1 is incorporated herein by refereiockem 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

40




Table of Contents
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business is subject to substantial risks anceaainties. Any of the risks and uncertaintiesctibged below, either alone or taken
together, could materially and adversely affect business, financial condition, results of operaipprospects for growth, or the value of an
investment in our common stock. In addition, thedes and uncertainties could cause actual restaltdiffer materially from those expressec
implied by forward-looking statements containethiis Form 10-K (please read the "Cautionary Notg&eing Forwardtooking Statement
appearing at the beginning of this Form 10-K). Tis&s and uncertainties described below are notahly ones we face. Additional risks and
uncertainties not currently known to us or thateuerently deem to be immaterial may also materialyl adversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations, prosfgeand the value of an investment in our commarksaad could cause actual resu
performance or achievements to differ materialgnirthose expressed or implied by forwlooking statements.

Risks Related to Development and Commercializationf our Product Candidates

Our near term prospects are highly dependent on sluecess of our most advanced product candidatelkd CE. If we are unable to
successfully complete the development of, obtaigutatory approval for, and successfully commerciadi ARIKAYCE, our business and tt
value of our common stock may be materially advéyssffected.

We are investing substantially albof efforts and financial resources in the develept of ARIKAYCE, our most advanced product
candidate. Our ability to generate product reveémum ARIKAYCE, which may not occur for at least thext year or two, if ever, will depend
heavily on the successful completion of developneénteceipt of regulatory approval for and comnmaization of, ARIKAYCE.

Positive results from preclinicaldigs of a drug candidate may not be predictivarofiar results in human clinical trials, and
promising results from earlier clinical trials oflaug candidate may not be replicated in latericdintrials. Many companies in the
pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries hatffermd significant setbacks in late-stage clinicils even after achieving promising results
in earlier stages of development. Accordingly, iagults of the completed clinical trials for ARIKAE may not be predictive of the results we
may obtain in our clinical trials currently in pr@gs or other trials. We do not expect ARIKAYCEaoy other drug candidates we may dev
to be commercially available for at least a yefaat all.

We have not completed the research and developratage of ARIKAYCE or any other product candidatether than IPLEX, which we no
longer market. If we are unable to successfully cavarcialize ARIKAYCE or any other products, it mayaterially adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operatisrand our prospects.

Our long-term viability and growthpid on the successful commercialization of ARIKAY@nd potentially other product
candidates that lead to revenue and profits. Praautizal product development is an expensive, higlh lengthy, complicated, resource
intensive process. In order to conduct the devegmrograms for our products, we must, among dttiegs, be able to successfully:

. Identify potential drug product candidates;
. Design and conduct appropriate laboratory, premdirénd other research;
. Submit for and receive regulatory approval tdqgren clinical studies;
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. Design and conduct appropriate preclinical andadinstudies according to good laboratory and gddcal practices and FDA
disease-specific expectations;

. Select and recruit clinical investigators;

. Select and recruit subjects for our studies;

. Collect, analyze and correctly interpret theadabm our studies;

. Submit for and receive regulatory approvalsmarketing; and

. Manufacture the drug product candidates andcgexdmponents according to cGMP.

The development program with respeeny given product will take many years and tiielay our ability to generate profits. In
addition, potential products that appear promisingarly stages of development may fail for a nunaibeeasons, including the possibility that
the products may require significant additionatitesor turn out to be unsafe, ineffective, todidiflt or expensive to develop or manufacture,
too difficult to administer or unstable. If we dotrproceed with the development of our ARIKAYCE giram in the CF or NTM indications,
certain organizations that provided funding toarssuch developmental efforts may elect to proaeitd the development of these indications.
Even if we are successful in obtaining regulatgrgraval for our product candidates, including ARIKBE, we may not obtain labeling that
permits us to market them with commercially viatle@ms because the final wording of the approvelication may be restrictive, or the
available clinical data may not provide adequatagarative data with other products. Failure to ssstully commercialize our products will
adversely affect our business, financial conditi@sults of operations and prospects.

If regulatory agencies limit our proposed CF or NTkleatment population for ARIKAYCE, our clinical sidies do not produce positi\
results or our clinical trials are delayed, or iesious side effects are identified during drug déwement, we may experience delays, incur
additional costs and ultimately be unable to commialize our product candidates in the US, Europeather countries.

Before obtaining regulatory approfaalthe sale of our product candidates, we mustiaon at our own expense, extensive preclinica
tests to demonstrate the safety of our productidatek in animals, and clinical trials to demortsttae safety and efficacy of our product
candidates in humans. Significant preclinical amichl trial delays also could shorten the patentgxtion period during which we may have
the exclusive right to commercialize our producididates. Such delays could allow our competitotsring products to market before we do
and impair our ability to commercialize our produot product candidates.

Preclinical and clinical testing igensive, difficult to design and implement and tate many years to complete. Our product
development costs have and may continue to inciéaseexperience further delays in testing or appis. A failure of one or more of our
preclinical studies or clinical trials can occuraaty stage of testing. We may experience numermfm@eseen events during, or as a result of,
preclinical testing and the clinical trial proceélkat could delay or prevent our ability to obta#gulatory approval or commercialize our proc
candidates, including:

. Our preclinical tests or clinical trials may proéutegative or inconclusive results, and we mayd#gar regulators may require
us, to conduct additional preclinical testing aniclal trials or we may abandon projects that weeet to be promising;

. Regulators or institutional review boards may préves from commencing a clinical trial or condugti clinical trial at a
prospective trial site;

. Enrollment in the clinical trials may take longkah expected or the clinical trials as designed namyallow for sufficient patie
accrual to complete enroliment of the trial;

. We may decide to limit or abandon our commercialettgoment program;
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. Conditions imposed on us by the FDA or any non-egufatory authority regarding the scope or desfgvuo clinical trials may
require us to collect and submit information toulegory authorities, ethics committees, institutibreview boards or others for
review and approval,

. The number of patients required for our clinicals may be larger than we anticipate or participamay drop out of our clinic
trials at a higher rate than we anticipate;
. Our third party contractors, contract reseanganizations, which we refer to as CROSs, clinio&kistigators, clinical

laboratories, product supplier or inhalation devdopplier may fail to comply with regulatory reqeinents or fail to meet their
contractual obligations to us in a timely manner;

. We may have to suspend or terminate one or wiooear clinical trials if we, the regulators or thestitutional review boards
determine that the participants are being expasedidcceptable health risks or for other reasons;

. We may not be able to claim that a product candigabvides an advantage over current standardrefarguture competitive
therapies in development because our clinical studiay not have been designed to support suchs;laim

. Regulators or institutional review boards may regjtihat we hold, suspend or terminate clinicalaede for various reasons,
including potential safety concerns or noncompléawith regulatory requirements;

. The cost of our clinical trials may be greater thananticipate;

. The supply or quality of product used in clinicadls or other materials necessary to conduct bical trials may be
insufficient or inadequate or we may not be ableetich agreements on acceptable terms with progpetintract manufacture
or CROs; and

. The effects of our product candidates may not bedtrsired effects or may include undesirable di@ets or the product

candidates may have other unexpected characteristic

For example, results from our rodeartinogenicity study showed that when rats wevergiARIKAY CE daily by inhalation for two
years, 2 of the 120 rats receiving the highest deseloped lung tumors. These rats received ARIKEYIDses that were within t-fold of
those in clinical studies (normalized on a bodyate area basis or a lung weight basis). Basetesetresults, in 2011 the FDA placed clin
holds on our phase 3 clinical trials for ARIKAYC&hich holds were lifted in 2012. Approvability @lleling of ARIKAYCE may be
negatively affected by these results. In 2013, arcluded a 9 month dog inhalation toxicity studhieTinal report from the study stated that
the lung macrophage response in dogs was simitlataseen in our previous 3 month dosing dog stadg there was no evidence of
neoplasia, squamous metaplasia or proliferativagbs

If we are required to conduct additibclinical trials or other testing of our prodweindidates beyond those that we currently
contemplate, if we are unable to successfully cetepbur clinical trials or other testing, if thesuéts of these trials or tests are not positive or
are only modestly positive or if there are safetgaerns, we may:

. Be delayed in obtaining, or may not be ablelitam, marketing approval for one or more of owdurct candidates;

. Obtain approval for indications that are nobesad as intended or entirely different than thiaglications for which we sought
approval; or

. Have the product removed from the market aftéaining marketing approval.

We may not have, or may be unable to obtain, suéfit quantities of our product candidates to meetraequired supply for clinical studies
or commercialization requirements.

We do not have any in-house manufagjucapability other than for development and elterization and depend completely on a
small number of third-party manufacturers and sigppl
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for the manufacture of our product candidates olinical or commercial scale. ARIKAYCE and the néber each are supplied by a sole
manufacturer. We are dependent on Althea Techreddgr the production of ARIKAYCE. We are dependagmbn PARI for the production
and supply of the eFlow Nebulizer System. The ilitsdof a supplier to fulfill our supply requiremencould materially adversely affect our
ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approvatel future operating results. A change in theticeiahip with any supplier, or an adverse
change in their business, could materially advgratect our future operating results.

We are dependent upon PARI being &bfovide an adequate supply of nebulizers bathofir clinical trials and for commercial sale
in the event ARIKAYCE receives marketing approvidiese nebulizers must be in good working orderraadt specific performance
characteristics. We intend to work closely with RA®Rcoordinate efforts regarding regulatory requients.

We are dependent upon Althea beitg @bprovide an adequate supply of ARIKAYCE bath éur clinical trials and for commercial
sale in the event ARIKAYCE receives marketing appioAlthea currently manufactures ARIKAYCE at datevely small scale. In order to
meet potential commercial demand if ARIKAYCE is apged, we will need to work with Althea and oth&rsncrease the scale of our
manufacturing activities. We intend to work closeligh Althea to coordinate efforts regarding regoit@ requirements and our supply needs.

We do not have long-term commercggkaments with all of our suppliers, and if anyof suppliers are unable or unwilling to
perform for any reason, we may not be able to sappliers or enter into favorable agreements thigm. Any inability to acquire sufficient
guantities of our components in a timely mannemftbese third parties could delay clinical triatscommercialization and prevent us from
developing and distributing our products in a aefééctive manner or on a timely basis.

In addition, manufacturers of our gaments are subject to cGMP and similar standardsve do not have control over compliance
with these regulations by our manufacturers. If oheur contract manufacturers fails to maintaimptiance, the production of our products
could be interrupted, resulting in delays and aoldétl costs. In addition, if the facilities of sustfanufacturers do not pass a pre-approval or
post-approval plant inspection, the FDA, as welbter regulatory authorities in jurisdictions adésthe US, will not grant approval and may
institute restrictions on the marketing or sal®af products. We are reliant on third-party manufears and suppliers to meet our clinical
supply demands and any future commercial prodetkays in receipt of materials, scheduling, releasstom's control and regulatory
compliance issues may adversely impact our alidifyitiate, maintain or complete clinical trialsat we are sponsoring or may adversely
impact commercialization. Commercial manufactumgl supply agreements have not been establisksegslarising from scale-up, facility
construction, environmental controls, equipmentiieaments, local and federal permits and allowancesther factors may have an adverse
impact on our ability to manufacture our produatdidates.

We have limited experience in conducting and managithe preclinical development activities and cliail trials necessary to obtain
regulatory approvals, including approval by the FDand EMA and other regulatory agencies.

We have limited experience in condurtind managing the preclinical development aisiand clinical trials necessary to obtain
regulatory approvals, including approval by the Fa#d EMA. Since our merger with Transave, we hatecompleted a regulatory filing for,
obtained regulatory approval of or commercializey af our product candidates. Our limited expergndght prevent us from successfully
designing, implementing, or completing a clinigélt We have limited experience in
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conducting and managing the application procesessaey to obtain regulatory approvals and we mighbe able to demonstrate that our
product candidates meet the appropriate standarasdulatory approval. If we are not successfidanducting and managing our preclinical
development activities or clinical trials or obtiaig regulatory approvals, we might not be abledmmercialize ARIKAYCE, or might be
significantly delayed in doing so, which may mad#lyi harm our business.

We may not be able to enroll enough patients to gbete our clinical trials.

The completion rate of future clidistudies of our products is dependent on, amohgrdactors, the patient enrollment rate. Patient
enrollment is a function of many factors, including

. Investigator identification and recruitment;

. Regulatory approvals to initiate study sites;

. Patient population size;

. The nature of the protocol to be used in the trial;

. Patient proximity to clinical sites;

. Eligibility criteria for the study;

. The patients' willingness to participate in stedy;

. Competition from other companies' clinical seglfor the same patient population; and
. Ability to obtain any necessary comparator drugnedical device.

We believe our procedures for enngllpatients to date have been appropriate. Howdeays in patient enroliment for future clini
trials could increase costs and delay ultimate censialization and sales, if any, of our products.

The commercial success of ARIKAYCE or any other guzt candidates that we may develop will dependrupmany factors, including the
degree of market acceptance by physicians, patiethisd-party payors and others in the medical cormnity.

Even if we are able to successfullynplete development of, obtain regulatory appréealand bring ARIKAYCE to market,
ARIKAYCE may not gain market acceptance by physisjgatients, third-party payors and others imtleelical community. If ARIKAYCE,
or any other products we bring to market, do nbieae an adequate level of acceptance, we mayamargte significant product revenue and
we may not become profitable. The degree of ma&e¢ptance of ARIKAYCE and any other product caatdig, if approved for commercial
sale, will depend on a number of factors, including

. The prevalence and severity of any side effectduding any limitations or warnings contained ipraduct's approved labeling;

. The efficacy and potential advantages over mdtive treatments;

. The pricing of our product candidates;

. Relative convenience and ease of administration;

. The willingness of the target patient populatiotryonew therapies and of physicians to presciilese therapies;

. The strength of marketing and distribution suppod timing of market introduction of competitiveoducts;

. Publicity concerning our products or competing pictd and treatments, including competing produet®ing subject to
generic pricing; and

. Sufficient third party insurance coverage or reinsement.
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Even if a potential product displa/avorable efficacy and safety profile in predadiand clinical trials, market acceptance of the
product will not be known until after it is launachg-or example, if a clinical trial is not desigrtecdemonstrate advantages over alternative
treatments, we may be prohibited from promotingeduct candidates on any such advantages. Qantefé educate the medical commui
and third-party payors on the benefits of our pmiaandidates may require significant resourcesnaal never be successful. Such efforts to
educate the marketplace may require more resotivaasare required by more established technologaketed by our competitors.

We currently have a very small marketing or salaganization, and we have limited experience as angany in marketing drug products.
we are unable to establish our own marketing andesacapabilities, or are unable to enter into agneents with third parties, to market and
sell our products after they are approved, we may be able to generate product revenu

We have a very small commercial orgation for the marketing, sales and distributiémoy drug products. In order to commercia
ARIKAYCE or any other product candidates, we mustalop these capabilities on our own or make agaremts with third parties for the
marketing, sales and distribution of our produ€te establishment and development of our own $ates would be expensive and time
consuming and could delay any product launch, aadannot be certain that we would be able to sstulysdevelop this capability. As a
result, we may seek one or more partners to hamie or all of the sales and marketing of ARIKAYGtowever, we may not be able to er
into arrangements with third parties to sell ARIKBE on favorable terms or at all. In the event welarable to develop our own marketing
and sales force or collaborate with a third-pargrketing and sales organization, we may not be tatdeiccessfully commercialize
ARIKAYCE or any other product candidates that weedep, which would adversely affect our abilitygenerate product revenues. Further,
whether we commercialize products on our own or ol a third party to do so, our ability to generagvenue will be dependent on the
effectiveness of the sales force.

Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties

We rely on third parties including clinical reseahcorganizations, or CROs, for many services. If we unable to form and sustain these
relationships, or if any third-party arrangementsiat we may enter into are unsuccessful, our abilitydevelop and commercialize our
products may be materially adversely affect

We currently rely, and expect thatwik in the future continue to rely, on third pia for significant research, analytical services,
preclinical development and clinical developmeimt: &xample, almost all of our clinical trial work done by CROs and clinical laboratories.
Reliance on these third parties poses a humbéskd, including the following:

. We may face significant competition in seeking ayppiate partners;

. These arrangements are complex and time consumimggbtiate, document and implement;

. We may not be successful in our efforts to estaldisd implement collaborations or other alternasisrangements that we mi
pursue on favorable terms;

. We may not be able to effectively control whethrer CROs or other third parties will devote suffitieesources to our progra
or products;

. We are not able to control the regulatory compkaotCROSs, third-party suppliers, contractors apithborators;

. Disagreements with third parties and CROs magfiffieult to resolve and could result in a dispoteer and loss of intellectual

property rights, delay or termination of the resbadevelopment, or commercialization of productdidates or result in
litigation or arbitration;
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. Contracts with our collaborators may fail to pravghfficient protection of our intellectual properand
. We may have difficulty enforcing the contractsiifeoof these collaborators fails to perform.

A great deal of uncertainty existgareling the success of any current and future-{bardy efforts on which we might depend. Failure
of these efforts could delay, impair, or prevemt development and commercialization of our prodantsadversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations and pegs.

We rely on PARI, a third party manufacturer, to sply the nebulizer that is exclusively used for ARMCE. Any disruption in supply of th
nebulizer will have a material adverse effect onrdausiness.

We are dependent upon PARI being ebpgovide an adequate supply of nebulizers bottodir clinical trials and for commercial sale
in the event ARIKAYCE receives marketing approvidiese nebulizers must be in good working order tsgecific performance
characteristics and be approved by FDA and otlerlagory agencies along with ARIKAYCE. We have tieative supplier for the nebuliz
and we do not intend to seek an alternative orredamy supplier of nebulizers. Significant effortdaime were expended in the optimization of
the nebulizer for use with ARIKAYCE. In the everARI cannot provide devices replication of the optied device by another party may
require considerable time and additional regulatggroval. We do not have a long-term supply agesgmwith PARI. PARI has the right to
terminate this agreement upon written notice faruncured material breach, if we are the subjespetified bankruptcy or liquidation events,
if we assign or otherwise transfer the agreemeatttord party that does not agree to assume allipfights and obligations set forth in the
agreement, or if we fail to reach certain specifigitestones, including the requirement that weasamercially reasonable efforts to develop,
commercialize, market, and sell ARIKAYCE for useGf indications in one or more countries (and astién the US). In the event PARI
terminates the supply agreement and ceases to awntd the nebulizer, we cannot be certain thaveudld be able identify another willing
supplier for the nebulizer on terms we require.igkuption in the supply of nebulizers could delaypair, or prevent the development and
commercialization of our products and adverselgatfour business, financial condition, resultspémrations and prospects.

We rely on Althea, a third party manufacturer, taigply ARIKAYCE. Any disruption in the supply of ARIAYCE could have a material
adverse effect on our business.

We are dependent upon Althea being tbprovide an adequate supply of ARIKAYCE bath éur clinical trials and for commercial
sale in the event ARIKAYCE receives marketing apptoWe do not have a long term supply agreemettt Mihea and are currently
negotiating with Althea to extend the manufacturdRIKAYCE at Althea beyond July 2014. There canrtmeassurance that we will enter into
an agreement to extend the manufacture or thatilverter into an agreement on terms favorablestolin 2013, Althea was acquired by
Ajinomoto Co., a global manufacturing company basethpan and now operates as Ajinomoto Althea, Inc

Althea currently manufactures ARIKAEGt a relatively small scale. In order to meeeptal commercial demand, if ARIKAYCE is
approved, we have identified Therapure in Canadmadternate site of manufacture that operatadager scale. Therapure may not be able
to successfully transfer the ARIKAYCE manufacturprgcess to their site, or we may not be able tainlregulatory approvals for
ARIKAYCE produced at Therapure's facility. We magt be able to secure an alternative source of ARIKE at an adequate scale of
production.
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We currently depend on third parties to conduct thperations of our clinical trials.

We rely on third parties, such as GR@edical institutions, clinical investigators arahtract laboratories to oversee some of the
operations of our clinical trials and to performadeollection and analysis. As a result, we mayx fagditional delays outside of our control if
these parties do not perform their obligations tmreely fashion or in accordance with regulatorgiuigements. If these third parties do not
successfully carry out their contractual dutieslaigations and meet expected deadlines, if theg e be replaced, or if the quality or
accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compe®d due to the failure to adhere to our clinpratocols or for other reasons, our financial
results and the commercial prospects for ARIKAYGBor other potential product candidates could la¢enmally harmed, our costs could
increase and our ability to obtain regulatory appf@nd commence product sales could be delayed.

Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Capitd Requirements

We have a history of operating losses. We expeat¢ar operating losses for the foreseeable futiaad may never achieve or maintain
profitability.

We are a biopharmaceutical compacyded on developing and commercializing inhaledathies for patients battling serious lung
diseases that are often life threatening. We haswried losses each previous year of our operagixagpt in 2009, when we sold our
manufacturing facility and certain other assetslarck. We expect to continue incurring operatingskes for the foreseeable future. The pra
of developing and commercializing our products meggusignificant pre-clinical and clinical testiag well as regulatory approvals for
commercialization and marketing before we are atidwo begin product sales. In addition, commezadion of our drug candidates likely
would require us to establish a sales and marketiggnization and contractual relationships to empboduct manufacturing and other related
activities. We expect that our activities, togetivith our general and administrative expenses, aoifitinue to result in substantial operating
losses for the foreseeable future. As of DecemibeP@13, our accumulated deficit was $391.6 milliear the year ended December 31, 2013
our consolidated net loss was $56.1 million.

To achieve and maintain profitabilitye need to generate significant revenues frooréuproduct sales. This will require us to be
successful in a range of challenging activities|uding:

. Successfully completing development of and obtgimégulatory approval for the marketing of ARIKAYGiad possibly other
product candidates which have yet to be developddadich would also require marketing approval,

. Commercializing ARIKAYCE and any other product catades for which we obtain marketing approval; and

. Achieving market acceptance and reimbursement dKARCE and any other product candidates for whiaoh ebtain

marketing approval in the medical community anchvaiatients and third-party payors.

ARIKAYCE will require marketing appral and significant investment in commercial capads, including manufacturing and sales
and marketing efforts, before its product salesgmmerate any revenues for us. Because of the ousesks and uncertainties associated witl
drug development and commercialization, we are lenabpredict the extent of any future losses. Way mever successfully commercialize
ARIKAYCE or any other products, generate significAriure revenues or achieve and sustain profitgbil
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We expect that we will need additional funds in theure to continue our operations, but we face wtainties with respect to our ability to
access capital.

Our operations have consumed suhatamounts of cash since our inception. We exfmecbntinue to incur substantial research anc
development expenses, and we expect to expendastibtfinancial resources to complete developneérgeek regulatory approval for, and
prepare for commercialization of ARIKAYCE. We magead to seek additional funding in order to compéete clinical trials related to
ARIKAYCE, seek regulatory approvals of ARIKAYCE, deommercially launch ARIKAYCE. We also may requadditional future capital |
order to continue our other research and developawivities or to acquire complementary technolofyy of December 31, 2013, we had
$113.9 million of cash and cash equivalents anertficate of deposit on hand. If adequate fundsrent available to us when needed, we may
be required to reduce or eliminate research andldpment programs or commercial efforts.

Our future capital requirements w#pend on many factors, including factors assatiaith:

. Phase 2 and phase 3 clinical trials and comrmalization of ARIKAYCE;
. Non-clinical and clinical testing;

. Process development and scale up for manufacturing;

. Manufacturing;

. Performance of our third-party suppliers and ufacturers;

. Obtaining marketing, sales and distribution d¢dlftées;

. Obtaining regulatory approvals;

. Research and development, including formulatiorettgpment;

. Retaining employees and consultants;

. Filing and prosecuting patent applications and eirig patent claims;

. Establishing strategic alliances and collaboratiwith third-parties; and
. Current and potential future litigation.

We also may need to spend more ftimals currently expected because we may furthergghanalter drug development plans, acc
additional drugs or drug candidates or we may rdigguour costs. As of December 31, 2013, we hadnuoritted sources of capital and do
know whether additional financing will be availabiben needed, or, if available, that the terms lélfavorable. We cannot assure that our
cash reserves together with any subsequent fundihbe sufficient for our capital requirements. &failure to satisfy our capital requirements
will adversely affect our business, financial cdiudl, results of operations and prospects.

We may seek additional funding thiostrategic alliances, private or public saleswfsecurities, debt financing or licensing all or a
portion of our technology or through other meangisfunding may significantly dilute existing shlaoéders, subject us to contractual
restrictions such as operating or financial covémanlimit our rights to our technology.

We currently have no meaningful source of revenue.

In 2013, we generated other revenaim the modification of a previously granted licers our IPLEX technology. In 2012, we
generated no revenue. In 2011, we generated re¥mmeur expanded access program, or EAP, anlicémse of certain technology to a tt
party. Unless we can execute one or more revemexging transactions or successfully obtain regoyaapproval for and commercialize
ARIKAYCE, we will have no material sources of optamg revenue. We expect to continue to incur sutithadditional operating losses for
least the next several years as we continue tdaleand seek to commercialize ARIKAYCE.
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If we are not successful in our efforts to evalugpetential future IPLEX initiatives and to identifyand engage in possible c- licensing
opportunities for IPLEX, we may not derive any futel revenues from IPLEX.

IPLEX is no longer a development gtjofor us. We no longer have protein developnmagability or the in-house capability to
manufacture IPLEX. Accordingly, we continue to exsk possible out-licensing opportunities for IPLEXe may have difficulty identifying
possible markets and prospective partners forioeti$ing. Even if we are able to enter into ougtliging arrangements, we may not derive an
revenue from those arrangements.

Our loan agreement with Hercules Technology Grow@apital, Inc. ("Hercules") contains covenants thampose restrictions on our
operations that may adversely affect our abilitydptimally operate our business or to maximize sklaolder value.

Our loan agreement with Hercules amrs various restrictive covenants, including iegtms on our ability to incur additional debt,
transfer or place a lien or security interest onassets, including our intellectual property, neength or acquire other companies, redeem or
repurchase any shares of our capital stock or psly dividends to our stockholders. The Loan Agregrakso contains certain other covenants
(including limitations on other indebtedness, lieasquisitions, investments and dividends), anchisvef default (including payment defaults,
breaches of covenants following any applicable pemod, a material impairment in the perfectiorpdority of the lender's security interest or
in the collateral, and events relating to bankrymicinsolvency). Upon the occurrence of an evémlefault, a default interest rate of an
additional 5% may be applied to the outstanding loalances, and the lender may terminate its Ilgnchmmitment, declare all outstanding
obligations immediately due and payable, and takh sther actions as set forth in the Loan Agre@nieraddition, pursuant to the Loan
Agreement, the lender has the right to participatean amount of up to $1.0 million, in certaindte private equity financing(s). Our
borrowings under the Loan Agreement are secureall®n on our assets, excluding our intellectuapprty, and in the event of a default on
loan, the lender may have the right to seize osetassecuring our obligations under the Loan AgerenThe terms and restrictions provided
for in the Loan Agreement may inhibit our ability¢onduct our business and to provide distributtonsur stockholders. Future debt securitie:
or other financing arrangements could contain negabvenants similar to, or even more restricthen, the Hercules loan.

In process research and development (IPRD) currgrtbmprises approximately 33% of our total assétseduction in the value of ou
IPRD could impact our results of operation

As a result of the merger with Traresae recorded an intangible IPRD asset of $7718omiand goodwill of $6.9 million on our
balance sheet. As a result of our clinical holdeamted in late 2011 we recorded a charge of $2@l@min the fourth quarter of 2011 and
reduced the value of IPRD to $58.2 million and etigoodwill to zero. Other potential future adtes or results could result in additional
write-downs of IPRD, which would adversely affeatr oesults of operations.

We may be unable to use our net operating losses.

We have substantial tax loss carrwérds for US federal income tax purposes. We belaur ability to use certain carry forwards to
offset future income or tax liability will be limetd under section 382 of the Internal Revenue C6d8&6, as amended. Changes in the
ownership of our stock, including those resultinanf the issuance of shares of our common stock egerctise of outstanding warrants or
options, will limit or eliminate our ability to useertain net operating losses.
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Risks Related to Regulatory Matters

We may not be able to obtain regulatory approvais ARIKAYCE or any other products we develop in this, Europe or other countries. If
we fail to obtain such approvals, we will not belatto commercialize our products.

We are required to obtain variousutatpry approvals prior to studying our producthitmans and then again before we market and
distribute our products. The regulatory review apgroval processes in both the US and Europe egualuation of preclinical studies and
clinical studies, as well as the evaluation of mamufacturing process. These processes are contgabethy, expensive, resource intensive an
uncertain. Securing regulatory approval to marketpyoducts requires the submission of much motensive preclinical and clinical data,
manufacturing information regarding the processfawdity, scientific data characterizing our pr@tand other supporting data to the
regulatory authorities in order to establish itteegaand effectiveness. This process also is comdagthy, expensive, resource intensive and
uncertain. We have limited experience in submitang pursuing applications necessary to gain treggdatory approvals.

Data submitted to the regulatoraulgject to varying interpretations that could delayjt or prevent regulatory agency approval. We
may also encounter delays or rejections based angas in regulatory agency policies during theqekin which we develop a product and the
period required for review of any application fegulatory agency approval of a particular product.

Delays in obtaining regulatory ageapprovals could adversely affect the developmedtraarketing of any drugs that we or any
third parties develop. Resolving such delays cémide us or third parties to incur significant agstould limit our allowed activities or the
allowed activities of third parties, could diminiahy competitive advantages that we or our thirtigmmay attain or could adversely affect
ability to receive royalties, any of which could texdally adversely affect our business, financiahdition, results of operations or prospects.

To market our products outside ofltt®and, Europe, we and any potential third partiast comply with numerous and varying
regulatory requirements of other countries. Theaygd procedures vary among countries and can vevatiditional product testing and
administrative review periods. The time requireaibtain approval in these other territories migffed from that required to obtain FDA or
EMA approval. The regulatory approval process gsthother territories includes at least all ofrthles associated with obtaining FDA and
EMA approval detailed above.

Approval by the FDA or the EMA doest ensure approval by the regulatory authoritiestbér countries. Marketing approval in one
country does not ensure marketing approval in arothut a failure or delay in obtaining marketiqgpeoval in one country may have a
negative effect on the regulatory process in otHaraddition, we may be subject to fines, suspgensr withdrawal of marketing approvals,
product recalls, seizure of products, operatingric@®ns and criminal prosecution if we fail toroply with applicable US and foreign
regulatory requirements. If we fail to comply wittgulatory requirements or to obtain and maintaguired approvals, our target market may
be reduced and our ability to realize the full nedotential of our product candidates may be hdribe failure to obtain such approvals r
materially adversely affect our business, financaidition, results of operations and our prospects
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There is little or no precedent for clinical devgdment and regulatory expectations for agents tcatr®&NTM; as a result we may encounter
challenges developing clinical endpoints that wiltimately be satisfactory to regulators, and magead to reevaluate our surrogate
endpoints at various points in time.

FDA may base accelerated approvatifags for serious conditions that fill an unmetdical need on whether the drug has an effect
on a surrogate or an intermediate clinical endp@ititer than survival or irreversible morbidity DA regulations referred to as "Subpart H—
Accelerated Approval of New Drugs for Serious diekThreatening llinesses" describe the potentialafssurrogate endpoints. A surrogate
endpoint used for accelerated approval is a markegaboratory measurement, radiographic image, palsign or other measure that is
thought to predict clinical benefit, but is noteitisa measure of clinical benefit. Likewise, areimediate clinical endpoint is a measure of a
therapeutic effect that is considered reasonakéhito predict the clinical benefit of a drug, Buas an effect on irreversible morbidity and
mortality. The FDA bases its decision on whetheadoept the proposed surrogate or intermediatealiendpoint on the scientific support for
that endpoint. Studies that demonstrate a drufigstasn a surrogate or intermediate clinical endpoiust be "adequate and well controlled” as
required by the FD&C Act.

If a drug is approved based on acgiate endpoint under Subpart H the approval wikldgect to the requirement that the applicant
study the drug further, to verify and describeclisical benefit, where there is uncertainty ash relation of the surrogate endpoint to clinical
benefit, or of the observed clinical benefit tarmkte outcome. Postmarketing studies would usueglgtudies already underway. When
required to be conducted, such studies must alsalégquate and well-controlled. The applicant steaify out any such studies with due
diligence.

For ARIKAYCE to be successfully developed and comoraized, in addition to regulatory approvals regad for ARIKAYCE, the eFlow
nebulizer system must satisfy certain regulatorgiurements and its use as a delivery system for KRYCE must be approved for use in
any market in which we intend to commercialize ARM CE.

Although the optimized eFlow Nebuliystem is CE marked by PARI outside of North Aigeerwithin North America it is labeled
as investigational for use in our clinical triatsthe US and Canada. The optimized eFlow Nebu8zstem is not approved for commercial use
in the US, Canada or certain other markets in whielmay choose to commercialize ARIKAYCE if apprdv&he eFlow Nebulizer System
must receive regulatory approval before we can stakARIKAYCE. We will continue to work closely witRARI to coordinate efforts
regarding regulatory requirements, including owpased filings for a drug and device.

Even if we obtain marketing approval for ARIKAYCE @ny of our other product candidates, we will comiie to face extensive regulato
requirements and our products may face future dexghent and regulatory difficulties.

Even if marketing approval in the I9®btained, the FDA may still impose significaestrictions on a product's indicated uses or
marketing, including risk evaluation and mitigatistnategies, or may impose ongoing requirementisspincluding with respect to:

. Labeling, such as black box or other warningsantraindications;

. Post-market surveillance, post-market studigsost-market clinical trials;

. Packaging, storage, distribution, safety survedégradvertising, promotion, recordkeeping and reémpof safety and other post-
market information;

. Monitoring and reporting adverse events andamsts of the failure of a product to meet the $jpations in the NDA,;
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. Changes to the approved product, product labelimganufacturing process;
. Advertising and other promotional material; and
. Disclosure of clinical trial results on publichvailable databases.

In addition, the third-party manuiaers of our products and their facilities are altibe subject to continual review and periodic
inspections by the FDA and other regulatory autheswi The distribution, sale and marketing of owrducts are subject to a number of
additional requirements, including:

. State wholesale drug distribution laws and tis¢ribution of our product samples to physiciansstmeomply with the
requirements of the Prescription Drug Marketing;Act
. Sales, marketing and scientific or educatiomahgprograms must comply with the anti-kickbacll #taud and abuse provisions

of the Social Security Act, the transparency prioviof the Patient Protection and Affordable Cact &nd an associated
reconciliation bill that became law in March 20%hich we refer to collectively as the Health Caefd®m Law, federal and
state patient privacy laws, the False Claims Act similar state laws; and

. Pricing and rebate programs must comply with thelikbad rebate requirements of the Omnibus BudgebRaeiliation Act of
1990 and the Veteran's Health Care Act of 1992 ifgmebducts are made available to authorized usktise Federal Supply
Schedule of the General Services Administratiodjtaxhal laws and requirements apply.

All of these activities also may hiject to federal and state consumer protectionuafigir competition laws.

We also are subject to changes asims to these laws and regulations that may nyak@ng regulatory approval, reimbursement
and pricing more difficult or at least subject iffatent criteria and standards.

If we or any third party involved @ur manufacturing or commercialization efforts tailcomply with applicable regulatory
requirements, a regulatory agency may:

. Issue warning letters or untitled letters assertivag we are in violation of the law;

. Seek an injunction or impose civil or criminal pkies or monetary fines;

. Suspend or withdraw marketing approval;

. Suspend any ongoing clinical trials;

. Refuse to approve pending applications or supefds to applications submitted by us;

. Suspend or impose restrictions on operatiordudting costly new manufacturing requirements;

. Seize or detain products, refuse to permit the itngoexport of products, or require us to initiatproduct recall;
. Refuse to allow us to enter into supply contraiciduding government contracts;

. Impose civil monetary penalties; or

. Pursue civil or criminal prosecutions and finesiagaour company or responsible officers.

Any government investigation of akegviolations of law could require us to expendsigant time and resources in response, and
could generate negative publicity. The occurrerf@ng event or penalty described above may inlibitability to commercialize our product
candidates and generate revenues.
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Even if we obtain marketing approval for ARIKAYCE @ny of our other product candidates, adverse effediscovered after approval cot
limit the commercial profile of any approved produc

If we obtain marketing approval foREKKAYCE or any other product candidate that we depesuch products will be used by a large
number of patients and for longer periods of titmntthey were used in clinical trials. For thesesoms or other reasons, we or others may lat
discover that our products have adverse effecilpsathat limit their usefulness or require theithdrawal. This discovery could have a nurr
of potentially significant negative consequencasluding:

. Regulatory authorities may withdraw their apgabooef the product;

. Regulatory authorities may require the additétabeling statements, such as black box or otfegnings or contraindications;

. Regulatory authorities may require us to isqeesic communications to healthcare professiorglsh as "Dear Doctor
Letters;"

. Regulatory authorities may impose additionatrieions on marketing and distribution of the puotk;

. Regulatory authorities may issue negative publigtyarding the product, including safety commundces;

. We may be required to change the way the prodwdnsinistered, conduct additional clinical studiesestrict the distribution
of the product;

. We could be sued and held liable for harm causadltgects;

. We could be subject to negative publicity; and

. Our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevenfros maintaining market acceptance of the affegi@diuct, could cause substantial reduction of
sales, could substantially increase the costs mfeercializing our product candidates, and couldseaignificant financial losses.

If we are unable to obtain adequate reimbursemertdri governments or thir-party payors for ARIKAYCE or any other productsahwe
may develop or if we are unable to obtain accepgaptices for those products, our prospects for gettimg revenue and achieving
profitability may be materially adversely affecte

Our prospects for generating reveamgt achieving profitability depend heavily upon éwailability of adequate reimbursement for
use of our approved product candidates from govemtah and other thirgarty payors, both in the US and in other marke&mbursement b
a third party payor may depend upon a number abfacincluding the third party payor's determioatthat use of a product is:

. A covered benefit under its health plan;
. Safe, effective and medically necessary;
. Appropriate for the specific patient;

. Cost-effective; and

. Neither experimental nor investigational.

Obtaining reimbursement approvald@roduct from each government or other third-ppayor is a time consuming and costly
process that could require us to provide supposaigntific, clinical and cost effectiveness datathe use of our products to each payor. We
may not be able to provide data sufficient to gaineptance with respect to reimbursement or wetmiggd to conduct post-marketing studies
in order to demonstrate the cost-effectivenessipffature products to such payors' satisfactiorchSttudies might require us to commit a
significant amount of management time and finanaa other resources. Even when a payor deterrtiiaésa product is eligible for
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reimbursement, the payor may impose coverage liimitsithat preclude payment for some uses thagpeoved by the FDA or non-US
regulatory authorities. In addition, there is & tisat full reimbursement may not be availableHiyh priced products. Moreover, eligibility for
coverage does not imply that any product will ientrirsed in all cases or at a rate that allowousadke a profit or even cover our costs.
Interim payments for new products, if applicablepanay not be sufficient to cover our costs angt mat be made permanent. Subsequent
approvals of competitive products could result setrimental change to the reimbursement of oudyets.

There is a significant focus in th8 bealthcare industry and elsewhere on cost can&ih We expect changes in the Medicare
program and state Medicaid programs, as well asagethcare organizations and other third-party agmcontinue to put pressure on
pharmaceutical product pricing. In the United Statee Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, Biodlernization Act of 2003, or the
MMA, changed the way Medicare covers and pays fiarmaceutical products. The legislation expandedidéee coverage for drug purcha
by the elderly and introduced a new reimbursemezthodology based on average sales prices for diugsldition, this legislation authorized
Medicare Part D prescription drug plans to use fdames where they can limit the number of drugt thill be covered in any therapeutic
class. As a result of this legislation and the esjan of federal coverage of drug products, we ekffat there will be additional pressure to
contain and reduce costs. These cost reductiaatinés and other provisions of this legislatiomicbdecrease the coverage and price that we
receive for any approved products and could selsidveem our business. Although the MMA applies otdydrug benefits for Medicare
beneficiaries, private payors often follow Medicaterage policy and payment limitations when sgttheir own reimbursement rates, and
any reimbursement reduction resulting from the MiAy result in a similar reduction in payments frprivate payors.

In March 2010, the Patient Protectod Affordable Care Act, or PPACA, which was irtted to broaden access to health insurance
constrain and reduce the growth of healthcare spgndnhance remedies against fraud and abuseeadtransparency requirements for
healthcare and health insurance industries, impegetaxes and fees on the health industry and ienpdditional health policy reforms, was
passed into law. Effective in October 2010, the ERAevised the definition of "average manufactymece" for reporting purposes, which
could increase the amount of Medicaid drug reb@mtesates. Further, beginning in 2011, the newitaposed a significant annual fee on
companies that manufacture or import branded ppggar drug products. We do not know the full effethat the PPACA will have on our
commercialization efforts. Although it is too eattydetermine the effect of the PPACA, we beliavs likely that the law will continue the
pressure on pharmaceutical pricing, especially utitdeMedicare program, and also may increaseegulatory burdens and operating cost
one or more of our product candidates reaches coomtization, such changes may have a significaapiaict on our ability to set a price we
believe is fair for our products and may adversdfgct our ability to generate revenue and ach@vmaintain profitability. We expect further
federal and state proposals and health care refric@ntinue to be proposed by legislators, whizhid limit the prices that can be charged fol
the products we develop and may limit our commég@ortunity.

Moreover, in markets outside the W8luding Japan, Canada and the countries in thepEting of pharmaceutical products is
subject to governmental control. Evaluation créarsed by many EU government agencies for the pagof pricing and reimbursement
typically focus on a product's degree of innovatoi its ability to meet a clinical need unfulfdl®y currently available therapies. The PPA
created a similar entity, the Patient-Centered @utes Research Institute (PCORI) designed to retheveffectiveness of treatments and
medications in federallfinded health care programs. The PCORI begarrdtsrésearch initiatives recently, and an advegsalt may result i
a
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treatment or product being removed from MedicarMedicare coverage. The decisions of such govertahagencies could affect our ability
to sell our products profitably.

Government health care reform could increase ourst® and could adversely affect our revenue andufessof operations.

Our industry is highly regulated aféhnges in law may adversely impact our busingssations or financial results. Substantial new
requirements affecting compliance were enactedhetsop PPACA, which may require us to modify ousimess practices with health care
practitioners. For example, drug manufacturergegeired to report information on payments or tfarssof value to physicians and teaching
hospitals as well as investment interests heldHygigians and their immediate family members dutirgpreceding calendar year. Failure to
submit required information may result in civil medary penalties. The reported data will be postezkarchable form on a public website
beginning September 30, 2014.

The reforms imposed by the new laW significantly impact the pharmaceutical industmpwever, the full effects cannot be known
until these provisions are implemented and CMSathdr federal and state agencies issue applicabidations or guidance. Moreover, in the
coming years, additional changes could be madevergmental healthcare programs that could sigmifly impact the success of our prodi
or product candidates. We will continue to evaluheePPACA, as amended, the implementation of egiguis or guidance related to various
provisions of the PPACA by federal agencies, as agtrends and changes that may be encouragéebgdislation and that may potentially
have an impact on our business over time. Theafastplementing more detailed record keeping systamd otherwise complying with these
requirements could substantially increase our costs

We will need approval from the FDA and other regtibety authorities in jurisdictions outside the US f@ur proposed trade names. Any
failure or delay associated with such approvals ndstay the commercialization of our product

Any trade name we intend to use farproduct candidates will require approval frora BDA regardless of whether we have secure
a formal trademark registration from the US Patemt Trademark Office, or PTO. The FDA typically dants a rigorous review of proposed
trade names, including an evaluation of potentintbnfusion with other trade names and medicatioor. The FDA also may object to a trade
name if it believes the name is inappropriatelynpotional. The FDA approved our use of the name ARYICE as our proposed trade name
our liposomal amikacin for inhalation product catate. Even after the FDA approves a trade naméd;Bi#emay request that we adopt an
alternative name for the product if adverse eveports indicate a potential for confusion with ottrade names and medication error. If we ar
required to adopt an alternative name, the commalization of ARIKAYCE could be delayed or interrept which would limit our ability to
commercialize ARIKAYCE and generate revenues. laddeber 2012, we learned that the EMA had no olgedt our request to use the
names ARIKACE or ARIKAYCE.

Our growth depends on technologies that may notlvailable on terms acceptable to us or at all.

As part of our business strategy ey in-license new products and technologies. Nmtess, we cannot assure you that we will
identify suitable products or enter into such leemgreements on acceptable terms. Upfront cashgudy for in-licensed products and
technologies will decrease our cash balances aydatelerate the need to raise additional capital.

We may enter into collaborative rielaships that would involve our collaborators coctihg proprietary development programs. Any
conflict with our collaborators could limit our &by to obtain
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future collaboration agreements and negatively@rite our relationship with existing collaborat@sagreements with collaborators may «
develop over the rights to our intellectual propert

Certain of our collaborators coulddodecome competitors of ours. Our collaboratordaharm our product development and
commercialization efforts by:

. Developing competing products;

. Precluding us from entering into collaborationshvitieir competitors;

. Failing to obtain regulatory approvals;

. Terminating their agreements with us prematyrety

. Failing to devote sufficient resources to theedlepment and commercialization of products.

If we are found in violation of federal or state tAud and abuse" laws, we may be required to payemaity or may be suspended frc
participation in federal or state health care progms, which may adversely affect our business, fingh condition and results of operation

In the United States, we are sult@efarious federal and state health care "fraudamsse” laws, including anti-kickback laws, false
claims laws and other laws intended to reduce femelabuse in federal and state health care pregreine federal Anti-Kickback Statute
makes it illegal for any person, including a prgg@wn drug manufacturer or a party acting on gbalf, to knowingly and willfully solicit,
receive, offer or pay any remuneration that isrid&l to induce the referral of business, includirggpurchase, order or prescription of a
particular drug for which payment may be made urdiederal health care program, such as Medicakedicaid. Under federal government
regulations, some arrangements, known as safe isadoe deemed not to violate the federal Anti-Kiék Statute. Although we seek to
structure our business arrangements in compliartteali applicable requirements, these laws aradisowritten, and it is often difficult to
determine precisely how the law will be appliegpecific circumstances. Accordingly, it is possithlat our practices may be challenged unde
the federal Anti-Kickback Statute. False claimsdgwohibit anyone from knowingly and willfully pressting or causing to be presented for
payment to thirdparty payors, including government payors, claiorséimbursed drugs or services that are falseanidiulent, claims for iten
or services that were not provided as claimed]ams for medically unnecessary items or servi€Geses have been brought under false cl
laws alleging that off-label promotion of pharmaiieal products or the provision of kickbacks hasseal health care providers to submit false
claims to governmental health care programs whey pinescribe drugs or fill prescriptions for ofty purposes. Under the Health Insurance
Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, we greohibited from knowingly and willfully executingscheme to defraud any health care
benefit program, including private payors, or knegly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covery up a material fact or making any
materially false, fictitious or fraudulent staterh@nconnection with the delivery of or payment faalth care benefits, items or services.
Violations of fraud and abuse laws may be punighalglcriminal and/or civil sanctions, includingdmor exclusion or suspension from federa
and state health care programs such as Medicar®aditaid and debarment from contracting with th&.W4overnment. In addition, private
individuals have the ability to bring actions orhbE of the government under the federal Falsen@ahct as well as under the false claims
laws of several states.

Many states have adopted laws sinildhe federal antickback statute, some of which apply to the refleof patients for health ca
services reimbursed by any source, not just goventah payors. In addition, California and a fewesthtates have passed laws that require
pharmaceutical companies to comply with the Apdid2 Office of Inspector General Compliance Progfmidance for Pharmaceutical
Manufacturers and/or the Pharmaceutical ReseatiMamufacturers of America, or PhARMA, Code on lattions with Healthcare
Professionals. Several states also impose othéetirag restrictions or require pharmaceutical conigsto make marketing or price
disclosures to
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the state. Health record privacy laws may limitesscto information identifying those individualsavimay be prospective users or prohibit
contact with any persons enrolled in Medicare odMaid. There are ambiguities as to what is regluioecomply with these state requireme
and we could be subject to penalties if a staterdenes that we have failed to comply with an aggllle state law requirement.

Neither the government nor the cohege provided definitive guidance on the applaratf fraud and abuse laws to our business.
Law enforcement authorities are increasingly foduse enforcing these laws, and it is possible sbate of our practices may be challenged
under these laws. While we believe we have stradtour business arrangements to comply with tress, lit is possible that the government
could allege violations of, or convict us of viota, these laws. If we are found in violation ofeanf these laws, we could be required to pay a
penalty and could be suspended or excluded froticymation in federal or state health care prograammsl our business, financial condition anc
results of operations may be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
If we are unable to protect our intellectual propgrrights adequately, the value of our product cadates could be diminishe(

Our success will depend in part onatility to protect proprietary technology andototain patent protection for our products, preven
third parties from infringing on our patents anfta@ from infringing on the patents of others, bbdbmestically and internationally.

In addition, the patent situatiorthie field of biotechnology and pharmaceuticals galheis highly uncertain and involves complex
legal, technical, scientific and factual questioN® intend to actively pursue patent protectiongiarducts resulting from our research and
development activities that have significant pasrdommercial value. We may not be able to obsaiditional issued patents relating to our
technology or products.

Even if issued, patents issued torusur licensors may be challenged, narrowed, idatdd, held to be unenforceable or
circumvented, which could limit our ability to stepmpetitors from marketing similar products orueel the term of patent protection we may
have for our products. We cannot assure you thapatents obtained will afford us adequate prodectir provide us with any meaningful
competitive advantages against these competitors.

Changes in either patent laws onterpretations of patent laws in the US and otbentries may diminish the value of our
intellectual property or narrow the scope of ouepaprotection. For example, the America Invents Was signed into law in the US in
September 2011, with phased implementation thrddigich 2013, and includes a number of changes &bkstied practices. These include
transition to a first-to-file system, establishmehhew procedures for challenging patents andeémpintation of different methods for
invalidating patents. We cannot predict the imphat new laws, government rule-making, implementegulations and applicable case law
may have on the strength of our patents. Certdommes may make it easier for competitors to ch@éeour patents and could have a material
adverse effect on our business and prospectsditiad any patents we procure may require coopmravith companies holding related
patents and we may have difficulty forming a susfidselationship with such other companies.

58




Table of Contents

If we are not able to adequately prevent disclosofdrade secrets and other proprietary informatiptne value of our product candidate
could be significantly diminished.

We rely on trade secrets to protectmoprietary technologies, especially where wedbbelieve patent protection is appropriate or
obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficufinamtect. We rely in part on confidentiality agremts with our employees, consultants,
advisors, collaborators, and other third parties @ertners to protect our trade secrets and otiopriptary information. These agreements may
not effectively prevent disclosure of confidenti@brmation or may not provide an adequate remadpé event of unauthorized disclosure of
confidential information. In addition, third partienay independently develop or discover our trageess and proprietary information. For
example, the FDA, as part of its Transparencyadtiite, currently is considering whether to makeitiatthl information publicly available on a
routine basis, including information that we maysider to be trade secrets or other proprietagrimétion, and it is not clear at the present
time how the FDA's disclosure policies may chamgthe future, if at all. Costly and time-consumiitiggation could be necessary to enforce
and determine the scope of our proprietary rigdts, any failure to obtain or maintain trade sepretection could adversely affect our
competitive business position.

Confidentiality agreements with employees and otharay not adequately prevent disclosure of tradersts and other proprietary
information.

In order to protect our proprietagghinology and processes, we rely in part on confidkty agreements with our corporate partners,
employees, consultants, outside scientific collabms and sponsored researchers and other advismse agreements may not effectively
prevent disclosure of confidential information andy not provide an adequate remedy in the evemhadithorized disclosure of confidential
information. In addition, others may independenlilscover trade secrets and proprietary informat@stly and time-consuming litigation
could be necessary to enforce and determine theesmioour proprietary rights, and failure to obtaimmaintain trade secret protection could
adversely affect our ability to successfully conepietthe industry.

We may infringe the intellectual property rights athers, which may prevent or delay our product dlpment efforts, prevent us from
commercializing our products or increase the cosfscommercializing our products.

Third parties may claim that we havieinged upon or misappropriated their proprieteghts. Third parties may attempt to obtain,
patent protection relating to the production anel efsour product candidates. We cannot assurehailany issued patents, or patents that ma
later issue to third parties, would not negatieffigct our commercialization of ARIKAYCE or any ethproduct. We cannot assure you that
such patents can be avoided or invalidated or wbellicensed to us at commercially reasonable mtasall. We cannot assure you that we
will be successful in any intellectual propertygétion that may arise or that such litigation wbuabt have an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operation or prosise In the event of a successful claim againgbumfringement or misappropriation of a third
party's proprietary rights, we may be required to:

. Pay damages, including up to treble damages, andtkier party's attorneys' fees, which may be anbat;

. Cease the development, manufacture, marketingaad§products or use of processes that infrihgeproprietary rights of
others;

. Expend significant resources to redesign our prisdoicour processes so that they do not infringeptioprietary rights of other

which may not be possible;
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. Redesign our products or processes to avoid thartsproprietary rights, which means we may susignificant regulatory
delays associated with conducting additional céihtdals or other steps to obtain regulatory apphoor
. Obtain one or more licenses arising out of a gatl# of litigation or otherwise from third partifes the infringed proprietary

rights, which may not be available to us on acddpteerms or at all.

Furthermore, litigation with any tthiparty, even if the allegations are without mevibuld likely be expensive and time-consuming
and divert management's attention.

Any lawsuits relating to infringement of intellectl property rights necessary to defend ourselvenforce our rights may be costly ar
time consuming.

Any conclusions we may have reacleggrding non-infringement, inapplicability or inicity of a third party's intellectual property
are based in significant part on a review of puplavailable databases and other information. Theag be information not available to us or
otherwise not reviewed by us that could changeconclusions. Moreover, the scope and validity aépaclaims depend significantly on facts
and circumstances, and a court's conclusions thie$e matters may differ from the conclusions Weahave reached.

We may have to undertake costlyditign to enforce any patents issued or licenset tor to confirm the scope and validity of ano
party's proprietary rights. We cannot assure yatidhcourt would validate our issued or licenseelliectual property. An adverse outcome in
litigation or interference or other proceeding iny @ourt or patent office could materially adveysaffect our ability to develop and
commercialize our product candidates.

If we fail to comply with our obligations in our iense agreements for our product candidates, welddase license rights that are importa
to our business.

We currently have a licensing agreetméth PARI for exclusive use of the optimized @¥INebulizer System for delivery of
ARIKAYCE in treating patients with CF, bronchieasand NTM infections. We have rights to severaldf@ foreign issued patents, and
patent applications involving improvements to tiptirnized eFlow Nebulizer System. Under the licegsaigreement, PARI is entitled to
receive payments either in cash, qualified stock combination of both, at PARI's discretion, bagedchievement of certain milestone evt
including phase 3 trial initiation, first acceptaemf MAA submission (or equivalent) in the US of KRYCE and the device, first receipt of
marketing approval in the US for ARIKAYCE and thevite, and first receipt of marketing approval imajor EU country for ARIKAYCE
and the device. There can be no assurance thidrégoing milestone events will be achieved anddtoee there can be no assurance that the
Company will make any future payments. We are megluio use commercially reasonable efforts to puthe clinical development of
ARIKAYCE in one or more countries and, for CF adein the United States, and after obtaining soatketing approval to use commercially
reasonable efforts to market and sell ARIKAYCEHhe tountries in which it is approved. If we failmt®et some or all of our obligations under
the licensing agreement or choose to discontinugmercialization of ARIKAYCE in any indication, PARhay compete in the indication, we
may lose the exclusive rights to use the PARI dewith ARIKAYCE in the indication, and we may loge non-exclusive right to use the
PARI device with ARIKAYCE in the indication. Termation of the licensing agreement or loss of exekisights may occur if we fail to meet
our obligations, including payment of royaltiesRARI, or if we do not meet certain milestones cin@d in the licensing agreement such as
obtaining marketing approval or achieving the fagsinmercial sale of ARIKAYCE. PARI may also chods¢erminate the agreement if we do
not use commercially reasonable efforts over aytear period of time.
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Risks Related to Our Industry

We operate in a highly competitive and changing @aomment, and if we are unable to adapt to our emuiment, we may be unable to
compete successfully.

Biotechnology and related pharmacalitechnology have undergone and are likely tdicaa to experience rapid and significant
change. We expect that the technologies assoaciatkdiotechnology research and development wititsaie to develop rapidly. Our future
success will depend in large part on our abilityn@intain a competitive position with respect tes technologies and to obtain and maintain
protection for our intellectual property. Any comymals, products or processes that we develop maynieobsolete before we recover any
expenses incurred in connection with their develepimRapid technological change could make ourymtsdobsolete, and materially adver:
affect our business, financial condition, resuftserations or prospects.

We expect that successful competitwilhdepend, among other things, on product efficaafety, reliability, availability, timing and
scope of regulatory approval and price. Specificalle expect crucial factors will include the ralatspeed with which we can develop
products, complete the clinical testing and regujagpproval processes and supply commercial gisstf the product to the market. We
expect competition to increase as technologicahades are made and commercial applications broaden.

In each of our potential product areme face substantial competition from large plesuatical, biotechnology and other companies,
universities and research institutions. Relativagpmost of these entities have substantiallytgrezapital resources, research and developme
staffs, facilities and experience in conductingicial studies and obtaining regulatory approvasyall as in manufacturing and marketing
pharmaceutical products. Many of our competitory mehieve product commercialization or patent prtid@ earlier than us. Furthermore, we
believe that our competitors have used, and magiregnto use, litigation to gain a competitive adkage. Finally, our competitors may use
different technologies or approaches to the devety of products similar to the products we ardisgeto develop.

If ARIKAYCE is approved fdPseudomonaking infections in CF patients, it will compete ags Tobi, the current standard of care
for the chronic management of these infections. imarketed by Novartis. Other competitors irstimarket include Gilead and Forest, and
we are aware of other companies also developindygats for this indication. We cannot assure you if'aRIKAYCE is approved for this
indication or NTM that it will be able to competecsessfully in the marketplace.

Competitors could develop and obtain FDA approvébooducts containing amikacin, which could advelgeaffect our competitive position
in all ARIKAYCE-related indications.

In the event there are other amikacaducts approved by the FDA for any use, physgiaay elect to prescribe those products rath
than ARIKAYCE to treat the indications for which AMRAYCE may receive approval, which is commonly meéal to as offabel use. Althoug
FDA regulations prohibit a drug company from proimgtoff-label use of its product, the FDA does not regulagepractice of medicine and
a result cannot direct physicians as to what prbttuprescribe to their patients. As a result, veaild have limited ability to prevent any off-
label use of a competitor's product to treat disedigr which we have received FDA approval, evesuih use violates our patents or orphan
drug exclusivity for the use of amikacin to treatls diseases. This could negatively affect ourltesd operations or business.
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Competitors could develop and obtain FDA approvékmtibiotic products that are more effective, saféolerable or more convenient or le
expensive than our products in development or erigtproducts, which could adversely affect our coetipive position in all ARIKAYCE-
related indications.

There are potential competitive pretduboth approved and in development, which inelaichl, systemic, or inhaled antibiotic
products to treat chronic respiratory infectiong twPseudomonasf any of our competitors develops a product tkahbre effective, safer,
tolerable or, convenient or less expensive thankiICE, it would adversely affect our ability to gerate revenues. We also may face lower
priced generic competitors if third-party payors@rage use of generic or lower-priced versionsusfproduct or if competing products are
imported into the US from Canada, Mexico or othaurdries.

FDA approval of products that treat the underlyircause of CF could reduce the market opportunity faRIKAYCE.

The FDA and EMA have approved Kalyméwacaftor) by Vertex as the first drug approvedreat patients with certain mutations of
CF, which affects about 4% of CF patients. Vertisw & studying Kalydeco, in combination with armtldrug candidate, for a more common
CF mutation. We cannot predict the potential efexftKalydeco or similar products approved in thtife on inhaled antibiotic use in CF. It is
possible that these therapies could decrease thbeatwr proportion of CF patients who acquseudomonalsing infections and thereby
decrease the market for inhaled antibiotics likd KRY CE.

If another party obtains orphan drug exclusivity fa product that is essentially the same as a prodwe are developing for a particul:
indication, we may be precluded or delayed from epercializing the product in that indication.

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDAyngaant orphan drug designation to drugs intendeddetat a rare disease or condition, which i
generally a disease or condition that affects feiven 200,000 individuals in the US. See "BusineSsvernment Regulation—Orphan
Drugs—United States." The company that obtainditeemarketing approval from the FDA for a desitgthorphan drug for a rare disease
receives marketing exclusivity for use of that dfagthe designated condition for a period of seyears. Similar laws exist in EU with a term
of ten years. See "Business—Government Regulatiorph@h Drugs—Europe." If a competitor obtains appt@f the same drug for the same
indication or disease before us, we would be piitddidfrom obtaining approval for our product fowea or more years, unless our product car
be shown to be clinically superior. In addition,rathan one drug may be approved by the FDA fos#itlee orphan indication or disease as
long as the drugs are different drugs. As a resuétn if one of our products is approved and reseorphan drug exclusivity, as ARIKAYCE
was for treating CF patients willseudomonasthe FDA may approve different drugs for use @ating the same indication or disease covere
by our product, which could adversely affect oumpetitive position.

Our research, development and manufacturing actieg used in the production of ARIKAYCE involve tlise of hazardous materials, whi
could expose us to damages and materially advera#flyct our results of operations and financial cdition.

We are subject to numerous envirortalehealth and safety laws and regulations, inalyidhose governing laboratory procedures
the handling, use, storage, treatment and dispdselzardous materials and wastes. Our researceasrdopment program and manufacturing
activities for ARIKAYCE involve the controlled usé hazardous materials and chemicals. We genegalijyract with third parties for the
disposal of these materials and wastes. Althoughelieve we are in
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compliance with all pertinent regulations, we cargloninate the risk of environmental contaminatidamage to facilities or injury to
personnel from the accidental or improper use atrobof these materials. In addition to any lighilve could have for any misuse by us of
hazardous materials and chemicals, we could alsmpally be liable for activities of our contraoanufacturers or other third parties. Any
such liability, or even claims of such liabilitypald materially adversely affect our results of giens and financial condition. We also could
incur significant costs associated with civil oimtnal fines and penalties.

In addition, we may incur substantiasts in order to comply with current or futureziednmental, health and safety laws and
regulations. These current or future laws and @@gns may impair our research, development orymtion efforts. Failure to comply with
these laws and regulations also may result in anbiat fines, penalties or other sanctions.

We may be subject to product liability claims, awe have only limited product liability insurance.

The manufacture and sale of humaragieutic products involve an inherent risk of pratdiability claims and associated adverse
publicity. We currently have only limited produd@bility insurance for our products. We do not knibwe will be able to maintain existing or
obtain additional product liability insurance orcaptable terms or with adequate coverage agaitshial liabilities. This type of insurance is
expensive and may not be available on acceptattestdf we are unable to obtain or maintain suffitiinsurance coverage on reasonable
terms or to otherwise protect against potentiatipobd liability claims, we may be unable to commalize our products. A successful product
liability claim brought against us in excess of mgurance coverage, if any, may require us togudngtantial amounts and may materially
adversely affect our business, financial conditi@sults of operations or prospects.

Risks Related to Employee Matters and Managing Grotin

We are dependent upon retaining and attracting kegrsonnel, the loss of whose services could matisridversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prpscts.

We depend highly on the principal nbens of our scientific and management personnellaés of whose services might significantly
delay or prevent the achievement of our reseambegldpment or business objectives. Our successdspmn large part, on our ability to attr
and retain qualified management, scientific andioagersonnel, and on our ability to develop araintain important relationships with
commercial partners, leading research institutamd key distributors. We will need to hire addiibpersonnel in anticipation of seeking
regulatory approval for and commercial launch oflkRYCE.

Competition for skilled personneloar industry and market is very intense becauskeohumerous pharmaceutical and biotechnc
companies that seek similar personnel. These coegparay have greater financial and other resouofées, a greater opportunity for career
advancement and have a longer history in the imgltisan we do. We also experience competitionHerhiring of our scientific and clinical
personnel from universities, research instituti@ms] other third parties. We cannot assure thatiltattract and retain such persons or
maintain such relationships.

Our inability to retain and attractadjfied employees would harm our business.
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We expect to expand our development, manufacturiregulatory and future sales and marketing capabds, and as a result, we may
encounter difficulties in managing our growth, whitcould disrupt our operations.

We expect that our potential expamsito areas and activities requiring additiongbextise, such as further clinical trials,
governmental approvals, manufacturing, sales, niatkend distribution will place additional requinents on our management, operational
and financial resources. Future growth would impsgaificant added responsibilities on members ahagement, including the need to
identify, recruit, maintain, motivate and integratiditional employees. Also, our management mag tedivert a disproportionate amount of
its attention away from our day-to-day activitieslalevote a substantial amount of time to manatiage growth activities. We may not be
able to effectively manage the expansion of ouratpens, which may result in weaknesses in ouastfucture, give rise to operational
mistakes, loss of business opportunities, lossrgileyees and reduced productivity among remainimgleyees.

The anticipated commercializatiolABfIKAYCE and the development of additional prodaandidates will require significant
expenditures by us and place a strain on our ressulf our management is unable to effectively ag&nour activities in anticipation of
commercialization, as well as our development &faxve may incur higher than expected expenditoregher expenses and our business ma
otherwise be adversely affected.

Risks Related to our Common Stock and Listing on ta Nasdag Global Select Market
The market price of our stock has been and may ¢oné¢ to be highly volatile.

Our common stock is listed on the dasGlobal Select Market under the ticker symb@NMN The market price of our stock has beer
and may continue to be highly volatile, and coutdshbject to wide fluctuations in price in respotwsearious factors, many of which are
beyond our control. These factors may include:

. Our listing status on the Nasdaq Global Select Miark

. Results of our clinical studies and preclinicaldéts, or those of our corporate partners or ourpeiitors;

. Delays in timing of pre-clinical, clinical develogmt and regulatory filings and delays regardinginability to obtain potential
approvals;

. Strategic business decisions;

. Developments in our relationships with corporaterpas;

. Developments affecting our corporate partners;

. Negative regulatory action or regulatory apptavith respect to our announcement or our compatignnouncements of new
products;

. Government regulation, reimbursement changegjamdrnmental investigation or audits related tou® our products;

. Developments related to our patents or othepnetary rights or those of our competitors;

. Other competitive developments;

. Reports issued by and changes in the positionafriies analysts with respect to our stock or ¢gjegnin stock ownership by
investors;

. Operating results below the expectations of sdesrénalysts and investors; and

. The need or perceived need to raise additionatalapi

In addition, the stock market hasrfrime to time experienced extreme price and volflowuations, which have particularly affect
the market prices for emerging biotechnology and
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pharmaceutical companies like us, and which hatendfeen unrelated to their operating performahbese broad market fluctuations may
adversely affect the market price of our commouglsto

Historically, when the market prideacstock has been volatile, shareholder are nikeéyIto institute securities and derivative class
action litigation against the issuer of such stdtkny of our shareholders were to institute adaivagainst us, we could incur substantial cost
defending the lawsuit. Any lawsuit could divert titae and attention of our management.

Future sales of substantial amounts of common starkhe public market, or the possibility of suclales occurring, could also adversely
affect prevailing market prices for our common stoor our future ability to raise capital through awffering of equity securities.

The sale of a significant numberludres of our common stock in the public marketddwarm the market price of our common stock
Some or all of the shares of common stock may fexexd from time to time in the open market pursuarRule 144 (or pursuant to a
registration statement, if one is effective), amelse sales may have a depressive effect on theetfarkhe shares of common stock. In gen
a person who is deemed to be an affiliate who le&s $hares for a period of six months may, upandfibf a notification on Form 144 with the
SEC, sell into the market common stock in an amaprto the greater of 1% of the outstanding shardise average weekly number of shares
sold in the last four weeks before such sale. Sats may be repeated once each three months.-affiliate holding restricted shares may
sell such shares without restrictions after theyelaeen held six months, subject only to the cupeblic information requirement. After an
additional six months have lapsed, a non-affilatgy sell such shares without any restrictions.

The market price for our common stookld also decline, perhaps significantly, assalteof issuances of a large number of shares c
our common stock in the public market or even theegption that such issuances could occur. For pbegrat the time of our merger with
Transave, certain former Transave stockholdersitgplapproximately 40% of our shares of common stxckf December 1, 2010, entered
lock-up arrangements with us in connection withrtiexger. The lock-up arrangements expired on May802, and these shareholders may
now generally dispose of all their shares freelgegit to the extent that any such shareholder &ffdiate of the Company. Such Transave
stockholders have the benefit of a registratiohtsgagreement dated December 1, 2010, pursuarttith the Transave stockholders may,
subject to certain conditions, require us to fdgistration statements covering the resale of gieres of common stock or to include their
shares of common stock in registration stateméatsvie may file for ourselves or other stockholders

Under our registration rights agreatneertain holders of our outstanding shares oftommon stock and other securities have
registration rights. The existence of such redisinarights could also make it more difficult fos to raise funds through future offerings of our
equity securities.

If we fail to meet the continued listing requireménof the Nasdaq Global Select Market, our commaock may be delisted from the Nasc
Global Select Market, which may cause the valueaafinvestment in our common stock to decrease.

If a delisting from the Nasdaq GloBalect Market were to occur, our common stock beagligible, upon the application of a market
maker, to trade on the OTC Bulletin Board or in'think sheets."” These alternative markets are gdigaronsidered to be less efficient than,
and not as broad as, the Nasdaq Global Select Markerefore, delisting of our common stock frora tiasdaq Global Select Market could
adversely affect the trading price of our commamktand could limit the liquidity of our common skoand therefore could cause the value of
an investment in our common stock to decrease.
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The ownership interest of existing shareholders Maé diluted by the exercise of options issued Isyon to the extent that we issue additional
common stock in connection with any offerings ofcsgities, strategic transactions, or otherwise.

As of February 27, 2014, 4,093,83@rsh of our common stock are potentially issuabi#eu outstanding restricted stock units and
stock options to our employees, officers, directord consultants.

The conversion or exercise of somalloof our restricted stock units and options wlilute the ownership interests of existing
shareholders. Any sales in the public market ofchramon stock issuable upon such conversion ociseecould adversely affect prevailing
market prices of our common stock.

Additionally, our Articles of Incorpation currently authorize us to issue up to 50lianicommon shares. As of February 27, 2013
we had 39,263,837 shares of common stock outstgnilmthe extent that we issue additional commonksin connection with any offerings
of securities, strategic transactions, or otherwtse ownership interest of existing shareholdelisbe further diluted.

Historically we have not paid dividends on our coramstock, and we have no plans to pay dividendthimforeseeable future

We have never declared or paid ash cividend on our common stock and do not cutyentend to do so for the foreseeable future.
We currently anticipate that we will retain anyutg earnings for the development, operation anamsipn of our business and do not
anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividemdgHe foreseeable future. Therefore, the sucdess mvestment in shares of our common
stock will depend upon any future appreciatiorhigitt value. There is no guarantee that sharesrod@uamon stock will appreciate in value or
even maintain the price at which our stockholdergehpurchased their shares.

Certain provisions of Virginia law and our articlesf incorporation and amended and restated bylawsiid hamper a third party's
acquisition of, or discourage a third party from t@mpting to acquire control of us.

Certain provisions of Virginia lawdour articles of incorporation and amended anthted bylaws could hamper a third party's
acquisition of, or discourage a third party frorteatpting to acquire control of us or limit the grithat investors might be willing to pay for
shares of our common stock. These provisions irclud

. A provision allowing us to issue preferred stockhwights senior to those of the common stock witreny further vote or
action by the holders of the common stock. Theaissa of preferred stock could decrease the amdwarnings and assets
available for distribution to the holders of comnstack or could adversely affect the rights and g@wincluding voting rights,
of the holders of the common stock. In certainwinstances, such issuance could have the effeetopéasing the market price
of the common stock;

. The existence of a staggered board of directorghinh there are three classes of directors sestaggered three-year terms,
thus expanding the time required to change the ositipn of a majority of directors and perhaps disaging someone from
making an acquisition proposal for us;

. Our amended and restated bylaws' requiremenski@eholders provide advance notice when nomigatirector candidates to
serve on our Board of Directors;
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. The inability of shareholders to convene a shaadrsl meeting without the chairman of the boare piresident or a majority of
the board of directors first calling the meetingga
. The application of Virginia law prohibiting us froemtering into a business combination with the bieia¢ owner of 10% or

more of our outstanding voting stock for a periéthoee years after the 10% or greater owner feathed that level of stock
ownership, unless we meet certain criteria.

In addition, we previously had a "y pill" shareholder rights plan, which expiredMay 2011. Under Virginia law, our Board of
Directors may implement a new shareholders riglais without shareholder approval. Our Board of Blioes intends to regularly consider this
matter, even in the absence of specific circumssiac takeover proposals, to facilitate its futalodity to quickly and effectively protect
shareholder value.

Other Risks Related to our Business
Corporate governance and public disclosure requiremts add uncertainty to our compliance policies aimdrease our costs of compliance.

Changing laws, regulations and steshgleelating to accounting, corporate governancepamlic disclosure, including the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, other SEC regulations, and tlesdg Global Select Market rules, are creatingnteiogy for companies like ours. These
laws, regulations and standards may lack spegifénid are subject to varying interpretations. Thejplication in practice may evolve over
time, as new guidance is provided by regulatory gmebrning bodies. This could result in continuimgertainty regarding compliance matters
and higher costs of compliance as a result of angdvisions to such corporate governance standards

In particular, our efforts to compiyth Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2G0Zurnish a report by management on, among
other things, the effectiveness and the relatedlatigns regarding our required assessment ofrdarrial controls over financial reporting and
our external auditors' audit of our internal cohtreer financial reporting requires the commitmenhsignificant financial and managerial
resources. We consistently assess the adequacy bfternal controls over financial reporting, rediage any control deficiencies that may be
identified, and validate through testing that oomtcols are functioning as documented. While wendbanticipate any material weaknesses
inability of management and our independent auditqrovide us with an unqualified report as to ¢fffectiveness of our internal controls ovel
financial reporting for future year ends could tesuadverse consequences to us, including, buliméed to, a loss of investor confidence in
the reliability of our financial statements, whicbuld cause the market price of our stock to decltor example, in connection with our rev
of internal control over financial reporting asldécember 31, 2012, we determined that we did neqaakely implement certain controls over
the administration, accounting and oversight of 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, and we concluded tmahgerial weakness in our internal con
over financial reporting existed as of December28M,2. The existence of this or one or more othatenal weaknesses or significant
deficiencies in our internal control over finanai@porting could result in errors in our financiédtements, and substantial costs and resource
may be required to rectify any internal controlidiehcies. Any material weaknesses may materialiyessely affect our ability to report
accurately our financial condition and results pé@tions in a timely and reliable manner. In addijtalthough we continually review and
evaluate internal control systems to allow manageneereport on the sufficiency of our internal trmfs, we cannot assure you that we will
discover weaknesses in our internal control ovarftial reporting. Any such weakness or failurectnediate a material weakness could
materially adversely affect our ability to complytivapplicable financial reporting requirements dimel requirements of our various
agreements.
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We are committed to maintaining higaindards of corporate governance and public disotg and our efforts to comply with evolv
laws, regulations and standards in this regard hesidted in, and are likely to continue to resultincreased general and administrative
expenses and a diversion of management time agwtiatt from revenue-generating activities to coanptie activities. In addition, the laws,
regulations and standards regarding corporate gamee may make it more difficult for us to obtairedtor and officer liability insurance.
Further, our board members, chief executive offaoed chief financial officer could face an increhsiek of personal liability in connection
with their performance of duties. As a result, waynface difficulties attracting and retaining qfietl board members and executive officers,
which could harm our business. If we fail to compiyh new or changed laws, regulations or standafd®rporate governance, our business
and reputation may be harmed.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We currently lease a facility totgia7,035 square feet of laboratory and office spa@Deer Park Drive in Monmouth Junction, I
Jersey. This lease expires in December 2014. Védedse approximately 1,350 sq. ft. of lab spadelddeer Park Drive. This lease also
expires in December 2014. The additional spacd &ieer Park Drive is utilized to support the matifeing process of ARIKAYCE for our
clinical programs.

On December 31, 2013, we enteredarigmse for 27,435 square feet of laboratory dficecspace at 10 Finderne Avenue in
Bridgewater, New Jersey. This lease will expir®lovember 2019. We plan to retrofit this space ieoito accommodate our laboratory and
office space needs. We have the ability to leas® @pproximately 55,000 square feet of spaceisidbation. The Company plans to relocate
its operations to the Bridgewater facility duringl2.

We also lease approximately 18,00fasg feet of office space in Richmond, VirginiagThase expires in October 2016. Our
corporate headquarters were formerly located itmiRand but we closed this facility, and we are aging to sublet this space.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Cacchillo v. Insmed

On October 6, 2010, a complaint vitesi fagainst us by Angeline Cacchillo ("Plaintifft) the U.S. District Court for the Northern
District of New York (the "Court"), captione@acchillo v. Insmed, In¢.No. 1:10-cv-0199, seeking monetary damages amaid order
requiring Insmed to support Plaintiff's compasstenge application to the FDA and if approved,roviale Plaintiff with IPLEX. Plaintiff was
a participant in the phase Il clinical trial of IBK sponsored by us evaluating the effectivenessefnvestigational drug in patients with typ
myotonic muscular dystrophy ("MMD"). In the compigiPlaintiff alleged (i) violation of constituti@hdue process and equal protection by
depriving Plaintiff of continued access to IPLEX) {raudulent inducement to enter the phase Hichl trial with the false promise to support
Plaintiff's compassionate use application to thé\F(li) negligent representation that we would pag Plaintiff's compassionate use
application, (iv) breach of contract, seeking mangand non-monetary damages, (v) intentionaldatifin of emotional distress by refusing to
support Plaintiff's compassionate use applicatfter @roviding IPLEX, (vi) violation of an assumedty of care to Plaintiff, (vii) breach of
fiduciary duty to Plaintiff,
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(viii) negligence and (ix) unjust enrichment. Plifrseeks compensatory and punitive monetary dasagd sought injunction relief as noted
above.

On October 7, 2010, Plaintiff filedretion for a preliminary injunction that would réce us to provide a written statement supportin
the "compassionate use" of IPLEX for Plaintiff aticecting us to provide IPLEX to Plaintiff at caetthe event that the compassionate use
application were granted by the FDA. On OctoberZZ®1,0, the Court denied Plaintiff's motion for ffireliminary injunction concluding that t
Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction with resp® her claim for a preliminary injunction. Plafhiappealed the Court's denial of her motion
for a preliminary injunction to the U.S. Court oppeals for the Second Circuit, which affirmed thal tourt's order denying the Plaintiff's
motion for a preliminary injunction.

We filed a motion with the Court tismhiss all of the outstanding claims, and on Juhe2R11, the Court dismissed six of Plaintiff's
claims, leaving outstanding the claims for (i) flalent inducement, (ii) negligent misrepresentatand (iii) breach of contract. We filed an
answer and affirmative defenses with the Courtudy 12, 2011. Plaintiff's claim for monetary damageth respect to these claims remains
outstanding. The parties completed discovery aabout June 1, 2012. We filed a Motion for Summaigginent on August 1, 2012 seeking
judgment in our favor on the three claims remainmthe case and the motion was fully submittedatober 9, 2012. On January 19, 2C
the Court granted our Motion for Summary Judgmeut dismissed all of the outstanding claims. Plffiapipealed the Court's decision to the
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit anmdJanuary 7, 2014, the Court affirmed the decisiotismiss all outstanding claims.

Pilkiewicz v. Transave LLC

On March 28, 2011, Frank G. Pilkiexvamd other former stockholders of Transave (ctillely, the "Petitioners") filed an appraisal
action against our subsidiary Transave, LLC inDieéaware Court of Chancery captiorfeénk G. Pilkiewicz, et al. v. Transave, L. C.A.
No. 631¢CS. On December 13, 2011, following the mailingh#f revised notice of appraisal rights in accocganith the settlement terms of
Mackinson et al. v. Insmg, Petitioners filed an Amended Petition for Appadisf Stock.

The Petitioners seek appraisal ubdgaware law of their common stock holdings, repngisig approximately 7.77 million dissenting
shares of Transave, Inc. common stock (the "TramSawck"). The Petitioners have challenged theevafuithe consideration that they woulc
entitled to receive for their Transave Stock urtierterms of the merger.

Under the terms of the merger agredmertain of the former stockholders of Trans@kie "Transave Stockholders") are obligated t
indemnify us for certain liabilities in connectirth the appraisal action. Certain indemnificataond other obligations of the Transave
Stockholders were secured by a holdback of 1,785Rares of our common stock. In May 2012, we isatithe Transave Stockholders thai
are seeking indemnification from them and that vileasntinue to retain all 1,765,271 holdback slsaas security for any indemnification
payments due to us. Discovery is complete andritieig scheduled to begin in April 2014. We beédhe allegations contained in the amer
petition are without merit and we intend to conéria vigorously defend this action. It is not pb&siat this time to estimate the amount of loss
or range of possible loss, if any, that might refoim an adverse resolution of this action.

From time to time, we are a partyaoious other lawsuits, claims and other legal pealings that arise in the ordinary course of our
business. Management does not expect that theatiétionsts to resolve these matters will materediyersely affect our business, financial
position, or results of operations.

ITEM 4. Not Applicable
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our trading symbol is "INSM." Our caron stock currently trades on the Nasdaq Globacedlarket. Until February 3, 2014, our
common stock traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market.fdllowing table lists the high and low sale pager share for our common stock on a
quarterly basis as reported on the Nasdaqg Capiakéd for both 2013 and 2012.

Fiscal Year 201: High Low

Fourth Quarte $ 176( $ 1213
Third Quartel 16.5( 9.0C
Second Quarte 14.3( 6.5€
First Quarte 7.71 5.5€
Fiscal Year 201: High Low

Fourth Quarte $ 821 % 4.44
Third Quartel 4.5¢ 2.8¢
Second Quarte 4,92 2.6€
First Quarte 5.5C 3.04

On February 27, 2014, the last regzbsale price for our common stock on the NasdabpabiSelect Market was $20.48 per share. As
of February 27, 2014, there were 125 holders afnof our common stock.

We have never declared or paid cagdehds on our common stock. We anticipate thatwilleretain all earnings, if any, to support
operations and to finance the growth and developwfeour business for the foreseeable future. Thoeeewe do not currently expect to pay
cash dividends from earnings. Any future deternigmaas to the payment of dividends will be at tbke gliscretion of our board of directors i
will depend on our financial condition, resultsapierations, capital requirements and other facuors$oard of directors deems relevant, as
as any contractual or other restrictions to whiehmay be subject.
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Insmed Incorporated, the NASDAQ Compositeelycind the NASDAQ
Pharmaceutical Index

SD 1 1 I ] I | J
12/08 12/09 1210 1211 1212 12113
——H—Insmed Incorporated — -f— - NASDAQ Composite -==&-=-- NASDAG Pharmaceutical
* $100 invested on 12/31/08 in stock or index, intigdeinvestment of dividends.

Fiscal year ending December 31.
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial deéflects our consolidated statements of operatiomsconsolidated balance sheets as of and f
years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, 2011, 2012608 The data below should be read in conjundatidin, and is qualified by referen
to, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Fir@r@ondition and Results of Operations" and our
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consolidated financial statements and notes themttained elsewhere in this Annual Report on FboakK.
Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands, except per share date

Historical
Statement of
Operations
Data:
Revenue! $ 11,50C $ - % 4417 $ 6,921 $ 10,37
Operating
expenses
Research an
developme 44,27¢ 29,78 28,62! 4,70z 9,017
General and
administrat 22,23¢ 12,65’ 11,52 10,31: 10,03(
Impairment
loss - - 25,99( - -
Total operating
expense: 66,51¢ 42,43t 66,13¢ 15,01 19,04
Operating los: (55,015 (42,439 (61,719 (8,097) (8,679
Investment
income 16€ 1,82: 2,06¢ 1,84t 80¢
Interest expens (2,417 (769) (20 (109 (787)
Other, ne (33) 5 1 - 127,47
(Loss) income
before incom
taxes (57,299 (41,379 (59,664 (6,35€) 118,82
Income tax
(benefit)
expense (1,227 - - 78 A77
Net (loss)
income (56,079 (41,379 (59,66¢) (6,439 118,35(
Accretion of
beneficial
conversion
feature - - (9,175 - -
Net (loss)
income
attributable tc
common
stockholders  $ (56,079 $ (41,374 $ (68,839 $ (6,439 $ 118,35(
Basic and
diluted net
(loss) income
attributable tc
common
stockholders
pershare (1 $ (1.60) $ (1.56) $ (2.95) $ (0.49) $ 9.31
Weighted
average basi
and diluted
common
shares
outstanding
@ 34,98( 26,54! 23,34¢ 13,25( 12,71:

Historical

Balance

Sheet Data:

Cash, cash

equivalents

and short-

term

investment:  $ 113,89 $ 90,78: $ 76,27: $ 108,04¢ $ 122,18:




Certificate of

deposit $ - 9 2,15 $ 2,08t $ 2,17¢ $ 2,08t
Total asset $ 176,49¢ $ 153,56. $ 139,837 $ 196,26! $ 126,69!
Current portion

of long-term

debt $ 3,28: $ 3,007 $ - 9 - $ -
Long-term debt

net of current

portion $ 16,33¢ $ 16,22 $ - $ - $ -
Stockholders'
equity $ 143,32« $ 120,88 $ 134,26 $ 192,84:. $ 123,91

1) During the first quarter of 2011, our board of diggs authorized a one-for-ten reverse stock gpllishare and per share
amounts included in the above selected financit dive retroactive effect to the one-for-ten stepkt for all periods
presented
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion also should be read inwoction with our consolidated financial statemeatsl the notes thereto.

OVERVIEW

Insmed is a biopharmaceutical comfanysed on developing and commercializing inh&hedapies for patients battling serious lung
diseases that are often life-threatening. Our praduct candidate, ARIKAYCE or liposomal amikacar inhalation, is an inhaled antibiotic
treatment that delivers a proven and potent aftietive directly to the site of serious lung infeats to improve the efficacy, safety and
convenience of this therapeutic approach for ptien

We are currently conducting a phasérgcal trial in the United States (US) and Caaad ARIKAYCE in patients who have lung
infections caused by non-tuberculous mycobact&i#M) and we expect to report top-line clinical riésdrom the double-blind phase of this
clinical trial in March 2014. In 2013, we concludaghase 3 clinical trial in Europe and CanadaRfkBAY CE in cystic fibrosis (CF) patients
who have lung infections caused Bgeudomonas aerugino§é®seudomonas The CF and NTM target indications address orpgietient
populations. Our strategy includes plans to comtirmudevelop ARIKAYCE to broaden the NTM indicatiand for additional indications
beyondPseudomonaim CF and NTM. We also plan to develop, acquirdidganse or co-promote other products that addesgsisan or rare
diseases in the fields of pulmonology and infecidisease. Our current primary development foctrs ddbtain regulatory approval for
ARIKAYCE in these two initial indications and togpare for commercialization in the United Statagope, Japan and Canada. If approved,
ARIKAYCE will be the first once-a-day inhaled arntikic treatment option available for these CF afidWNindications.

We were incorporated in the Commoritheaf Virginia on November 29, 1999. On Decembgp010, we completed a business
combination with Transave, Inc., a privately héléw Jersey-based pharmaceutical company focustteatevelopment of differentiated and
innovative inhaled pharmaceuticals for the sitecfmetreatment of serious lung infections. Our ttoning operations are based on the
technology and products historically developed bgnBave. Our principal executive offices are lod@e9 Deer Park Drive, Suite C,
Monmouth Junction, New Jersey 08852 and our phongber is (732) 997-4600. Our Internet address iswinemed.com. On March 2, 2011,
we completed a one-for-ten reverse stock splitwfommmon stock. Unless otherwise noted, the patesamounts in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K give retroactive effect to the reversmktsplit for all periods presented.

KEY COMPONENTS OF OUR STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Revenues

In 2013, our other revenue solelysists of an $11.5 million payment received fromrPaeure Holdings AB and Premacure AB of
Sweden (collectively, "Premacure”, now Shire picgkchange for the Company's right to receive t@slnder its license agreement with
Premacure. We recorded this as other revenueadffferur revenue recognition criteria were presamd the Company had no continuing
performance obligations related to the paymentivede We did not recognize any revenue in 2012. @®uenues in 2011 consisted of cost
recovery revenues from the use of IPLEX® in an Exjeal Access Program (EAP) we established in lajyrovide IPLEX® to physicians for
use in their patients with Amyotrophic Lateral $okds (ALS) (this program was
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discontinued in December 2011), and an upfronhBegpayment received from Eleison Pharmaceuticals(Eleison) for the licensing of our
lipid-complexed cisplatin and/or liposomal cispagiroducts and technology to Eleison. We curretidiyiot recognize any revenue from
product sales or other sources.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expensesst@mimarily of salaries, benefits and other tedacosts, including stock-based compensatior
for personnel serving in our research and developfuactions, and other internal operating expenthescost of manufacturing our drug
candidate for clinical study, the cost of condugtitinical studies, and the cost of conducting [iéxal and research activities. Our expenses
related to manufacturing our drug candidate farictl study are primarily related to activitiescantract manufacturing organizations that
manufacture ARIKAYCE for our use. Our expensesteeldo clinical trials are primarily related to iadies at contract research organizations
that conduct and manage clinical trials on our Helihese contracts set forth the scope of workda@ompleted at a fixed fee or amount per
patient enrolled. Payments under these contratcteaptly depend mainly on performance criteria sashthe successful enrollment of patients
or the completion of clinical trial milestones aslinas time-based fees. Expenses are accrued basmhtracted amounts applied to the level
of patient enrollment and to activity accordinghe clinical trial protocol. Nonrefundable advamagyments for goods or services that will be
used or rendered for future research and developautinities are deferred and capitalized. Suchuam®are then recognized as an expense ¢
the related goods are delivered or the servicepefermed, or when the goods or services are mgeloexpected to be provided.

Since 2011, we have focused our a@raknt activities principally on our proprietargvanced liposomal technology designed
specifically for inhalation lung delivery. In 201®&¢e completed a phase 3 trial in Europe and Caimaghich we evaluated ARIKAYCE in CF
patients withPseudomonaking infections. We are currently conducting twimiclal trials: (1) a phase 2 trial in the Unitedtfes in which we
are evaluating ARIKAYCE for NTM infections and (2 open label extension study in which CF patidrdas completed our phase 3 trial
receive ARIKAYCE for a period of two years. Sinagr business combination with Transave, the majaftyur research and development
expenses were for our ARIKAYCE program. We expkat bur development efforts in 2014 will principatelate to the development of
ARIKAYCE in the CF and NTM indications.

Our clinical trials with ARIKAYCE arsubject to numerous risks and uncertainties tfeabatside of our control, including the
possibility that necessary regulatory approvals matybe obtained. In addition, the duration andcbst of clinical trials may vary significantly
from trial to trial over the life of a project agesult of differences in the study protocol focke#rial as well as differences arising during the
clinical trial, including, among others, the follow:

. The number of patients that ultimately partitége the trial;

. The duration of patient follow-up that is detémed to be appropriate in view of results;
. The number of clinical sites included in the trjals

. The length of time required to enroll suitable eatisubjects; and

. The efficacy and safety profile of the product ddate.

Our clinical trials may be subjecitielays, particularly if we are unable to produlieical trial material in sufficient quantities ard
sufficient quality to meet the schedule for ounidal trials. Moreover, all of our product candiemust overcome significant regulatory,
technological, manufacturing and marketing chalnigefore they can be successfully commerciali&ey.significant delays that occur or
additional expenses that we incur may have a nadizdiverse effect on our

74




Table of Contents

financial position and may require us to raise toidal capital sooner or in larger amounts thaprésently expected. In addition, as a result of
the risks and uncertainties related to the devetapirand approval of our product candidates anadoadtional uncertainties related to our
ability to market and sell these products once @apgnt for commercial sale, we are unable to progideeaningful prediction regarding wher

at all, we will generate positive cash inflow frahese projects.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expensesist primarily of salaries, benefits and othéatel costs, including stock-based compensatior
for personnel serving in our executive, finance aocbunting, legal, pre-commercial, corporate dgwelent, information technology, program
management and human resource functions. Genetadministrative expenses also include professifaal for legal, including patent-
related expenses, consulting, insurance, boardedtdr fees, tax and accounting services. We expeat our general and administrative
expenses will increase in order to support incrédeeels of development activities and commenceroénbmmercialization activities for our
product candidates.

Impairment Loss

Impairment loss consists of the wdtavn of the carrying amounts of in-process redeard development (IPR&D) and goodwill
intangible assets. We use the multi-period excassregs method ("MPEEM") for calculating impairméogs, which is a form of the income
approach to derive the fair value of IPR&D intarlgibnd goodwill assets. This approach calculatesvédue by estimating future cash flows
attributable to the assets and then discountingetibash flows to a present value using a risk-tatjudiscount rate. We decided that a market
based valuation approach was not appropriate fofimancial reporting because we do not have opegatvenues or net income. The income
approach requires significant management judgméhtrespect to future volume, revenue and expermseth rates, changes in our working
capital, appropriate discount rates and other aggans and estimates. We believe the estimatesissuimptions used in assessing impairmer
loss are consistent with our business plans. Teetidifferent estimates and assumptions woulceimee or decrease the estimated fair value |
our IPR&D, and might result in different effects ouar results of operations. Our actual resultsparations may differ from management's
estimates used in assessing impairment loss.

Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs are amortizeédtévest expense using the effective interestmathod over the term of the debt. Our balance
sheet reflects debt net of debt issuance coststpdiict lender and reflects debt issuance coststpaither third parties as other assets.

Investment Income and Interest Expense

Investment income consists of inteaesl dividend income earned on our cash, caslvaiguaits and short-term investments, along
with realized gains (losses) on the sale of investi1 Interest expense consists primarily of istecests related to our debt and capital lease
obligations.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 201

Net loss attributable to common stadllers for the year ended December 31, 2013 wad $8illion (or $1.60 per common share—
basic and diluted) compared with a net loss of $4dillion (or $1.56 per common share—basic andtéidyfor the year ended December 31,
2012. The increase in our net loss in 2013 of $irillfon was primarily due to:

. A $14.5 million increase in our research and dguelent expenses that resulted primarily from thevigiets under our phase 3
clinical study in CF patients and related two-yegen-label safety study in Europe and Canadapanghase 2 NTM clinical
study in the United States. We initiated the pt&a&d- study and phase 2 NTM study in the secondtiguaf 2012 and initiated
the two-year CF extension study in October 2012;

. A $9.6 million increase in our general and adeimtive expenses that was due primarily to a $flbon increase in
compensation expense (including an increase of @8l@®n in non-cash stock-based compensation es@gera $1.8 million
increase in professional fees, including a $1.4ionilincrease in legal fees related to the invesiign, accounting and reporting
of excess equity awards and $2.9 million for cotisglexpenses, mainly for market research and otiated costs;

. A $1.7 million reduction in investment income amdlized gains on investment due to lower inter@stsrand more conservat
investments of cash balances; and
. A $1.6 million increase in interest expense tu$20.0 million of borrowings ($10.0 million in de 2012 and $10.0 million in

December 2012) under our Loan and Security Agreémerentered into in June 2012.

Partially offsetting these increasesperating expenses was other revenue of $1lllmielated to a one-time payment for the sale
of the Company's right to receive future royaltiesler its license agreement with Premacure (nowe$te). The net loss attributable to
stockholders in 2013 and 2012 includes approximé&iel7 million and $3.0 million, respectively, imm-cash stock option compensation. The
net loss attributable to stockholders in 2012 idelkiapproximately $2.9 million in severance cosligted to the termination of certain
executives and employees.

Revenue

In 2013, our other revenue consisdly of an $11.5 million payment received froneacure (now Shire plc) in exchange for the
Company's right to receive royalties under itsrigg agreement with Premacure. We recorded thithas i@venue after all four revenue
recognition criteria were present and the Compaaty/ro continuing performance obligations relatethéopayment received. We did not
recognize any revenue for the year ended Decembhe&03 2.
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Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expensdbdagrears ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, ceedptie following:

December 31 Increase (Decrease
2013 2012 $ %

External

Expenses
Clinical

Developme $ 19,72¢ $ 11,80( $ 7,92¢ 67.2%
Manufacturin 7,90¢ 7,25¢ 652 9.C%
Regulatory

and Quality

Assuaranci 2,01( 2,31¢ (308 -13.2%
Subtotal—

External

expense: $ 29,64+ $ 21.36¢ $ 8,27t  38.1%
Internal

Expenses
Compensatio

and related

expense: $ 10,327 $ 6,59: $ 3,73¢  56.6%
Other Interna

operating
expense: 4,30¢ 1,81¢ 2,48¢ 136.&%
Subtotal—
Internal
expense: $ 1463 $ 8,41: $ 6,22% 74.(%
Total $ 4427¢ $ 29,78 $  14,49¢ 48.7%

Research and development expensessised to $44.3 million in 2013 from $29.8 million2012. The $14.5 million increase is due
primarily to:

. An $8.3 million increase in external costs prityeconsisting of a $7.9 million increase in exgen for our phase 3 CF clinical
study and our two-year, open-label safety studgurope and Canada, and our phase 2 NTM clinicdlystuthe US during year
ended December 31, 2013. We initiated the phaséM study in the second quarter of 2012. We initildtee phase 3 CF study
in the second quarter of 2012 and initiated the-year CF extension study in October 2012; and

. A $6.2 million increase in internal expenses, idahg a $3.7 million increase in compensation atakee expenses (including
increase of $1.7 million in non-cash stock-basedmensation expense), a $0.8 million increase iruity expenses, a
$0.3 million increase in travel expenses to clihtgal sites and manufacturing locations, and a $iillion increase in other
research and development expenses.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenseeased to $22.2 million in 2013 from $12.7 millim 2012. The $9.5 million increase was
primarily due to:

. A $5.5 million increase in compensation expefseluding an increase of $3.9 million in non-casbck-based compensation
expense);

. A $2.9 million increase in consulting expenseajnly for market research and other related castg;

. A $1.8 million increase in professional feesttivas related primarily to a $1.4 million increasédegal fees resulting primarily

from the investigation, accounting and reportingxéess equity awards (see Note 9, "Stock Based€psation" to the
consolidated financial statements for addition&rimation).
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The 2012 results included approxitya®.2 million in severance expenses related ¢odéparture of several executives and
employees.

Investment Income

Investment income decreased to $@lmin 2013 from $1.8 million in 2012. The $1mGillion decrease is a result of diminishing
rates of return on our cash balances and more o@is@ investments of cash balances during 20b3pewed to 2012.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased to $2lomiduring 2013 compared to $0.8 million in 20The $1.6 million increase was due to
$20.0 million of borrowings ($10.0 million in Ju2@12 and $10.0 million in December 2012) underlaan and Security Agreement we
entered into in June 2012.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 201

Net loss attributable to common stadflers for the year ended December 31, 2012 whg $dillion (or $1.56 per common share—
basic and diluted) compared with a net loss of $@@llion (or $2.95 per common share—basic andtédyfor the year ended December 31,
2011. The net loss attributable to stockholde20ih?2 includes approximately $2.9 million in sevemugosts related to the termination of
certain executives and employees. The net losbuttible to common stockholders in 2011 includ&g@.0 million non-cash impairment loss
for the write-down of the carrying amounts of o0BRI&D and Goodwill intangible assets, a $9.2 millimn-cash charge for the beneficial
conversion feature of our previously outstandingeSeB Preferred Stock issued in the Transave mengg approximately $1.2 million in
expenses relating to our decision to discontingeai®ur Richmond, Virginia facility.

Revenue

We did not recognize any revenuetlieryear-ended December 31, 2012. Our revenue®lih @nsisted of $3.4 million of cost
recovery revenues from the use of IPLEX® in an Exjeal Access Program (EAP) we established in lajyrovide IPLEX® to physicians for
use in their patients with amyotrophic lateral sa$és and a $1.0 million non-refundable upfrongtise payment received from Eleison
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the licensing of our éipmal cisplatin products and technology. We reabttes revenue during 2011 as we had the
contractual right to receive it and we had no caritig involvement under this licensing agreement.
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Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expensdbdagrears ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, ceedptie following:

Year Ended
December 31, Increase (Decrease
2012 2011 $ %
(in thousands)
Clinical
developmer $ 14,08. $ 16,83¢ $ (2,759 -16%
Clinical
manufacturi 7,25¢ 4,79( 2,464 51%
Regulatory an
quality
assuranc 34 10€ (72 -68%
Compensatior
and relatec 8,41 6,89 1,52( 22%

$ 29,78. $ 28,62: $ 1,15¢ 4%

Research and development expensessised to $29.8 million in 2012 from $28.6 million2011. Despite an increase in clinical trial
activity in 2012, our overall clinical developmemtpenses decreased by $2.8 million. This decreaseaattributable primarily to study start-up
expenses incurred in 2011 related to the ARIKAYQ®&ge 3 clinical trial in a US CF patient populatiord the costs incurred to establish and
initiate our phase 3 CF clinical trial in Europedd@anada. The 2012 clinical development costs dechtiinical trial expenses and enroliment
milestones for our phase 3 CF clinical study indperand Canada, the open label CF extension sagdyell as our phase 2 NTM clinical sti
in the United States. Clinical manufacturing exgsnsicreased by $2.5 million from 2011 to 2012 apwduced a greater number of
ARIKAYCE lots for use in our studies. The decreaseegulatory and quality assurance expenses dfi$@lion in the year ended 2012
compared with 2011 was attributable to the regwjaptanning associated with the clinical studietedaabove. The $1.5 million increase in
compensation and related expenses is attributaliheteases in employee separation costs, inclusbrgrance and related benefits, and
facilities costs.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenseeased to $12.7 million in 2012 from $11.5 millim 2011. The 2012 results included
approximately $2.2 million in severance expenskged to the departure of several executives arg@mes. The 2011 results included
$1.2 million in charges related to our decisiomigcontinue use of our Richmond, Virginia facility.addition, total professional fees
decreased by $0.7 million from 2011 to 2012 assaltef lower legal fees.

Impairment Loss

We recorded a $26.0 million non-caspairment loss in 2011 due to the decline in #ievalue of our in-process research and
development, or IPR&D intangible and goodwill ass&tis decline in fair value resulted from the anpof the clinical hold placed on our
phase 3 studies of ARIKAYCE by the FDA in Augusti20In January 2012, the FDA lifted the clinicaldhon ARIKAYCE in patients with
NTM lung infections, and in May 2012, the FDA lift¢he clinical hold on ARIKAYCE in the United Statéor the treatment of CF patiel
with Pseudomonaking infections.
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Investment Income

Investment income decreased to $1ll®min 2012 from $2.1 million in 2011. The $0m8illion decrease is a result of diminishing
rates of return on our short-term investments @u#i®12 compared to 2011.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased to $0l&mduring 2012 compared to $0.0 million in 20The $0.8 million increase was due to
$20.0 million of borrowings ($10.0 million in Ju2@12 and $10.0 million in December 2012) underlman and Security Agreement we
entered into in June 2012.

Accretion of Beneficial Conversion Feature

During March 2011, our stockholdepp@ved a proposal to convert all of our outstag®eries B Preferred Stock into common
stock. In connection with this approval, we recarde$9.2 million non-cash charge in 2011 for thedfieial conversion feature of our
previously outstanding Series B Preferred Stocle dtarge resulted from the difference between dheersion price of the Series B Preferred
Stock of $7.10 per share and its carrying valug6o10 per share. The carrying value of the SeriBseBerred Stock was based on its fair value
at issuance, which was estimated using the commnogk price reduced for a lack of marketability beém the issuance date and the anticip
date of conversion.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Overview

There is considerable time and cesbeiated with developing a potential drug or plem@atical product to the point of regulatory
approval and commercialization. Historically, wevddunded our operations through public and priyddéeements of equity securities, throt
debt financing, from the proceeds from the saleusffollow-on biologics ("FOB") platform to Merck in 2009 afrdm revenues related to se
of product and our IPLEX EAP, which was discontidiie 2011. We expect to continue to incur lossesmbse we plan to fund research and
development activities and commercial launch ati¢isj and we do not expect material revenues flmaat the next few years.

As of December 31, 2013, we had toésh and cash equivalents $113.9 million, as coedpaith $92.9 million of cash, cash
equivalents, and a certificate of deposit on handfdecember 31, 2012. The $21.0 million net inseewas due to our financing activities
during 2013, which included $67.0 million of prodedrom the issuance of common stock, which wergghlg offset by the use of
$46.7 million in operations. Our working capitalsv$99.7 million as of December 31, 2013.

On July 22, 2013, the Company congaletn underwritten public offering of 6,900,000rsiseof the Company's common stock, whick
includes the underwriter's exercise in full ofatger-allotment option of 900,000 shares, at a podhe public of $10.40 per share. The
Company's net proceeds from the sale of the shafites,deducting the underwriter's discount andreged offering expenses of $4.7 million,
were $67.0 million.

We believe we currently have suffititunds to meet our financial needs for 2014. Hgeveour business strategy may require us to,
or we may otherwise determine to, raise additicaapital at
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any time through equity or debt financing(s), ®git transactions or otherwise. Such additionadliiugn may be necessary to continue to
develop our potential product candidates, to putisadicense or purchase of other technologiesptomercialize our product candidates or to
purchase other products. In addition, we may detexiio raise capital opportunistically. We canngdlae you that adequate capital will be
available on favorable terms, or at all, when ndetfeve are unable to obtain sufficient additiohaids when required, we may be forced to
delay, restrict or eliminate all or a portion ofr@asearch or development programs, dispose ofsass&chnology or cease operations.

Cash Flows

Net cash used in operating activities $46.7 million, $31.0 million, and $30.2 mitiidor the years ended December 31, 2013, 201
and 2011, respectively. Excluding the one-time $Miillion cash payment we received from Premacunfday 2013, net cash used in
operating activities for 2013 would have been $58illon. The net cash used in operating activitlesing 2013, 2012 and 2011 was primarily
for the clinical development of ARIKAYCE, which ihaled the advancement of three clinical trials, ohehich was completed in 2013.

Net cash provided by investing atitdg was $1.3 million, $61.5 million, and $34.4 linih for the years ended December 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011, respectively. The net cash provigedvesting activities in 2013 resulted from $&nitlion from the maturity of a certificate
deposit which was partially offset by fixed assetghases of $0.8 million that were primarily fongouters and lab equipment. The net cash
provided by investing activities in 2012 was priityaa result of the net sales of short-term investiis of $61.8 million. The net cash provided
by investing activities in 2011 resulted from $3BBlion of net sales of short-term investmentd thiare partially offset by fixed asset
purchases of $1.0 million that were primarily feasehold improvements.

Net cash provided by (used in) finaga&ctivities was $68.4 million, $45.4 million, &$0.1) million for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectivelychlgt provided by financing activities in 2013 u#d $67.0 million of proceeds from the
issuance of our common stock in an underwritterlipatfifering in July 2013 and $1.6 million of praeds received from stock option exerci:
Net cash provided by financing activities in 20@2liuded $20.0 million of proceeds from the issuasfcéebt and $25.7 million of procee
from the issuance of common stock registered imextpublic offering. Net cash used in financirmgjities in 2011 was primarily a result of
payments on capital lease obligations.

Contractual Obligations

On June 29, 2012, we and our domestisidiaries, as co-borrowers, entered into a lamehSecurity Agreement that allowed us to
borrow up $20.0 million in $10.0 million incremerftéoan Agreement”). We borrowed the first and set$10.0 million increments by
signing two Secured Promissory Notes ("Note A" dddte B" and collectively, the "Notes") on June 2912 and December 27, 2012,
respectively. Notes A and B bear interest at 9.288ie A was originally scheduled to be repaid avd2-month period with the first twelve
monthly payments representing interest only folldveg thirty monthly equal payments of principal antkrest. Note B was originally
scheduled to be repaid over a 36-month period thigHfirst six monthly payments representing inteosdy followed by thirty monthly equal
payments of principal and interest. The Loan Agresinprovided that in certain circumstances the Gowizould delay the first principal
payment by five months. In July 2013, subsequettieccompletion of certain ARIKAYCE-related devetognt milestones, the Company
elected to extend the interest only period undemMNbtes from July 31, 2013 to December 31, 201 3daaly the first monthly principal
repayments for the Notes from August 1,
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2013 to January 1, 2014. On November 25, 2013Ctmpany and Hercules entered into an amendmentAthendment") to the Loan
Agreement. Pursuant to the Amendment, the intenglstperiod has been extended through June 30, 20d4he first monthly principal
payment is scheduled for July 1, 2014. The Amendrakso allows the Company to further extend therggt-only period through

December 31, 2014 and delay the first paymentiatjpal until January 1, 2015, so long as the Camggzays a $100,000 fee and obtains
positive data from its phase 2 clinical trial of KRYCE in patients who have lung infections causgdNTM. The election and amendment
did not change the maturity date for Notes A anavBich is January 1, 2016. In connection with tloah Agreement, we granted the lender a
first position lien on all of our assets, excludintgllectual property. Prepayment of the loans enadrsuant to the Loan Agreement is subject
to penalty and we are required to pay an "endrai'teharge of $390,000.

We have two operating leases forceffind laboratory space located in Monmouth Jumchiew Jersey that expire on December 31,
2014. Future minimum rental payments under thesdeases total approximately $0.7 million. We dlswe an operating lease for office and
laboratory space located in Bridgewater, NJ thatres in November 2019. Future minimum rental payimender this lease total
approximately $2.4 million. We continue to leastoef space in Richmond, Virginia where our corperatadquarters was previously located.
Future minimum rental payments under this leasd sgaproximately $1.4 million. During 2011, we reted a net present value charge of
$1.2 million in general and administrative expersssociated with vacating the Richmond, Virginieilfy. We also entered into three capital
leases for lab equipment and leasehold improvenvettisnonthly payments through December 2014.

As of December 31, 2013, future paytseinder the two promissory notes, the capitalde@and minimum future payments under not
cancellable operating leases are as follows:

As of December 31, 201
Payments Due By Period
Less than After
Total 1 year 1-3Years 4-5Years 5 Years
(In thousands)

Debt obligation:

Debt maturities $ 20,00( $ 3,62¢ $ 16,37¢ $ - % -
Contractual
interest 3,08( 1,80¢ 1,27¢ - -
Capital lease
obligations
Debt maturities 64 64 - - -
Contractual
interest 1 1 - - -
Operating lease 4,48¢ 1,23i 1,83( 962 46C

Purchase obligatior - - - - -
Total contractual
obligations $ 27,63: $ 6,73 $ 19,47¢ $ 962 $ 46(

This table does not include (a) arnlgstone payments which may become payable to garties under our license and collaboration
agreements as the timing and likelihood of suchhgts are not known, (b) any royalty payments ital tharties as the amounts of such
payments, timing and/or the likelihood of such payts are not known, and (c) contracts that are@shiato in the ordinary course of business
which are not material in the aggregate in anygaepresented above.

We currently have a licensing agreetméth PARI for use of the optimized eFlow NebelisSystem for delivery of ARIKAYCE in
treating patients with CF, bronchiectasis and NTii¢étions. We have rights to several US and forésgned patents, and patent applications
involving improvements to
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the optimized eFlow Nebulizer System. Under therlging agreement, PARI is entitled to receive paymeither in cash, qualified stock or a
combination of both, at PARI's discretion, basedohievement of certain milestone events inclugihgse 3 trial initiation (which occurred in
2012), first acceptance of MAA submission (or eqigwt) in the US of ARIKAYCE and the device, firsteipt of marketing approval in the
US for ARIKAYCE and the device, and first receifptnoarketing approval in a major EU country for ARAKCE and the device, and NDA
acceptance and regulatory approval of ARIKAYCEatidition, PARI is entitled to receive royalty paymseon commercial sales of
ARIKAYCE pursuant to the licensing agreement.

In 2004 and 2009, we entered intessarch funding agreements with Cystic FibrosisnBation Therapeutics, Inc. (CFFT) whereby
we received $1.7 million and $2.2 million for eaelspective agreement in research funding for threldpment of ARIKAYCE. If
ARIKAYCE becomes an approved product for CF patientthe US, we will owe a payment to CFFT of ui$13.4 million that is payable o\
a threeyear period after approval as a commercialized d@ruge US. Furthermore, if certain sales milessoaee met within 5 years of the di
commercialization approval in the US, we would @ameadditional $3.9 million in additional paymerénce there is significant development
risk associated with ARIKAYCE, we have not accrtiegse obligations.

In 2009 and 2012, we entered into@perative research and development agreement (QRRaidh the National Institute of Allergy
and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) to design and cahdur phase 2 study of ARIKAYCE in patients witffM. NIAID has also agreed to
provide biostatistical advisory input in connectisith the phase 2 NTM study. If we decide not tatawue with the commercialization of
ARIKAYCE in NTM, NIAID will have the right to compgte the clinical trial. Further NIAID may elect porrsue its rights to obtain license
rights to certain inventions made under the CRADA.

Future Funding Requirements

We may need to raise additional epi fund our operations, to develop and commézeighARIKAYCE and to develop, acquire, in-
license or co-promote other products that addrgssam or rare diseases in the fields of pulmonolmgiynfectious disease. Our future capital
requirements may be substantial and will depenchany factors, including:

. The decisions of the FDA and EMA with respecbtw applications for marketing approval of ARIKA¥Gn the US and
Europe; the costs of activities related to the latguy approval process; and the timing of appreyidreceived;

. The timing and cost of our anticipated clinit#ls of ARIKAYCE for the treatment of adult patits with CF or for the
treatment of patients with NTM lung infections;
. The cost of putting in place the sales and ntargecapabilities necessary to be prepared fortarial commercial launch of

ARIKAYCE, if approved;

The cost of filing, prosecuting and enforcindgud claims;

The costs of our manufacturing-related actisitie

The costs associated with commercializing ARIKAY{E®&e receive marketing approval; and

Subject to receipt of marketing approval, the Isygming and collection of revenue received frates of approved products, if
any, in the future.

In May 2013, we filed a shelf regagton statement on Form S-3 with the SecuritiesExcthange Commission. This shelf registration
statement permits us to offer, from time to timey aombination of common stock, preferred stocktdecurities and warrants of up to an
aggregate of $100.0 million. In July 2013, we issapproximately $71.8 million worth of common stadiizing the shelf registration
statement. We believe we currently have sufficiants to meet our financial needs
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for 2014. However, our business strategy may requsrto, or we may otherwise determine to, raisktiadal capital at any time through eqt
or debt financing(s), strategic transactions oentlise. Such additional funding may be necessacpmdinue to develop our potential product
candidates, to pursue the license or purchasersplementary technologies, to commercialize our pebdandidates or to purchase other
products. In addition, we may determine to raiggtahopportunistically. If we are unable to obtaisditional financing, we may be required to
reduce the scope of our planned product developamhtommercialization or our plans to establishlas and marketing force, any of which
could harm our business, financial condition arslilts of operations. The source, timing and avéitglof any future financing will depend
principally upon equity and debt market conditionsgrest rates and, more specifically, our corgthprogress in our regulatory, development
and commercial activities. We cannot assure yousineh capital funding will be available on favdeaterms or at all. If we are unable to
obtain sufficient additional funds when requirea, may be forced to delay, restrict or eliminateoakh portion of our research or development
programs, dispose of assets or technology or agaesations.

To date, we have not generated amymee from ARIKAYCE. We do not know when or if wéllvgenerate any revenue. We do not
expect to generate significant revenue unless tirwa obtain marketing approval of, and commeizigl ARIKAYCE.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheetngements, other than operating leases, thatdraare reasonably likely to have a current or
future material effect on our financial conditi@ayenues or expenses, results of operations, liguichpital expenditures or capital resources.
We do not have any interest in special purposéiesitistructured finance entities or other variabterest entities.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Preparation of financial statementadcordance with generally accepted accountingimiies in the US requires us to make estimate
and assumptions affecting the reported amountsgats, liabilities, revenues and expenses andshosures of contingent assets and
liabilities. We use our historical experience atigeo relevant factors when developing our estimatesassumptions. We continually evaluate
these estimates and assumptions. The amountseat$ @swl liabilities reported in our consolidatethbee sheets and the amounts of revenue
reported in our consolidated statements of commisiie loss are effected by estimates and assunsptidrich are used for, but not limited to,
the accounting for research and development, revesrognition, beneficial conversion charge, stbaked compensation, identifiable
intangible assets and goodwill, and accrued exgeisee accounting policies discussed below areidered critical to an understanding of «
consolidated financial statements because thelicapipn places the most significant demands onjedgment. Actual results could differ frc
our estimates. For additional accounting policéeg Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statemet$simmary of Significant Accounting
Policies."

Research and Development

Research and development expensesst@mimarily of salaries, benefits and other tedacosts, including stock-based compensatior
for personnel serving our research and developfmections, and other internal operating expensesgcbst of manufacturing our drug
candidate for clinical study, the cost of condugtitinical studies, and the cost of conducting [méxal and research activities. Our expenses
related to manufacturing our drug candidate faricil study are primarily related to activitiescantract manufacturing organizations that
manufacture ARIKAYCE for our use. Our expensesteeldo clinical trials are primarily related to i&iies at contract research
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organizations that conduct and manage clinicdktoa our behalf. These contracts set forth theead work to be completed at a fixed fee or
amount per patient enrolled. Payments under thasteacts depend on performance criteria such asubeessful enroliment of patients or the
completion of clinical trial milestones as welltane-based fees. Expenses are accrued based saatedtamounts applied to the level of
patient enrollment and to activity according to dfieical trial protocol.

Nonrefundable advance payments fadgmr services that will be used or rendereddturé research and development activities are
deferred and capitalized. Such amounts are themgnéoed as an expense as the related goods averéelior the services are performed, or
when the goods or services are no longer expectbd provided.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenues when all offtlewing four criteria are present: persuasivalence of an arrangement exists; delivery has
occurred or services have been rendered; the feedor determinable; and collectability is reaably assured.

Where we have continuing performaoioégations under the terms of a collaborative mgeament, non-refundable upfront license
payments received upon contract signing are redoadaleferred revenue and recognized as revertbe eslated activities are performed. The
period over which these activities are to be pentat is based upon management's estimate of théogevent period. Changes in
management's estimate could change the periodwhieh revenue is recognized. Research and/or derelat payments are recognized as
revenues as the related research and/or develo@tivities are performed and when we have no nairtg performance obligations relatec
the research and development payment received.

Where we have no continuing involvemender a collaborative arrangement, we recordaefandable license fee revenues when we
have the contractual right to receive the paymardccordance with the terms of the collaboratigreement, and record milestones upon
appropriate notification to us of achievement @& thilestones by the collaborative partner.

We recognize revenue from milestoagnpents when earned, provided that (i) the milestrent is substantive and its achievability
was not reasonably assured at the inception cignheement and (i) we do not have ongoing perfonaarmligations related to the achieven
of the milestone earned. Milestone payments arsidered substantive if all of the following condiis are met: the milestone payment (a) is
commensurate with either the vendor's performaneehieve the milestone or the enhancement ofdhe\of the delivered item or items as a
result of a specific outcome resulting from thed@r's performance to achieve the milestone, (lateslsolely to past performance, and (c) is
reasonable relative to all of the deliverables paginent terms (including other potential milestonasideration) within the arrangement. Any
amounts received under the agreement in advangerfirmance, if deemed substantive, are recordeéfasred revenue and recognized as
revenue as we complete our performance obligations.

With regard to recognizing revenuerfuiltiple deliverable revenue arrangements, eativatable within a multiple-deliverable
revenue arrangement is accounted for as a sepamiatef accounting if both of the following critarare met: (1) the delivered item or items
have value to the customer on a standalone badiafor an arrangement that includes a geneght of return relative to the delivered item
(s), delivery or performance of the undeliveredhits) is considered probable and substantially mcoutrol.
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In addition, multiple deliverable enwue arrangement consideration is allocated ahtiegtion of an arrangement to all deliverables
using the relative selling price method. We alsphap selling price hierarchy for determining thedlisg price of a deliverable, which includes
(1) vendor-specific objective evidence, if avai®hR) third-party evidence, if vendor-specific ettjve evidence is not available, and
(3) estimated selling price if neither vendor-sfiecior third-party evidence is available.

Deferred revenue associated withranefundable payment received under a collaboratiyreement that is terminated prior to its
completion results in an immediate recognitionhaf tleferred revenue.

Beneficial Conversion Charge

When issuing debt or equity secwsitigat are convertible into our common stock asaalint from the fair value of our common st
at the date the debt or equity financing is coneditive are required to record a beneficial congarsharge in accordance with Accounting
Standards Codification 470-20 on the commitmeng @idite conversion date). The beneficial convershmarge is measured as the difference
between the fair value of the securities at the tohissue and the fair value of the common sté¢keacommitment date. We record the
beneficial conversion charge as a non-cash chargarhings. In 2011, we recorded a beneficial cawe charge of $9.2 million for the
conversion of our previously outstanding Series@&étred Stock (issued in the Transave merger)datomon stock. See Note 3 of the
consolidated financial statements for further infation about the beneficial conversion feature.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize stock-based compensatipense for awards of equity instruments to emgdeyand directors based on the grant-date
fair value of those awards. The grant-date faivealf the award is recognized as compensation sepatably over the requisite service
period, which generally equals the vesting peribthe award, and if applicable, is adjusted foramtpd forfeitures. We also grant performance
based stock options to employees. The grant-datedlue of the performance-based stock optionmeéegnized as compensation expense ove
the implicit service period using the acceleratidbaition method once it is probable that the perfance condition will be achieved. Stock-
based compensation expense is included in botandsand development expenses and general andiattative expenses in the
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive LossaWwards that were deemed to be granted outsideed@dimpany's 2000 Stock Incentive
Plan, the Company used liability accounting. Thesards were classified as a liability and were r@sneed at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Changes in fair value are inctliodrecompensation expense in the Consolidated i8&tts of Comprehensive Loss (see
additional disclosures related to awards granteside of the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan in Footr#tStock-Based Compensation” of our
consolidated financial statements located in Rarttem 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K).

The following table summarizes thsuamsptions used in determining the fair value o€lstoptions granted during the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

2013 2012 2011
Volatility 86.2%- 96.0% 99.1%- 107.1% 111.6%- 128.7%
Risk-free interest rat 0.65%- 1.65% 0.57%- 0.99%  0.91%- 2.12%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Expected option term (in
years) 6.25 6.25 6.25
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For the years ended December 31,2201 and 2011, the volatility factor was baseduwonhistorical volatility since the closing of
our merger with Transave, Inc. on December 1, 20h6.expected life was determined using the simeplimethod as described in ASC Topic
718, "Accounting for Stock Compensation”, whichhe midpoint between the vesting date and the &titeccontractual term. The risk-free
interest rate is based on the US Treasury yie&ffact at the date of grant. Forfeitures are basedctual percentage of option forfeitures since
the closing of the merger on December 1, 2010 amdhe basis for future forfeiture expectations.

Identifiable Intangible Assets

Identifiable intangible assets areameed at their respective fair values and aremairtized until commercialization. Once
commercialization occurs, these intangible assédtb®amortized over their estimated useful livEke fair values assigned to our intangible
assets are based on reasonable estimates and iessrgjven available facts and circumstances. tici@ated events or circumstances may
occur that may require us to review the assetsrfpairment. Events or circumstances that may recanirimpairment assessment include
negative clinical trial results, the non-approvBhmew drug application by a regulatory agencytemal delays in our development program or
a sustained decline in market capitalization.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets aot subject to periodic amortization. Rathergfirdte-lived intangibles are reviewed for
impairment by applying a fair value based testw@@nual basis or more frequently if events oruritstances indicate impairment may have
occurred. Events or circumstances that may reguiri@terim impairment assessment are consistehtthdise described above. We perform
annual impairment test as of October 1 of each.year

We use the income approach to dehiedair value of in-process research and developm@assets. This approach calculates fair value
by estimating future cash flows attributable to @issets and then discounting these cash flowptesent value using a risk-adjusted discount
rate. A market based valuation approach was natidered given a lack of revenues and profits byltgs approach requires significant
management judgment with respect to unobservaplgsrsuch as future volume, revenue and expensélgrates, changes in working capital
use, appropriate discount rates and other assunspaiod estimates. The estimates and assumptiotigreseonsistent with our business plans.

Accrued Expenses

We are required to estimate accrugeeses as part of our process of preparing fiahstatements. This process involves estimating
the level of service performed on our behalf aredabsociated cost incurred in instances where we ihat been invoiced or otherwise notified
of actual costs. Examples of areas in which subjeqadgments may be required include costs astastiaith services provided by contract
organizations for preclinical development, clinitddls and manufacturing of clinical materials. \Aterue for expenses associated with these
external services by determining the total cost gfven study based on the terms of the relatettaxin\We accrue for costs incurred as the
services are being provided by monitoring the stafithe trials and the invoices received from external service providers. In the case of
clinical trials, the estimated cost normally retate the projected costs of having subjects erdafieour trials, which we recognize over the
estimated term of the trial according to the numdfesubjects enrolled in the trial on an ongoingibabeginning with subject enroliment. As
actual costs become known to us, we adjust ouvatrTo date, the number of clinical trials anldtes] research service agreements has bee
relatively limited and our estimates have not défesignificantly from the actual costs incurred.
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New Accounting Pronouncements
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, an Accounting Stadd Update was issued that requires companiagsent either in a single note or
parenthetically on the face of the financial statats, the effect of significant amounts reclasgifiem each component of accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) based on its sourcéhanidcome statement line items affected by teassification. This guidance is effective
for annual and interim reporting periods beginraftgr December 15, 2012. This became effectivei$oon January 1, 2013 and its adoption
did not impact our consolidated financial stateraent

In July 2012, an Accounting Standaddgslate was issued that allows companies to agseditative factors to determine the likelihc
of indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment amdether it is necessary to perform the quantisitivpairment test currently required. This
guidance is effective for annual and interim impant tests performed for fiscal years beginningreeptember 15, 2012, with early adoptior
permitted. This became effective for us on Janda®013 and its adoption did not impact our comkstéd financial statements.

In December 2011, an Accounting Stadsl Update was issued that requires disclosurgarfnation about offsetting assets and
liabilities and related arrangements to enablesuskour consolidated financial statements to ustded the effect of those arrangements on tf
our financial position. This became effective feran January 1, 2013 and its adoption did not impacconsolidated financial statements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE S ABOUT MARKET RISK

As of December 31, 2013, our cashaasth equivalents were in cash accounts or weesiad in money funds. Such accounts or
investments are not insured by the federal govenhme

As of December 31, 2013, we had $2dilDon of fixed rate borrowings in the form of basecured promissory notes that bear interes
at 9.25% outstanding under a Loan and Security égent we entered into in June 2012. If a 10% changeerest rates were to have
occurred on December 31, 2013, this change woulthane had a material effect on the fair valuewfdebt as of that date, nor would it have
had a material effect on our future earnings oh dksvs.

The majority of our business is coetéd in US dollars. However, we do conduct certainsactions in other currencies, including
Euros or British Pounds. Fluctuations in foreigmrency exchange rates do not materially affectresults of operations. During 2013, 2012
and 2011, our results of operations were not nalbgmffected by fluctuations in foreign currencychange rates.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTA RY DATA

The information required by Item 8risluded in our Financial Statements and Suppl¢angiData listed in Item 15 of Part IV of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUN TANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participatid our principal executive officer and princigialancial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures as of DeeeBih, 2013. The term "disclosure controls and gdlaces," as defined in Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means cardaral other procedures that are designed to progamnable assurance that information
required to be disclosed by us in the periodic respihat we file or submit with the SEC is recordeebcessed, summarized and reported,
within the time periods specified in the SEC's sidad forms, and to ensure that such informati@ecésimulated and communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Officed &£hief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allinely decisions regarding required
disclosure. Based on that evaluation as of Dece®be2013 our Chief Executive Officer and Chiefdfinial Officer have concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures are effectitBeateasonable assurance level.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible faldisthing and maintaining adequate internal cordvelr financial reporting. Internal control over
financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(fdatbd-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act &41%s amended, as a process designed
or under the supervision of, our principal exeaoeitnd principal financial and accounting officensl &ffected by our board of directors and
management to provide reasonable assurance regdingimeliability of financial reporting and thegparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles and includes those sliand procedures that:

. Pertain to the maintenance of records thataseeable detail accurately and fairly reflect tamsactions and dispositions of our
assets;
. Provide reasonable assurance that transactierre@orded as necessary to permit preparatiomafidial statements in

accordance with U.S. generally accepted accoumptimgiples, and that receipts and expendituresuotompany are being me
only in accordance with authorizations of our mamagnt and board of directors; and

. Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventiomely detection of unauthorized acquisition, oselisposition of our
assets that could have a material effect on ttanéiial statements.

Because of its inherent limitatiomgernal control over financial reporting may noéyent or detect misstatements. Projections of an
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods aitgexct to the risks that controls may become inadtgbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate. Our management asstbeseflectiveness of our internal cont
over financial reporting as of December 31, 20E3€ddl on the criteria set forth by the Committe8mdnsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) in Internal Control—Integratedriework (1992 framework). A material weaknessdgficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over financiapogting, such that there is a reasonable posgilbilat a material misstatement of a company's
annual or interim financial statements will notfgrevented or detected on a timely basis. Basedamagement's assessment, management
concluded that the Company's internal control dwv@mncial reporting was effective as of DecemberZ113.
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Ernst & Young LLP, our independergistered public accounting firm, issued an attestateport on our internal control over
financial reporting. The report of Ernst & Young Rlis contained in Iltem 15 of Part IV of this Ann&sport on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None

PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPO RATE GOVERNANCE

Pursuant to General Instruction Gf3form 10-K, the information required by Item 1f0F@rm 10-K is hereby incorporated by
reference from the discussion responsive theredewitine captions "Election of Directors," "Corper&overnance" and "Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance" in oefiditive proxy statement for our 2014 annual nmegtf stockholders to be filed with the
SEC.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Pursuant to General Instruction Gf3form 10-K, the information required by Item IflFerm 10-K is hereby incorporated by
reference from the discussion responsive theredenitine captions "Compensation Discussion and Aigly'Compensation Committee
Report," "Compensation Committee Interlocks anddiesParticipation” and "Directors Compensationdin definitive proxy statement for ¢
2014 annual meeting of stockholders to be filedhlie SEC.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIA L OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Pursuant to General Instruction Gf3form 10-K, the information required by Item fZF@rm 10-K is hereby incorporated by
reference from the discussion responsive theredemine captions "Compensation Discussion and Aigly’'Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners" and "Security Ownership of Dites and Management" in our definitive proxy statetrfor our 2014 annual meeting of
stockholders to be filed with the SEC.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANS ACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Pursuant to General Instruction Gf3form 10-K, the information required by Item f3@rm 10-K is hereby incorporated by
reference from the discussion responsive theredemtine captions "Election of Directors"” and "Cerfaelationships and Related Transactic
in our definitive proxy statement for our 2014 aahmeeting of stockholders to be filed with the SEC

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Pursuant to General Instruction Gf3form 10-K, the information required by Item 1f4F@rm 10-K is hereby incorporated by
reference from the discussion responsive theredemtine caption "Corporate Governance" and "Ratific of Independent Public
Accountants"” in our definitive proxy statement éar 2014 annual meeting of stockholders to be filé@t the SEC.
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ITEM 15.

PART IV

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SC HEDULES

(@)

Documents filed as part of this report.

1.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS . The following consolidated financial statemerftthe Company are set forth
herein, beginning on page F-1:

0] Reports of Independent Registered Public Actiolg Firm

(i) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of Decembg2@®13 and 2012

(i)  Consolidated Statements of Comprehensiveslfos the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 @htl 2
(iv)  Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' §dfoir the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 201228dd
(v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows forvtbars Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

(vi)  Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

None required.

EXHIBITS.

The exhibits that are required to be filed or ipmyated by reference herein are listed in the Exhibdex.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of $acti3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act &84,3he Registrant has duly caused this repc
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theéocetuly authorized on the'® day of March, 2014.

INSMED INCORPORATED
a Virginia corporation
(Registrant

By: /sl WILLIAM H. LEWIS

William H. Lewis
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer) and Directc

Pursuant to the requirements of theuBities Exchange Act of 1934, this report hasitsgned below by the following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacitiesciaigid on the & day of March, 2014.

Signature Title

/s WILLIAM H. LEWIS President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal

Executive Officer) and Director

William H. Lewis

/s/ ANDREW T. DRECHSLER Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial

Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

Andrew T. Drechsle

/s DONALD HAYDEN, JR.
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Donald Hayden, Ji

/s AL ALTOMARI
Director
Al Altomari
/s/ STEINAR J. ENGELSEN, M.D.
Director
Steinar J. Engelsen, M.
/s/ DAVID W.J. MCGIRR
Director
David W.J. McGirr
/sl MELVIN SHAROKY, M.D.
Director
Melvin Sharoky, M.D.
/sl RANDALL W. WHITCOMB, M.D.
Director

Randall W. Whitcomb, M.D
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Insmedricorporated

We have audited the accompanying @ateted balance sheets of Insmed Incorporated Becember 31, 2013 and 2012, and the
related consolidated statements of comprehenssg shockholders' equity, and cash flows for ed¢heothree years in the period ended
December 31, 2013. These financial statementharsesponsibility of the Company's management.régponsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordamitle the standards of the Public Company Accoun@versight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet dndbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statertsereferred to above present fairly, in all materéspects, the consolidated financial position of
Insmed Incorporated at December 31, 2013 and 201®the consolidated results of its operationsisnthsh flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2013, in confgrmith US generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordarnitie tive standards of the Public Company Accoun@wgrsight Board (United States), Insmed
Incorporated's internal control over financial repm as of December 31, 2013, based on critet@béished in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@imgtions of the Treadway Commission (1992 franrkjvand our report dated
March [6], 2014 expressed an unqualified opiniar¢ion.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

MetroPark, New Jersey
March 6, 2014
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Insmedricorporated

We have audited Insmed Incorporatetksnal control over financial reporting as ofd@enber 31, 2013, based on criteria establishe
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issuedtiy Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of thea@way Commission (1992
framework) (the COSO criteria). Insmed Incorpor&tedanagement is responsible for maintaining dffeéhternal control over financial
reporting, and for its assessment of the effecdgsrof internal control over financial reportinglirded in the accompanying Management's
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporti@®gir responsibility is to express an opinion om ¢bmpany's internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordamitk the standards of the Public Company Accoun@wgrsight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigéénternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe@is: audit included obtaining an understanding teérimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etastilg and evaluating the design and operatifegtéfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre®& considered necessary in the circumstancefeéliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control overaitial reporting is a process designed to provédsaenable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegeinerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures that€ttpin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseocfompany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could havaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitatioméernal control over financial reporting may noéyent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future pesiade subject to the risk that controls may beciomeéequate because of changes in condit
or that the degree of compliance with the poligeprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Insmed Incorporatedimtained, in all material respects, effective liné control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2013, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordanitie tive standards of the Public Company Account@ngrsight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Insmed Incorpoested December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the relatesbtidated statements of
comprehensive loss, stockholders' equity, and tasls for each of the three years in the periodeghBecember 31, 2013 and our report date
March 6, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinionetbier

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

MetroPark, New Jersey
March 6, 2014
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INSMED INCORPORATED
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except par value and share data)

Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Certificate of deposi
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Total current asse

In-process research and developn
Other asset
Fixed assets, ni

Total asset

Liabilities and shareholders' equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Accrued compensatic
Accrued lease expense, curr
Deferred ren
Capital lease obligations, curre
Current portion of lon-term debt
Total current liabilities

Accrued lease expense, l-term
Capital lease obligations, lo-term
Debt, lon¢-term
Total liabilities
Shareholders' equit
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 500,000,000 autbdriz
shares, 39,137,679 and 31,488,204 issued and oditsga
shares at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
respectively
Additional paic-in capital
Warrant to purchase common st
Accumulated defici
Total shareholders' equi
Total liabilities and shareholders' equ

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana&dstents
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As of December 31

2013 2012
$ 113,89 $ 90,78:
- 2,15¢
2,26¢ 642
116,16: 93,57¢
58,20( 58,20(
328 117
1,81 1,66¢
$ 176,49 $ 153,56
$ 5,92¢ $ 7,06(
3,90¢ 2,93
2,83¢ 2,207
307 20k
12¢ 14¢
64 96
3,28¢ 3,007
16,45¢ 15,74;
38( 647
- 64
16,33¢ 16,22
33,17 32,67
391 31E
534,55 455,321
- 79C
(391,62) (335,549
143,32 120,88.
$ 176,49 $ 153,56
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INSMED INCORPORATED
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands, except per share data)

Years ended December 3

2013 2012 2011
License fee: $ - 3 - 3% 1,002
Other revenu: 11,50( - -
Other expanded access program income - - 3,41¢
Total revenue 11,50( - 4,41
Operating expense
Research and developm 44,27¢ 29,78: 28,62
General and administrati\ 22,23t 12,657 11,52:
Impairment los: - - 25,99(
Total operating expens: 66,51¢ 42,43¢ 66,13¢
Operating los! (55,01Y (42,439 (61,719
Investment incom 16€ 1,822 2,06¢
Interest expens (2,417 (763 (10
Other, ne (33 5 1
Loss before income taxi (57,299 (41,379 (59,669)
Benefit from income taxe (1,227 - -
Net loss (56,077 (41,379 (59,669
Accretion of beneficial conversion char - - (9,175
Net loss attributable to common stockholc ~ $ (56,079 $ (41,374 $ (68,839
Basic and diluted net loss attributable to
common stockholders per shi $ (1.60) $ (1.56) $ (2.95)
Weighted average basic and diluted commc
shares outstandir 34,98( 26,54¢ 23,34¢
Net loss attributable to common stockholc  $ (56,079 $ (41,379 $ (68,839
Comprehensive los
Unrealized loss on investmer - (450 (543)
Comprehensive loss attributable to commor
stockholder $ (56,079 $ (41,829 $ (69,387

See accompanying notes to audited consolidateddiabstatements
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INSMED INCORPORATED
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
(in thousands)

Accumulated
Other
Accumulated Comprehensive

Additional

Common Stock Preferred Stock Warrant

Paid-in

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Income (Loss)  Total

Balance at
December 31,
2010

Comprehensive
loss:

Net loss

Unrealized los
on
investment

1 for 10 reverse
stock split

Exercise of stoc
options

Conversion of
preferred stocl
into common
stock

Stock
compensation
expenst

Balance at
December 31,
2011

Comprehensive
loss:

Net loss

Unrealized los
on
investmentt

Exercise of stoc
options

Net proceed
from issuance
of common
stock

Issuance of
common stock
for vesting of
RSUs

Fair value of
warrants
granted in
connection
with debt
financing

Stock
compensation
expense

Balance at
December 31,
2012

Comprehensive
loss:

Net loss

Exercise of stoc
options

Net proceed
from issuance
of common
stock

Issuance of
common stock
for vesting of
RSUs

Exercise of
warrants

Reclass of stock
compensation
expense for
liability awards
to equity

Stock
compensation
expenst

Balance at

15,65 $

9,17¢

1568 917t $ 91¢ -

(2,239

91 (9,179 (91§

- $ 423,87

2,23t

32

1,59¢

$

(234,510 $ 992 $ 192,84

(59,669 (59,669

(547) (549

32

1,59¢

24,83: $

3C

6,304

321

24¢ -5 - -

63

33C

- $ 427,74

21&

25,59t

®

79C

1,77

$

(294,17) $ 45C $ 134,26’

(41,379 (41,379

(450) (450

214

25,65¢

79C

1,77

31,48¢ $

37z

6,90(

154

22t

31t - 8 -

69

2 (330

33C $

(790

79C $ 455,32!

1,622

66,94¢

@
78¢

3,371

6,501

$

(335,54 $ - $ 120,88

(56,079 (56,079

1,62¢

67,017

3,371

6,501




December 31
2013 39,137 $§ 391 - $ - - % - $ 534,55 $ (391,62) $ - $ 143,32«

See accompanying notes to audited consolidateddiabstatements
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INSMED INCORPORATED
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Years ended December 3
2013 2012 2011

Operating activities
Net loss $ (56,079 $ (41,379 $ (59,669
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash use

operating activities

Depreciation and amortizatic 68( 561 343
Stock based compensation expe 8,66¢ 2,981 1,59¢
Gain on sale of asset, r 2 5) (€D}
Gain on sale of sh¢-term investments, ni - (833) -
Impairment los: - - 25,99(
Amortization of debt discount and debt issuanc
costs 33¢ 23¢€ z
Accrual of the end of term charge on the ¢ 16C 44 -
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl - 757 (28€)
Prepaid expenses and other as (1,837 (180) (2149
Accounts payabl (1,137 4,72¢ 884
Accrued expenses and deferred | 2,15¢ 927 667
Accrued lease expens (255) (259 1,201
Accrued compensatic 632 1,412 (322)
Deferred revenu - - (402)
Net cash used in operating activit (46,66¢) (31,017 (30,205
Investing activities
Purchase of fixed asse (82¢) (290) (979
Proceeds from sale of as: 2 5 -
Maturity of a certificate of depos 2,15z - -
Sales of sho-term investment - 81,46¢ 36,50(
Purchases of shterm investment - (19,657 (1,167
Net cash provided by investing activiti 1,32¢ 61,52: 34,36(
Financing activities
Payments on capital lease obligati (96) (120 (82
Proceeds from issuance of d - 20,00( -
Proceeds from issuance of common st 67,01" 25,65¢ -
Proceeds from exercise of stock optir 1,62¢ 214 32
Payment of debt issuance cc (100 (328) -
Net cash provided by (used in) financing
activities 68,44" 45,424 (50)
Increase in cash and cash equivali 23,11: 75,93¢ 4,10¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢ 90,78: 14,84¢ 10,74:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $ 113,89: $ 90,78: $ 14,84¢
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow informat
Cash paid for intere: $ 1,80¢ $ 39€ $ 10
Cash received for taxes, r $ 1,221 $ - $ =
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing
financing activities
Capital lease obligations incurr $ - - $ 19¢
Unrealized loss on investmel $ - $ (450 $ (5439
Accretion of beneficial conversion char $ - - $ (9,17%)
Value of warrant exercised by converting the
warrant into shares of common stock ("net
issuance method' $ 79C $ - 8 -
Fair value of warrant granted in connection witl
debt financing $ - 79C $ =

Conversion of Series B preferred stock into
common stocl $ - 3 - 8 91¢




See accompanying notes to audited consolidateddiabstatements

98




Table of Contents

INSMED INCORPORATED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Description of Business and Basis of Rrptation

Description of Business-Insmed is a biopharmaceutical company focusedeseldping and commercializing inhaled therapies for
patients battling serious lung diseases that dem dife threatening. The Company's lead producticiate, ARIKAYCE®, or liposomal
amikacin for inhalation, is an inhaled antibiotieatment that delivers a proven and potent angieitife directly to the site of serious lung
infections.

The Company is currently conductinghase 2 clinical trial in the United States (UBJ £anada of ARIKAYCE in patients who have
lung infections caused by non-tuberculous mycobec{BlTM) and the Company expects to report top-lifinical results from the double-
blind phase of this clinical trial in March 2014.2013, the Company concluded a phase 3 cliniizdlitr Europe and Canada of ARIKAYCE
cystic fibrosis (CF) patients who have lung infens caused blyseudomonas aeruginoé&seudomonal The CF and NTM target indicatio
address orphan patient populations. The Compatmgtegy includes plans to continue to develop ARWGQE to broaden the NTM indication
and for additional indications beyoRgeudomonam CF and NTM. The Company also plans to develoguae, in-license or co-promote
other products that address orphan or rare dis@asies fields of pulmonology and infectious diseaBhe Company's current primary
development focus is to obtain regulatory appréeaARIKAYCE in these two initial indications and prepare for commercialization in the
United States, Europe, Japan and Canada. If apir&WRIKAY CE will be the first once-a-day inhaledtaiotic treatment option available for
these CF and NTM indications.

The Company was incorporated in tboen@onwealth of Virginia on November 29, 1999. Orc&aber 1, 2010, the Company
completed a business combination with Transave (Tfrransave), a privately held, New Jersey-basedrpaceutical company focused on the
development of differentiated and innovative inkdgbarmaceuticals for the treatment of serious lofegtions. The integration with Transave
was completed in 2011. The Company's continuingaijfpms are based on the technology and produstsrizally developed by Transave. 1
Company's principal executive offices are locateMlonmouth Junction, New Jersey.

Basis of Presentation-The consolidated financial statements includeatteounts of the Company and its wholly-owned sliasas,
Transave, LLC, Insmed Pharmaceuticals, Incorporatstned Limited, and Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, ipooated (Celtrix). All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have beeimaled in consolidation.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policge

Use of Estimates-The preparation of the consolidated financialestants in conformity with accounting principles geaily
accepted in the United States (GAAP) requires mamagt to make estimates and assumptions that #ffeemounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements and accompambgs. The Company bases its estimates and judgroeiitistorical experience and on
various other assumptions that it believes areoretsle under the circumstances. The amounts ofsaasé liabilities reported in the
Company's balance sheets and the amounts of reaeuexpenses reported for each period presergesffacted by estimates and
assumptions, which are used for, but not limitedhe accounting for revenue recognition, stockebasompensation, income taxes, loss
contingencies, the beneficial conversion chargewarrant fair value calculation, impairment ofingibles and long lived assets and
accounting for research and development costs.ahotsults could differ from those estimates.
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INSMED INCORPORATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting PoliggContinued)

Prior Period Reclassifications-Certain amounts in the 2011 consolidated finarat@lements were reclassified to conform to the
2012 presentation. Specifically, the Company atieda portion of certain operating expenses fronegd and administrative expense to
research and development expense in 2012 and theadd11 amounts to conform to the current yeesgamtation for comparability purposes.

Investment Income and Interest ExpensInvestment income consists of interest and divitiecome earned on our cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investments, along witthized gains (losses) on the sale of investmémerest expense consists primarily of
interest costs related to our debt and capitakleatigations.

Cash and Cash EquivalentsThe Company considers cash equivalents to be highlid investments with maturities of three mot
or less from the date of purchase.

Fixed Assets, NetFixed assets are recorded at cost and are defg@cia a straight-line basis over the estimatefluBees of the
assets. Estimated useful lives of three to sevarsya&re used for computer equipment, laboratorjpetgnt, office equipment and furniture and
fixtures. Leasehold improvements are amortized tweshorter of the lease term or the estimatefliulife of the asset. Long-lived assets,
such as lab equipment, are reviewed for impairmdrnever events or changes in circumstances imdibat the carrying amount of an asset
may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assebetheld and used is measured by a comparisore afatnying amount of an asset to
estimated undiscounted future cash flows expectée tgenerated by the asset. If the carrying amafusm asset exceeds its estimated future
cash flows, then an impairment charge is recogrfiaethe amount by which the carrying value of #sset exceeds the fair value of the asset.

Identifiable Intangible Assets-Identifiable intangible assets are measured ét tegpective fair values and are not amortized unt
commercialization. Once commercialization occutese intangible assets will be amortized over th&imated useful lives. The fair values
assigned to the Company's intangible assets aesl lmsreasonable estimates and assumptions giadalae facts and circumstances.
Unanticipated events or circumstances may occlimtiag require the Company to review the assetgfpairment. Events or circumstances
that may require an impairment assessment incladative clinical trial results, the non-approvabafiew drug application by a regulatory
agency, material delays in our development programsustained decline in market capitalization.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets aot subject to periodic amortization. Rathergifirdte-lived intangibles are reviewed for
impairment by applying a fair value based test m@m@nual basis or more frequently if events ornuitstances indicate impairment may have
occurred. Events or circumstances that may reguiri@terim impairment assessment are consistehtthidise described above. The Company
performs its annual impairment test as of Octobef dach year.

The Company uses the income apprtaderive the fair value of iprocess research and development assets. Thisaappralculate
fair value by estimating future cash flows attréthle to the assets and then discounting thesefloaghto a present value using a risk-adjustec
discount rate. A market based valuation approachneaconsidered given a lack of revenues andtprfafi the Company. This approach
requires significant management judgment with resfmeunobservable inputs
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INSMED INCORPORATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting PoliggContinued)

such as future volume, revenue and expense gratgh,rchanges in working capital use, appropriatodnt rates and other assumptions anc
estimates. The estimates and assumptions usedrmsistent with the Company's business plans.

Debt Issuance CostsDebt issuance costs are amortized using the aféektterest rate method, and amortized to intezepense
over the term of the debt. Debt issuance coststpatiae lender are reflected as a discount to ¢, dind debt issuance costs paid to other thir
parties are reflected as other assets in the ddased balance sheets.

Fair Value Measurements-The Company categorizes its financial assets iabiities measured and reported at fair valuehi t
financial statements on a recurring basis based thmlevel of judgments associated with the inpgesd to measure their fair value.
Hierarchical levels, which are directly relatedhe amount of subjectivity associated with the ispised to determine the fair value of
financial assets and liabilities, are as follows:

. Level 1—Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices iivacharkets for identical assets or liabilitiests measurement date.

. Level 2—Inputs (other than quoted prices included in Leyedre either directly or indirectly observable floe assets or liabili
through correlation with market data at the measerd date and for the duration of the instrumearttgcipated life.

. Level 3—Inputs reflect management's best estimiatéhat market participants would use in pricing &sset or liability at the
measurement date. Consideration is given to theanferent in the valuation technique and the indlerent in the inputs to the
model.

Each major category of financial &ssad liabilities measured at fair value on a néeg basis are categorized in the tables below
based upon the lowest level of significant inputht® valuations. The fair value hierarchy also nexguan entity to maximize the use of
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobsérvaputs when measuring fair value. Financialrimeents in Level 1 generally include
US treasuries and mutual funds listed in activeketsr
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INSMED INCORPORATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting PoliggContinued)

The following table presents assatlabilities measured at fair value as of Decenfiie 2013 and December 31, 2012 (in
thousands).

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Usini
Quoted Prices in Quoted Prices in

Active Markets Inactive Markets Significant
for for Unobservable Inputs
Identical Assets Identical Assets
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
As of
December 3.
2013:
Assets:
Cash and
cash
equivale $ 113,89: $ 113,89: $ - 3 =
$ 113,89: $ 113,89: $ - 0% -
As of
December 3.
2012:
Assets:
Cash and
cash
equivale $ 90,78: $ 90,78: $ - 8 =
Certificate
of
deposit 2,15: 2,158 - -
$ 92,93¢ % 92,93t $ -9 -

The Company's cash and cash equitgapetmit daily redemption and the fair valuesh&fse investments are based upon the quoted
prices in active markets provided by the holdim@ficial institutions. Cash equivalents consistaqfitl investments with a maturity of three
months or less from the date of purchase and thi-tsdrm investments consist of instruments withuriies greater than three months.

We recognize transfers between lewlsin the fair value hierarchy, if any, at thedeof each quarter. There were no transfers in or
out of Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 during 2013 &l 2.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 Gbmpany held no securities that were in an urredlioss or gain position. The Company's
unrealized loss on investments for the years e@0&@& and 2011 of $0.5 million and $0.5 million,pestively, previously were presented
incorrectly as zero and a gain of $0.5 million pexgtively, in the prior year's Consolidated Statetnef Comprehensive Loss. The Company's
comprehensive loss is now correctly presented.d s no impact on net loss during either period esult of the correction of these
immaterial clerical errors. During 2012, the Compagalized a net gain of $0.8 million from the saleshort term investments.

The Company reviews the status oheacurity quarterly to determine whether an othan-temporary impairment has occurred. In
making our determination, we consider a numbeaofdrs, including: (1) the significance of the dee] (2) whether the securities were rated
below investment grade, (3) how long the securhigége been in an unrealized loss position, and#pbility and intent to retain the
investment for a sufficient period of time fordt tecover.
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Concentration of Credit Risk-Financial instruments that potentially subject @@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consist
primarily of cash, cash equivalents and short-tenwastments. The Company places its cash equisaleithh high credit-quality financial
institutions and may invest its short-term investisan US treasury securities, mutual funds andegawent agency bonds. The Company has
established guidelines relative to credit ratingd maturities that seek to maintain safety anddigy

The Company sources its raw matefial® single suppliers. In addition, the productafrthe Company's product candidate is
performed by a sole manufacturer. The inabilityhef suppliers or manufacturer to fulfill supply vég@ments of the Company could materially
impact future operating results. A change in thati@nship with the suppliers or manufacturer, wraverse change in their business, could
materially impact future operating results.

Revenue Recognitierln 2013, the Company's other revenue solely ctmeisan $11.5 million payment received from Preanac
(now Shire plc) in exchange for the Company's righeceive royalties under its license agreemeéitht Rremacure. We recorded this as other
revenue after all four revenue recognition criteviere present and the Company had no continuirfgipeance obligations related to the
payment received. The Company's revenues in 2014 fn@m (1) $3.4 million of cost recovery reventigsn the use of IPLEX® in an
Expanded Access Program (EAP) the Company estellishltaly to provide IPLEX® to physicians for uisetheir patients with Amyotrophic
Lateral Sclerosis (ALS) (this program was discamithin December 2011), and (2) a $1.0 million neftindable upfront license payment
received from Eleison Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Eleiséor the licensing of the Company's lipid-comy@e cisplatin and/or liposomal cisplatin
products and technology to Eleison. We recordeddrwenue during 2011 as we had the contractuat tagreceive it and we have no
continuing involvement under this licensing agreetne

The Company recognizes revenues aHef the following four criteria are present: peasive evidence of an arrangement exists;
delivery has occurred or services have been redgtre fee is fixed or determinable; and colledibis reasonably assured.

Where the Company has continuinggraréince obligations under the terms of a collalbgarrangement, non-refundable upfront
license payments received upon contract signingem@rded as deferred revenue and recognized asue\as the related activities are
performed. The period over which these activitiesta be performed is based upon management'sagstofithe development period. Chan
in management's estimate could change the periedvaivich revenue is recognized. Research and/@loiement payments are recognized as
revenues as the related research and/or develomigvities are performed and when the Companynbasontinuing performance obligations
related to the research and development paymeeitvest

Where the Company has no continumglvement under a collaborative arrangement, thia@any records nonrefundable license fe
revenues when the Company has the contractualtigletceive the payment, in accordance with thegseof the collaboration agreement, and
records milestones upon appropriate notificatiotheoCompany of achievement of the milestones byctilaborative partner.
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The Company recognizes revenue fralastone payments when earned, provided that€intilestone event is substantive and its
achievability was not reasonably assured at thepiticn of the agreement and (ii) the Company de¢save ongoing performance obligations
related to the achievement of the milestone eaddstone payments are considered substantivédf she following conditions are met: the
milestone payment (a) is commensurate with eithervendor's performance to achieve the milestotieeoenhancement of the value of the
delivered item or items as a result of a specifitome resulting from the vendor's performancectoeve the milestone, (b) relates solely to
past performance, and (c) is reasonable relatiedl af the deliverables and payment terms (ingigdither potential milestone consideration)
within the arrangement. Any amounts received utitieiagreement in advance of performance, if deesubstantive, are recorded as deferred
revenue and recognized as revenue as the Comparplates its performance obligations.

With regard to recognizing revenuerfultiple deliverable revenue arrangements, eatiietable within a multiple-deliverable
revenue arrangement is accounted for as a sepamiatef accounting if both of the following critarare met: (1) the delivered item or items
have value to the customer on a standalone badiafor an arrangement that includes a geneght of return relative to the delivered item
(s), delivery or performance of the undeliveredhits) is considered probable and substantially mcoutrol.

In addition, multiple deliverable enue arrangement consideration is allocated dahtfegption of an arrangement to all deliverables
using the relative selling price method. The Conypalso applies a selling price hierarchy for defaing the selling price of a deliverable,
which includes (1) vendor-specific objective evidenif available, (2) third-party evidence, if vemespecific objective evidence is not
available, and (3) estimated selling price if neithendor-specific nor third-party evidence is &alkle.

Deferred revenue associated withranefundable payment received under a collaboratgreement that is terminated prior to its
completion results in an immediate recognitionhef tleferred revenue.

Research and DevelopmenResearch and development expenses consist pyméashlaries, benefits and other related costs,
including stock based compensation, for persorgmirgg in our research and development functiond,aher internal operating expenses, th
cost of manufacturing our drug candidate, includimgmedical devices for drug delivery, for clidistudy, the cost of conducting clinical
studies, and the cost of conducting preclinical @sgarch activities. The Company's expenses delatmanufacturing its drug candidate and
medical devices for clinical study are primarilyated to activities at contract manufacturing oigations that manufacture ARIKAYCE and
the medical devices for the Company's use. The @oyip expenses related to clinical trials are prilgneelated to activities at contract
research organizations that conduct and manageatlinials on the Company's behalf. These cordraet forth the scope of work to be
completed at a fixed fee or amount per patientllatoPayments under these contracts primarily deme performance criteria such as the
successful enrollment of patients or the completibelinical trial milestones as well as time-basees. Expenses are accrued based on
contracted amounts applied to the level of pagembliment and to activity according to the clinit@l protocol. Nonrefundable advance
payments for goods or services that will be useetondered for future research and developmentigetare
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deferred and capitalized. Such amounts are the@gnéred as an expense as the related goods averédlior the services are performed, or
when the goods or services are no longer expeatbd provided.

Stock-Based CompensatiefThe Company recognizes stock-based compensatmaneg for awards of equity instruments to
employees and directors based on the grant-datediaie of those awards. The gralate fair value of the award is recognized as corsgi@on
expense ratably over the requisite service pevitii;h generally equals the vesting period of tharawand if applicable, is adjusted for
expected forfeitures. We also grant performancedasock options to employees. The grant-datevédire of the performance-based stock
options is recognized as compensation expensetloeémplicit service period using the acceleratidbaution method once it is probable that
the performance condition will be achieved. Stoekdd compensation expense is included in bothnetsaad development expenses and
general and administrative expenses in the CoratelidStatements of Comprehensive Loss.

Certain awards deemed to be grantéside of the Company's equity incentive plans iregihe Company to use liability accounting.
These awards are classified as a liability andemeeasured at fair value at the end of each reypperiod until such time they are deemed to
be granted under the Company's equity incentivespl@hanges in fair value are included in compémsa&ixpense in the Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Loss (see additioeellodiures related to awards granted outside d¥@B8 Stock Incentive Plan in Footnote 9,
Stock-Based Compensation).

Income Taxes-The Company accounts for income taxes under thet asd liability method. Deferred tax assets @tillities are
recognized for the future tax consequences attiilatto differences between the financial stateroanying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases and ajireg loss carry forwards. Deferred tax assetsliabdities are measured using enacted tax 1
expected to apply to taxable income in the yearghith those temporary differences are expectdukteecovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a changexirates is recognized in income in the period ithdudes the enactment date.

A valuation allowance is recordeadduce the deferred tax assets to the amountstieaipiected to be realized. In evaluating the nee
for a valuation allowance, we take into accountouas factors, including the expected level of faettaxable income and available tax planning
strategies. If actual results differ from the asptioms made in the evaluation of our valuationwafiace, we record a change in valuation
allowance through income tax expense in the pesimth determination is made.

The Company uses a comprehensive hiimdieBow it measures, presents and discloses aertain tax position taken or expected tc
taken in a tax return. The Company may recogniedak benefit from an uncertain tax position ofliy is more likely than not that the tax
position will be sustained on examination by taxaughorities, based solely on the technical mefithe position. The tax benefits recognized
in the financial statements from such a positiocousth be measured based on the largest benefih#isad greater than 50% likelihood to be
sustained upon ultimate settlement. The Companybasicertain tax positions as of December 31, 2048qualify for either recognition or
disclosure in the consolidated financial statements
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The Company's policy for interest ethalties related to income tax exposures isdogmize interest and penalties as a component
the income taxes on continuing operations in thesBtidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss.

Net Loss Per Common ShareBasic net loss per common share is computed bylidiyinet loss attributable to common stockholi
by the weighted average number of common sharasamating during the period. Diluted net loss penegmn share is computed by dividing
net loss attributable to common stockholders bywbrghted average number of common shares and dilbiéve securities outstanding during
the period. Potentially dilutive securities fromoalt options, restricted stock units and warransuxchase common stock would be antidilutive
as the Company incurred a net loss. Potentiallytidé common shares resulting from the assumecdisesof outstanding stock options and
warrants are determined based on the treasury stetikod.

The following table sets forth theaaciliation of the weighted average number of ehattributable to common stockholders used tc
compute basic net loss per share for the yearsddddeember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.

Twelve Months Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
(In thousands, except per share amount:

Numerator:
Net loss attributable to common stockhold:  $ (56,079 $ (41,379 $ (68,839

Denominator
Weighted average common shares used in
calculation of basic net loss per she 34,98( 26,54¢ 23,34¢
Effect of dilutive securities
Common stock option - - -
Restricted stock and restricted stock u - - -
Common stock warrai - - -
Weighted average common shares outstan:
used in calculation of diluted net loss per

share 34,98( 26,54¢ 23,34¢
Net loss per shar
Basic and Dilutec $ (1.60) $ (1.56) $ (2.95)

The following potentially dilutive cerities have been excluded from the computatidmslated weighted-average common shares
outstanding as of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 281leir effect would have been anti-dilutive fiousands).

2013 2012 2011

Warrants to purchase common st - 33C 15¢
Stock options to purchase common st 3,63:  1,81¢ 89z
Restricted stock and restricted stock u 93 21¢ 487
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Segment Informatior-The Company currently operates in one businesseeg which is the development and commercialipatip
inhaled therapies for patients with serious lursgdses. A single management team that reporte ©htef Executive Officer comprehensively
manages the entire business. The Company doepeai@te separate lines of business with respets fvaducts or product candidates.
Accordingly, the Company does not have separatertaipe segments.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronountents—In February 2013, an Accounting Standards Updaig issued that requires
companies to present either in a single note anghetically on the face of the financial stateragtite effect of significant amounts
reclassified from each component of accumulatedratbmprehensive income (loss) based on its s@mde¢he income statement line items
affected by the reclassification. This guidancefigctive for annual and interim reporting peritéginning after December 15, 2012. This
became effective for the Company on January 1, 20i3ts adoption did not impact the Company's clidated financial statements.

In July 2012, an Accounting Standddgslate was issued that allows companies to agseditative factors to determine the likelihc
of indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment amdether it is necessary to perform the quantisitiwpairment test currently required. This
guidance is effective for annual and interim impeant tests performed for fiscal years beginningré®eptember 15, 2012, with early adoptior
permitted. This became effective for us on Janda013 and its adoption did not impact the Comfsaognsolidated financial statements.

In December 2011, an Accounting Stadsl Update was issued that requires disclosurdarmation about offsetting assets and
liabilities and related arrangements to enablesusEthe Company's consolidated financial statesientinderstand the effect of those
arrangements on the Company's financial posititie. few guidance is effective for annual reportiagqas beginning on or after January 1,
2013, and interim periods within those annual gid his became effective for the Company on Janlia?013 and its adoption did not
impact the Company's consolidated financial statese

3. Beneficial Conversion Charge ("BCC")

When issuing debt or equity secwsitleat are convertible into common stock at a distfrom the fair value of the common stock at
the date the debt or equity financing is committed,Company is required to record a BCC in acawdavith Accounting Standards
Codification ("ASC") 470-20. This BCC is measurexitlae difference between the fair values of theistes at the time of issue and the fair
value of the common stock at the commitment date.

In 2011, a non-cash BCC of $9.2 miillivas recorded when the Series B Preferred Staskcanverted into common stock. The BCC
represents a $1.00 per share discount on thedhiewf our common stock. The carrying value ofgreferred stock was based on its fair vi
at issuance, which was estimated using the comnoak price reduced for a lack of marketability beém the issuance date and the anticip
date of conversion.
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Accrued expenses consist of the ¥alg:

As of December 31

2013 2012
(in thousands)
Accrued clinical trial expens $ 2,48 $ 1,46(
Accrued technical operation expen 1,22( -
Liability for stock-based compensation
awards - 1,204
Accrued professional fe¢ 24 18t
Accrued interest payab 15¢ 80
Other accrued expens 18 4
$ 3,908 $ 2,93:
5. Identifiable Intangible Assets and Goodiwi

In 2011, the Company recorded a restiémpairment loss of $26.0 million related to ith@airment of in-process research and
development and goodwill. The impairment resultednfthe fact that in August 2011, subsequent topbase 2 trials and prior to starting a
phase 3 trial, the Company announced that the FBéep a clinical hold on its phase 3 clinical sifdr ARIKAYCE in CF patients with
Pseudomonalung infections and in patients with NTM lung infens. A clinical hold is a notification issued the FDA to the sponsor to
delay a proposed clinical trial or suspend an amgyaiinical trial. The clinical holds were subsenqthg lifted in the first half of 2012.

The Company's management determimedlinical hold was an indicator of possible inpent of in-process research and
development and goodwill assets due to the assacaatditional costs, and, therefore, interim impeint testing was performed as of
September 30, 2011. Using the income approachtphairment analysis compared the fair value of thprocess research and development
intangible assets with their respective carryingpanis. This approach calculates fair value by eattimg future cash flows attributable to the
assets and then discounting these cash flows teseamt value using a risk-adjusted discount ratmafket based valuation approach was not
considered given a lack of revenues and profitsiferCompany. This approach requires significamagament judgment with respect to
unobservable inputs such as future volume, revandeexpense growth rates, changes in working daysiéa appropriate discount rates and
other assumptions and estimates. The estimateassoehptions used are consistent with the Comphuoglaess plans. Additionally, the
carrying value of the business exceeded its fdiresaand accordingly we performed the second stéipeampairment test by comparing the
carrying value of goodwill to its implied fair vaduThe impairment review resulted in impairmenséssfor both assets. Non-cash charges of
$19.7 million and $6.3 million were recognized foe decline in the fair value of in-process reseanmd development and goodwill assets,
respectively, as of September 30, 2011. The noh-claarge of $26.0 million was recorded as an inmpaitt loss and classified as an operating
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Compsateehoss.
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We believe there are no indicatorsrgfairment of the Company's in-process researdhdamelopment intangible assets as of

December 31, 2013.

6. Fixed Assets, net

Fixed assets are stated at cost apctkediated or amortized using the straight-linehoet based on useful lives as follows:

Asset Description

Estimated

Useful Life (years)

As of December 31

Lab equipmen
Furniture and
fixtures
Computer
hardware and
software
Office equipmen
Manufacturing
Equipment
Leasehold
improvements
Construction in
Progress (CIP

Less accumulatec
depreciation an
amortizatior

Fixed assets, ni

7

lease tern

2013 2012
(in thousands)
$ 3371 $ 2,87:
65 65
71€ 58¢
117 117
37t 32t
61z 581
11€ -
5,37¢ 4,54¢
(3,562 (2,882
$ 1,812 $ 1,66¢

Depreciation and amortization expemae $0.7 million, $0.6 million and $0.3 millionrfthe years ended December 31, 2013, 2012
and 2011, respectively. Depreciation expense irdutbpreciation for equipment under capital leédigations.

Fixed assets include equipment halieu capital lease obligations with an approxinmatiecarrying value of $0.1 million and
$0.3 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012,aetypely.

7. Debt

On June 29, 2012, the Company andaitsestic subsidiaries, as co-borrowers, entettedaii.oan and Security Agreement that
allowed the Company to borrow up $20.0 million 0% million increments ("Loan Agreement"). The Gummy borrowed the first and secc
$10.0 million increments by signing two Securedrissory Notes ("Note A" and "Note B" and collectiyehe "Notes") on June 29, 2012 and
December 27, 2012, respectively. Notes A and B indarest at 9.25%. Note A was originally schedutete repaid over a 42-month period
with the first twelve monthly payments represeniimgrest only followed by thirty monthly equal pagnts of principal and interest. Note B
was originally scheduled to be repaid over a 36tmperiod with the first six monthly payments
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representing interest only followed by thirty mdgtaqual payments of principal and interest. Thah.égreement provided that in certain
circumstances the Company could delay the firstggpal payment by five months. In July 2013, sulossd to the completion of certain
ARIKAYCE-related development milestones, the Compelected to extend the interest only period utkdeMNotes from July 31, 2013 to
December 31, 2013 and delay the first monthly pp@larepayments for Notes A and B from August 112@ January 1, 2014. On
November 25, 2013, the Company and Hercules entete@n amendment (the "Amendment") of the Loane&ghent. Pursuant to tl
Amendment, the interest-only period has been exgticikough June 30, 2014 and the first monthlyqgipiad payment is scheduled for July 1,
2014. The Amendment also allows the Company tdéuréxtend the interest-only period through Decer8he 2014 and delay the first
payment of principal until January 1, 2015, so lasghe Company pays a $100,000 fee and obtaiitsspatata from its phase 2 clinical trial
of ARIKAYCE in patients who have lung infectionsused by NTM. The election and amendment did nohgbahe maturity date for Notes A
and B, which is January 1, 2016.

In connection with the Loan Agreeméné Company granted the lender a first positiem bn all of the Company's assets, excluding
intellectual property. Prepayment of the loans maatsuant to the Loan Agreement is subject to pgaad the Company is required to pay ar
"end of term" charge of $390,000, which is beingrged to interest expense (and accreted to th¢ dgibg the effective interest method over
the life of the Loan Agreement. Debt issuance fesd to the lender were recorded as a discouri@ébt and are being amortized to interes
expense using the effective interest method owelifih of the Loan Agreement. Debt issuance feés foathird parties were capitalized and are
being amortized to interest expense using the @ffemterest method over the life of the Loan Agreent.

The Loan Agreement also containsasgntations and warranties by us and the lendeindednification provisions in favor of the
lender and customary covenants (including limitagion other indebtedness, liens, acquisitions simvents and dividends, but no financial
covenants), and events of default (including payrdefaults, breaches of covenants following anyliagple cure period, a material
impairment in the perfection or priority of the tr's security interest or in the collateral, anelngs relating to bankruptcy or insolvency).
Upon the occurrence of an event of default, a defiaterest rate of an additional 5% may be appliethe outstanding loan balances, and the
lender may terminate its lending commitment, dechl outstanding obligations immediately due aagable, and take such other actions as
set forth in the Loan Agreement. In addition, parsito the Loan Agreement, the lender has the ta@participate, in an amount of up to
$1.0 million, in certain future private equity fimeing(s) by the Company.

In conjunction with entering into thean Agreement, the Company granted a warraritedender to purchase shares of the
Company's common stock. Since the warrant was gglantconjunction with entering into the Loan Agreant, the relative fair value of the
warrant was recorded as equity and debt discoumg.dEbt discount is being amortized to intereseagp over the term of the related debt
using the effective interest method.
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The following table presents the comgnts of the Company's debt balance as of Decedib&013.

December 31, 201
(in thousands)

Debt:
Notes payabl $ 20,00(
Accretion of end of term char 204
Issuance fees paid to lenc (21%)
Discount from warrar (36¢)
Current portion of lon-term deb (3,289
Long-term debt $ 16,33¢

Future principal repayments of the Motes are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending in December 3

2014 $ 3,62¢
2015 7,78
2016 8,58¢

$ 2000

The estimated fair value of the deltegorized as a Level 2 liability for fair valoeasurement purposes) is determined using curre
market factors and the ability of the Company taobdebt at comparable terms to those that arewtly in place. We believe the estimated
fair value at December 31, 2013 approximates thegyicg amount.

8. Stockholders' Equity

Common Stock-As of December 31, 2013, the Company had 500,000s8ares of common stock authorized with a parevaf
$0.01 and 39,137,679 shares of common stock issuedutstanding. Of the shares outstanding as oéber 31, 2013, 1,765,271 shares
represent holdback shares held by the Companycasityefor potential indemnification payments, asdribed in the Agreement and Plan of
Merger with Transave, Inc. (the "Merger Agreemerilgd as Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Annual Repo Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2012 (see Footnote 12, Commitment€antngencies, Legal Proceeding#kiewicz v. Transave LL€r additional
information regarding these holdback shares). thtewh, as of December 31, 2013, the Company hserved 3,632,996 shares of common
stock for issuance upon the exercise of outstanctngmon stock options and 92,641 for issuance tip@resting of restricted stock units.

On July 22, 2013, the Company congaletn underwritten public offering of 6,900,000rsiseof the Company's common stock, whick
included the underwriter's exercise in full ofatger-allotment
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option of 900,000 shares, at a price to the pudfli®10.40 per share. The Company's net proceedstfie sale of the shares, after deducting
underwriter's discount and offering expenses of $illion, were $67.0 million.

On September 28, 2012, we completejistered direct public offering of 6,304,102 resaof our Common Stock to certain investors
at a price of $4.07 per share, resulting in prosedd25.7 million.

Warrant—In conjunction with entering into the Loan AgreethéSee Note 7—Debt), the Company granted a wateathie lender to
purchase 329,932 shares of the Company's commok @t@n exercise price of $2.94 per share. Thev&ie of the warrant of $0.8 million
was calculated using the Black-Scholes warranifqgimethodology at the date of issuance and wasded as equity and as a discount to the
debt and is being amortized to interest expensetbegterm of the related debt using the effedtiterest method. On April 30, 2013, the
lender exercised the warrant in full via the "restiiance” method specified in the warrant agreerreatcordance with such provisions, the
Company issued and delivered 223,431 shares of consimares to the lender on May 1, 2013. As a restiite exercise, the warrant is no
longer outstanding and there are no additionaleshassuable under this instrument.

9. Stock-Based Compensation

During 2013, the Company had thraegitgggompensation plans: the 2013 Incentive Planictwwas approved by shareholders at the
Company's Annual Meeting of Shareholders on May?P33, the Amended and Restated 2000 Stock IneeRtan, as amended (the "2000
Stock Incentive Plan") and the Amended and Res@2@60 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "StockiaaecPlan™). Both the 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan and the Stock Purchase Plan wengteddy the Company's Board of Directors in 2008oitUthe approval of the 2013 Incent
Plan, no additional awards will be issued under2h@0 Stock Incentive Plan and the shares remafoinfyiture grant under the 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan were transferred to the 2013 Ingerfdlan.

Under the terms of the 2013 IncenBNan, the Company is authorized to grant a vaonétgicentive awards based on our common
stock, including stock options (both incentive &toptions and nomualified stock options), performance shares ahdrattock awards, as w
as the payment of incentive bonuses to all empbgee non-employee directors. The 2013 Incentige Pftovides for a single aggregate per
person annual sulimit of 1,500,000 stock options, performance skdmecluding RSUs) and shares of restricted stdble. 2013 Incentive Ple
provides for the issuance of a maximum of 3,053 #88es of common stock. Shares subject to ouisasvards under the 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan that are cancelled, expired, faetkibr otherwise not issued will also be added éontlmber of shares available under the 2013
Incentive Plan. As of December 31, 2013, 1,811 d4}&tes of the Company's common stock were reséovdgture grants (or issuances) of
restricted stock, restricted stock units, stockans, and stock warrants under the 2013 Incentige.Ahe 2013 Incentive Plan will terminate
on April 16, 2023 unless it is extended or ternmgdagarlier pursuant to its terms.

112




Table of Contents

INSMED INCORPORATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
9. Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)

Under the terms of the 2000 Stocleitive Plan, the Company was authorized to gramatiaty of incentive awards based on our
common stock, including stock options, (both inoenstock options and non-qualified stock optiop&kformance shares, and other stock
awards to all employees and non-employee direc@mdMarch 15, 2013, the Company's Board of Directomended the 2000 Stock Incentive
Plan to provide for a single aggregate per persoa subimit for the issuance of a maximum of 1,500,00fc&toptions, performance sha
(including RSUs) and shares of restricted stoclke ZB00 Stock Incentive Plan ceased to be avaifabkdditional grants once the Company's
shareholders approved the 2013 Incentive Plan ogn23a2013.

On October, 31, 2013, the CompangarB of Directors terminated the Amended and Redtatsmed Incorporated 2000 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan (the "Stock Purchase PlanfefJine terms of the Stock Purchase Plan, emplayeesentitled to purchase common
stock of the Company at a price equal to 85% ofdivemarket value of the shares on the purchate dhe Stock Purchase Plan was intende
to qualify as an "employee stock purchase plantiwithe meaning of Section 423 of the Internal RexeCode. The foregoing description
does not purport to be a complete description efrigghts and obligations of the Company or theigigants under the Stock Purchase Plan.
The above description is qualified in its entirbtyreference to the Stock Purchase Plan, a copsizh is included as Exhibit 10.22 in the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeatesl December 31, 2006, filed with the Securities EBxchange Commission on
March 16, 2007.

During the first quarter of 2013, thempany completed a review of equity compensatisards granted under its 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan and determined that it had inadwlsteexceeded the annual per-person sub-limitsliing certain awards previously made to
certain of its current and past officers and does(the "excess awards"). The aggregate amouwtrnmon stock represented by these excess
awards, which consisted of RSUs and stock optiwas,approximately 1.4 million shares. These awasrel® deemed to be granted outside of
the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan and as such the Coyngaplied liability accounting to these awards. ey 23, 2013 (the date of the
Company's 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders)ratmalders approved the grants associated withxbess awards, which as of this date,
allowed the excess awards to be deemed granted thed2000 Stock Incentive Plan. As a result, tkeess awards were remeasured at fair
value on May 23, 2013 and the liability was redfésd to Additional paid-in capital. The unrecogedfair value calculated for the excess
awards as of May 23, 2013 will be recognized aspmrsation expense ratably over the remaining regu@srvice period for each award.

In connection with the appointmentled Company's Chief Commercial Officer on AprieD13, the Company made inducement
grants of stock options totaling 300,000 shargb@fCompany's common stock.

Stock Options-The Company calculates the fair value of stockomgtgranted using the Black-Scholes valuation hddee
Company calculated the fair value of stock optigremted outside of the 2000 Stock Incentive Plamguigability accounting. These awards
were classified as a liability and were remeasatedir value at the end of each reporting perisitigi the Black-Scholes valuation model and
changes in fair value were included in compensaipense in the Consolidated Statements of
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Comprehensive Loss (see additional disclosuretekta stock options granted outside the 2000 Shrooéntive Plan at the end of this
footnote).

The following table summarizes thargrdate fair value and assumptions used in det@rgithe fair value of stock options granted

under and outside the 2013 Incentive Plan and @@ Stock Incentive Plan, as well as grants of éeteent shares, during the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.

2013 2012 2011

Volatility 86.2%- 96.0% 99.1%- 107.1% 111.6%- 128.7%
Risk-free interest

rate 0.65%- 1.65% 0.57%-0.99%  0.91%- 2.12%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Expected option

term (in years 6.25 6.25 6.25
Weighted-average

fair value of

stock options

grantec $8.16 $3.21 $2.68

For the years ended December 31, ,220® and 2011, the volatility factor was basedhenCompany's historical volatility since the
closing of the Merger on December 1, 2010. The ebtgutlife was determined using the simplified meths described in ASC Topic 718,
"Accounting for Stock Compensation”, which is th@lpoint between the vesting date and the end ofdim¢ractual term. The risk-free interest
rate is based on the US Treasury yield in effeth@tdate of grant. Forfeitures are based on aptrakentage of option forfeitures since the
closing of the Merger on December 1, 2010, andishtike basis for future forfeiture expectations.
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The following table summarizes stogiion activity for stock options granted under #4.3 Incentive Plan and the 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan, as well as grants of inducementeshdor the years ended December 31, 2013, 20d2@h1 as follows:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Life in Years Value

Options outstanding at

December 31, 201 21427 $ 18.4:
Granted 766,00( 3.71
Exercisec (5,200 6.1€
Forfeited and expire (83,329 26.51
Options outstanding at

December 31, 201 __891,75! 5.1t
Vested and expected to vest

December 31, 201 816,41 5.3C
Exercisable at December 31,

2011 __125,75; 13.5¢
Options outstanding at

December 31, 201 891,75. $ 5.1¢F
Granted 1,116,38. 4.1z
Exercisec (30,250) 7.0¢
Forfeited and expire (160,046 9.54
Options outstanding at

December 31, 201 1,817,83! 4.1C
Vested and expected to vest

December 31, 201 1,692,91! 4.11
Exercisable at December 31,

2012 438,14! 4.5¢
Options outstanding at

December 31, 201 1,817,83' $ 4.1C
Granted 2,323,501 10.5¢
Exercisec (371,749 4.37
Forfeited and expire (136,600 10.4¢
Options outstanding at

December 31, 201 3,632,991 7.94 8.9: $ 32,903,65
Vested and expected to vest

December 31, 201 3,402,301 7.8¢ 891 $ 31,012,05
Exercisable at December 31,

2013 484,211 4.2t 7.3 $ 6,176,101
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The total intrinsic value of stocktiops exercised during the years ended Decembe2®B, 2012 and 2011 was $2.7 million,
$25 thousand and $23 thousand, respectively.

As of December 31, 2013, there we& Sillion of unrecognized compensation expentsed to unvested stock options, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted averagedoof 2.64 years. The following table summarittesrange of exercise prices and the
number of stock options outstanding and exercisablef December 31, 2013:

Exercisable as o

Qutstanding as of December 31, 201 December 31, 2013

Weighted

Average
Remaining Weighted Weighted
Number of  Contractual Average Number of  Average
Range of Term Exercise Exercise

Exercise Prices Options (in years) Price Options Price

$ 3.0 ¢ 3.2¢ 296,68 7.4€ $ 3.04 153,08¢ $ 3.04
$ 3.4C $ 3.4C 708,31: 8.6¢ $ 3.4C 177,07¢ $ 3.4C
$ 3.4¢ $ 6.6 423,59! 841 $ 5.5¢ 125,04! $ 5.64
$ 6.7C $ 6.7C 20,00( 9.04 $ 6.7C - -
$ 6.9C $ 6.9C 381,20( 8.9¢ $ 6.9C 10,00C $ 6.9C
$ 6.9¢ $ 7.44 109,50( 9.0z $ 6.9¢ - -
$ 7.45 % 7.45 375,00( 9.2t § 7.45 - -
$ 8.3C $ 11.4¢ 312,95( 9.4z $ 10.9¢ 525C $ 8.3C
$ 12.4¢ 12.4¢ 565,05( 9.1¢ $ 12.4¢ 13,75 $ 12.4¢
$ 12.7¢ $ 16.5¢ 440,70( 9.8C $ 14 .5t - -

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stblelts —The Company grants Restricted Stock ("RS") andriRésd Stock Units ("RSUs") to
eligible employees, including our executives. ER&and RSU represents a right to receive one sifidine Company's common stock upon
completion of a specific period of continued seevic achievement of a certain milestone. RS and &8atrds granted under the Company's
2013 Incentive Plan and 2000 Stock Incentive Ptarganerally valued at the market price of the Camyfs common stock on the date of
grant. In the first quarter of 2011, the Compamnged RSUs outside of the 2000 Stock Incentive Btahthose awards were accounted for
liability as they would have been deemed to be sasited until additional shares were authorizeddsuance under the 2000 Stock Incentive
Plan. In May 2011, additional shares under the 28108k Incentive Plan were authorized and the R8&fe converted to equity awards and
were valued at the market price of our common sttkhat date. In addition, RSUs granted in exoésertain plan sulimits were considere
to be granted outside the 2000 Stock Incentive Bhahwere classified as a liability and remeasatddir value at the end of each reporting
period and changes in fair value are included mmpensation expense in the Consolidated Statemé@tsmprehensive Loss (see additional
disclosures related to RSUs granted outside th® 30ack Incentive Plan at the end of this footnofée Company recognizes noncash
compensation expense for the fair values of thesaml RSUs on a straigline basis over the requisite service period os¢hawards, which
generally three years.
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The following table summarizes RSUaads granted under the 2013 Incentive Plan an@@86 Stock Incentive Plan during the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

Weighted
Number of Average
RSU's Grant Price

Outstanding at December 31, 2( - -
Grantec 491,25! $ 6.3¢€

Forfeited (4,23(0) 5.1:
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 487,02! 6.37
Grantec 61,01: 3.44
Release( (322,819 4.5¢
Forfeited (9,697) 5.6¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 215,52 $ 6.2¢
Grantec 55,31; 6.71
Release( (177,319 6.4z
Forfeited (88E) 5.0C
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 92,64. $ 6.27
Expected to Ves 92,64: $ 6.27

Awards Granted Outside of the 2000t Incentive Plan—During the first quarter of 2013, the Company cteted a review of
equity compensation awards granted under its 2@@¢kSncentive Plan and determined that it had weaigntly exceeded the annual per-
person sub-limits involving certain awards previgusade to certain of its current and past officamd directors (the "excess awards"). The
aggregate amount of common stock represented bg tixecess awards, which consisted of RSUs and spiitkns, was approximately
1.4 million shares. These awards were deemed ¢pareed outside of the 2000 Stock Incentive Plahamsuch the Company applied liability
accounting to these awards. On May 23, 2013 (the afahe Company's 2013 Annual Meeting of Stocted), shareholders approved the
grants associated with the excess awards, whicfithss date, allowed the excess awards to be dégmeated under the 2000 Stock Incentive
Plan. As a result, the excess awards were remeahatifair value on May 23, 2013 and the liabilitgsweclassified to Additional paid-in
capital. The unrecognized fair value calculatedtierexcess awards as of May 23, 2013 will be neiceg as compensation expense ratably
over the remaining requisite service period forheaward.
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The following table summarizes thecktbased compensation recorded in the Consolidzzgeéments of Comprehensive Loss relate
to stock options and RSUs during the years endegmber 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

2013 2012 2011
(in millions)
Research and
development expens $ 24 % 0.7 $ 0.t
General and
administrative
expense: 6.2 2.3 1.1
Total $ 8.711) % 3C % 1.€

(1) Included in the $8.7 million is $3.3 milliome $0.8 million of expense that resulted from thmeasurement of
certain stock options and RSUs, respectively, doatirred during May 201

10. Income Taxes

The benefit for income taxes was $tition and the effective rate was 2.1% for tharyended December 31, 2013. The provision fo
income taxes was $0 and the effective rate was @d3ag the years ended December 31, 2012 and d@Elbenefit for income taxes
recorded and the effective tax rate for the yededrDecember 31, 2013 solely reflect the reversaiv@aluation allowance previously recorded
against the Company's New Jersey State net opglasees ("NOL") that resulted from the Compangle ®f $27.0 million of its New Jersey
State NOLs under the State of New Jersey's Techp®asiness Tax Certificate Transfer Program (fPigram") for cash of $1.2 million, n
of commissions. The Program allows qualified tedbgp and biotechnology businesses in New Jersegltainused amounts of NOLs and
defined research and development tax credits fh.ca

The Company is subject to US fedaral state income taxes. The Company has neverdoelited and the statute of limitations for
audit is generally open for the years 2010 and.latewever, except in 2009, the Company has indunet operating losses since inception.
Such loss carryforwards would be subject to aund#riy tax year in which those losses are utilinedwithstanding the year of origin. The
Company's policy is to recognize interest accratated to unrecognized tax benefits and penahigscome tax expense. The Company has
recorded no such expense. As of December 31, 2612@12, the Company has recorded no reservesfecognized income tax benefits, |
has it recorded any accrued interest or penaki@sead to uncertain tax positions. The Company doésnticipate any material changes in the
amount of unrecognized tax positions over the hegtve months.
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The reconciliation between the fetlstatutory tax rate of 34% and the Company's &ffecax rate is as follows:

Statutory federal tax ra

Years Ended
December 31,

2

013 2012 2011

34% 34% 34%

Permanent item - - (4)%
State income taxes, net of federal ber 7% 4% 3%
Research and development cre 7% 1% 5%

Expired net operating loss carryforwal
Change in state tax ra
Change in valuation allowan:

- 15% (10%
2% - -
@9% (22% (27)%

Other 1% (2)% (1)%
Effective tax rate 2% 0% 0%

Deferred tax assets and liabilitiess determined based on the difference betweendiabstatement and tax bases using enacted tax
rates in effect for the year in which the differes@re expected to reverse. The components okfeereld tax assets and liabilities consist of
the following:

As of December 31
2013 2012
(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryforwar  $ 149,75. $ 128,25
General business cred 15,20¢ 10,50:
Alternative Minimum Tax (AMT)

credit 41¢ 41¢
Other 5,951 3,007
Gross deferred tax asset $ 171,33. % 142,18:

Deferred tax liabilities:
In-process research and

developmen $ (23,245 $ (22,099
Deferred tax liabilities $ (23,244 $ (22,099
Net deferred tax asset: $ 148,08t $ 120,09(
Valuation Allowance (148,08 (120,09()
Net deferred tax asset: $ - $ -

The net deferred tax assets (pri@pplying the valuation allowance) of $148.1 miiliand $120.1 million at December 31, 2013 and
2012, respectively, primarily consist of net opergtoss carryforwards for income tax purposes. Buihe Company's history of operating
losses, the Company recorded a full valuation aloee on its net deferred tax assets by increasmgdluation allowance by $28.0 million as
it is more likely than not that such tax benefiif mot be realized.
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At December 31, 2013, the Companyfeddral net operating loss carryforwards for inedlax purposes of approximately
$398.7 million available to offset future taxabhedme, if any. The NOL carryovers and general lessiriax credits expire in various years
beginning in 2018.

Utilization of the Company's NOL ageneral business tax credit carryforwards geneiatpdor years through September 2012 (the
"September 2012 and prior NOLs") are likely subjectubstantial limitations under Section 382 &f iiternal Revenue Code ("Section 382")
due to ownership changes that occurred at varioitgpduring years prior to 2012 and during Sepem@®12. In general, an ownership
change, as defined by Section 382, results frons#etions increasing the ownership of certain $iwdgers or public groups in the stock of a
corporation by more than 50 percentage points avhree-year period. Since the Company's formaitidras raised capital through the
issuance of common stock on several occasions wbiachbined with the purchasing shareholders' sulesgglisposition of those shares, lik
resulted in multiple changes in ownership, as @efiny Section 382 since the Company's formatidl®®0. The substantial limitations on the
use of the September 2012 and prior NOLs are liteehgsult in expiration of a substantial portidrtieese NOL or general business tax credit
carryforwards before utilization which would subgtally reduce the Company's gross deferred tagtas¥he Company plans to complete a
Section 382 analysis regarding the limitation sfNtOL and general business tax credit carryforwardbintends to disclose the results of this
analysis when it is completed.

11. License and Collaboration Agreements
In-License Agreements

Ipsen and Genenteeln March 2007, the Company was granted a licenseilolicense as applicable to patents held by Ipsen
Genentech to develop IPLEX in certain medical iatlans in the US and foreign territories. In NovenB008, the Company gained Royalty-
Free Worldwide Rights for IPLEX from Ipsen and Geteeh in connection with potential expanded acééss programs.

PARI Pharma GmbH-In April 2008, the Company entered into a licegsagreement with PARI Pharma GmbH for use of the
optimized eFlow Nebulizer System for delivery of KRRY CE in treating patients with CF, bronchiectasisd NTM infections. Insmed has
rights to several US and foreign issued patentspateht applications involving improvements to tipéimized eFlow Nebulizer System. In
consideration of this agreement, PARI shall rece@gments either in cash, qualified stock or a doation of both, at PARI's discretion, ba
on achievement of certain future milestone everthiding first acceptance of MAA submission (or iegient) in the US of ARIKAYCE and
the device, first receipt of marketing approvathie US for ARIKAYCE and the device, and first rgatedf marketing approval in a major EU
country for ARIKAYCE. In addition, PARI will recew royalty payments on commercial sales of ARIKAYCE.

Out-License Agreements

NAPO Pharmaceuticalsin January 2007, the Company entered into an aggeewith NAPO Pharmaceuticals, whereby it granted
NAPO a license for INSI-18 also known as Masoprocal. The
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license gives NAPO the right to develop, manufazamd commercialize Masoprocal products for anicatibns relating specifically to
diabetes, cardiac disease, vascular disease, nietdisease and Syndrome X. The agreement callgggments from NAPO to the Company
upon the achievement of certain milestones whicte meot yet been met.

TriAct—In December, 2010, the Company entered into apesgent with TriAct Therapeutics Inc. ("TriAct") witedy it granted
TriAct an exclusive license for IN$8 also known as Masoprocal. The license givesdiride right to develop, manufacture and commere
Masoprocal products for any indications relatingafically to oncology. The agreement calls for ibsgue of TriAct common stock to Insmed
upon the achievement of certain milestones. To, datenilestones have been achieved and no comrook s&s been received.

Eleisor—In February, 2011, the Company entered into aseagent with Eleison Pharmaceuticals whereby ittghRleison an
exclusive license for CISPLATIN Lipid Complex. Theense gives Eleison the right to develop, manuf@cand commercialize CISPLATIN
Lipid Complex. Payments totaling $1.0 million weeeeived in 2011 and were recorded as licensesfemue.

Premacure (now Shire ple)in May 2012, the Company entered into an agreeméhtPremacure (now Shire plc) pursuant to whick
the Company granted to Premacure an exclusivedwate license to develop, manufacture and commiereitGF-1, with its natural binding
protein, IGFBP-3, for the prevention and treatnafrtomplications of preterm birth in exchange foyalty payments on commercial sales of
IGF-1 (the "Premacure License Agreement"). In M&6h3, we amended the Premacure License Agreemenbtide Premacure with the
option, exercisable by Premacure any time prigkgdl 30, 2013, to pay us $11.5 million (the "Buyddmount") and assume any of our royi
obligations to other parties in exchange for ayfphid license. On April 29, 2013, Premacure esectithis option and paid the Company
$11.5 million in exchange for a fully paid licen§ée Company recorded this payment as other revierthe three months ended June 30,
2013. The Company is not entitled to any additidoalre royalties from Premacure, and Premacureabssmed the Company's royalty
obligations to other parties under the Premacucerise Agreement.

Collaboration Agreements

Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapestiinc.—In 2004 and 2009, the Company entered into rebdanting agreements with Cystic
Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics, Inc. (CFFT) whgiieéreceived $1.7 million and $2.2 million forararespective agreement in research
funding for the development of its ARIKAYCE produtft ARIKAYCE becomes an approved product for CRhe US, the Company will owe
payments totaling up to $13.4 million to CFFT thetuld be payable over a three-year period aftereyah as a commercialized drug in the
US. Furthermore, if certain sales milestones arewithin 5 years of the drug commercialization ap@ for CF in the US, the Company
would owe an additional payment of $3.9 millionn& there is significant development risk assodiatith ARIKAYCE, we have not accrued
these obligations.

National Institutes of Allergy anddntious Diseases-In 2009 and 2012, the Company entered into a qatige research and
development agreement (CRADA) with National Ing&tof Allergy
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and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) to design and cahdur phase 2 study of ARIKAYCE in patients witffM. NIAID has also agreed to
provide biostatistical advisory input in connectisith the phase 2 NTM study. If the Company decidetsto continue with the
commercialization of ARIKAYCE in NTM, NIAID will hae the right to complete the clinical trial. FunthIAID may elect to pursue its
rights to obtain license rights to certain inventianade under the CRADA.

12. Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments

The Company has two operating le&sesffice and laboratory space located in Monmaiuhction, NJ through December 31, 2014.
Future minimum rental payments under these twekasal approximately $0.7 million. The Comparsoahas an operating lease for office
and laboratory space located in Bridgewater, NOtdraninates in November 2019. Future minimum rgpagments under this lease are
$2.4 million. The Company also leases office spadRichmond, VA, where the Company's corporate haaders were previously located,
through October 2016. Future minimum rental paymenter this lease total approximately $1.4 millidnring 2011, the Company recorded
a net present value charge of $1.2 million in gehand administrative expenses associated withtivacthe Richmond facility. The remaining
accrual for this charge was $0.7 million as of Deber 31, 2013.

Rent expense charged to operatiorss$&ed million, $1.0 million, and $1.0 million fthe years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 an
2011, respectively. Future minimum rental paymeetgsiired under the Company's operating leasessdi@laws (in thousands):

Year Ending in December 31

2014 $ 1,23
2015 944
2016 88€
2017 474
2018 48¢
2019 46C

$ 4,48¢

Legal Proceedings
Cacchillo v. Insmed

On October 6, 2010, a complaint wigslifagainst the Company by Angeline Cacchillo &iRtiff") in the U.S. District Court for the
Northern District of New York (the "Court"), captiedCacchillo v. Insmed, Ing.No. 1:10-cv-0199, seeking monetary damages amudid
order requiring Insmed to support Plaintiff's cosgianate use application to the FDA and if approt@grovide
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Plaintiff with IPLEX. Plaintiff was a participanhithe phase Il clinical trial of IPLEX sponsoredinyevaluating the effectiveness of the
investigational drug in patients with type 1 myadtomuscular dystrophy ("MMD"). In the complaint,aiitiff alleged (i) violation of
constitutional due process and equal protectiodepyriving Plaintiff of continued access to IPLEX) fraudulent inducement to enter the
phase Il clinical trial with the false promise tgpport Plaintiff's compassionate use applicatiothtoFDA, (iii) negligent representation that
Company would support Plaintiff's compassionateapg#ication, (iv) breach of contract, seeking ntaneand non-monetary damages,

(v) intentional infliction of emotional distress Ibgfusing to support Plaintiff's compassionate afgglication after providing IPLEX,

(vi) violation of an assumed duty of care to Pliffinfvii) breach of fiduciary duty to Plaintiff,\ii) negligence and (ix) unjust enrichment.
Plaintiff seeks compensatory and punitive monetiatyages and sought injunction relief as noted above

On October 7, 2010, Plaintiff filedreotion for a preliminary injunction that would rgce us to provide a written statement supporting
the "compassionate use" of IPLEX for Plaintiff aticecting us to provide IPLEX to Plaintiff at caetthe event that the compassionate use
application were granted by the FDA. On OctoberZ,0, the Court denied Plaintiff's motion for ffireliminary injunction concluding that t
Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction with resp® her claim for a preliminary injunction. Plafhiappealed the Court's denial of her motion
for a preliminary injunction to the U.S. Court oppeals for the Second Circuit, which affirmed thal tourt's order denying the Plaintiff's
motion for a preliminary injunction.

We filed a motion with the Court tismhiss all of the outstanding claims, and on Juhe2R11, the Court dismissed six of Plaintiff's
claims, leaving outstanding the claims for (i) flalent inducement, (ii) negligent misrepresentatand (iii) breach of contract. The Company
filed an answer and affirmative defenses with tieer€on July 12, 2011. Plaintiff's claim for momgtalamages with respect to these claims
remains outstanding. The parties completed disgomeror about June 1, 2012. The Company filed aidndior Summary Judgment on
August 1, 2012 seeking judgment in our favor onttinee claims remaining in the case and the matias fully submitted on October 9, 2012.
On January 19, 2013, the Court granted the Compamgtion for Summary Judgment and dismissed athefoutstanding claims. Plaintiff
appealed the Court's decision to the U.S. Couftppfeals for the Second Circuit and, on JanuaryZ42the Court affirmed the decision to
dismiss all outstanding claims.

Pilkiewicz v. Transave LL(

On March 28, 2011, Frank G. Pilkiexvamd other former stockholders of Transave (ctillely, the "Petitioners") filed an appraisal
action against the Company's subsidiary Transalv€, ih the Delaware Court of Chancery captiofrednk G. Pilkiewicz, et al. v.
Transave, LLG C.A. No. 6319-CS. On December 13, 2011, followtimg mailing of the revised naotice of appraisahtigin accordance with
the settlement terms dfackinson et al. v. Insmedin Amended Petition for Appraisal of Stock wéedfiby the Petitioners.

The Petitioners seek appraisal ubadaware law of their total combined common stooldings representing total dissenting shares
of approximately 7.77 million shares of Transave, |
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common stock (the "Transave Stock"). The Petitisraee challenging the value of the consideratian ttiey would be entitled to receive for

their Transave Stock under the terms of the merger.

Under the terms of the merger agredmertain of the former stockholders of Trans@kie "Transave Stockholders") are obligated t
indemnify the Company for certain liabilities inreection with the appraisal action. The Companyfiedtthe Transave Stockholders in May
2012 that the Company is seeking indemnificatioadoordance with the merger agreement and thall itamntinue to retain the aggregate
amount of the holdback shares totaling 1,765,23tesh as security for any indemnification paymelots under the merger agreement.
Discovery is complete and the trial is schedulelddgin in April 2014. The Company believes thatahegations contained in the amended
petition are without merit and we intend to conéria vigorously defend this action. It is not pb&siat this time to estimate the amount of loss

or range of possible loss, if any, that might refoim an adverse resolu

From time to time, the Company isaatyto various other lawsuits, claims and othgalgroceedings that arise in the ordinary cours
of our business. While the outcomes of these nsa#tey uncertain, management does not expect thatttmate costs to resolve these matters
will have a material adverse effect on the Commaoghsolidated financial position, results of ofiers or cash flows.

13. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following table summarizes ungedliquarterly financial data for the years endeddb@ber 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands,

except per share data).

tion of this action.

2013
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total

Revenue: $ - $ 11,50 $ - $ - % 11,50(
Operating los! (14,309 (8,270 (16,847) (15,59¢) (55,01
Net loss (13,67%) (8,859 (17,327 (16,219) (56,077)
Basic and dilute:

net loss

attributable to

common

stockholders

per common

share $ (043 $ (0.28) $ (0.46) $ (0.40) $ (1.60)
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INSMED INCORPORATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

13. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) (@inued)

2012
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total

Revenue: $ - 9 = G - 9 = G =
Operating los! (7,264 (9,989 (9,359 (15,83%) (42,439
Net loss (6,845) (9,696 (9,387) (15,45)) (41,374
Basic and diluted

net income (loss

attributable to

common

stockholders pe!

common shar $ (0.2¢) $ (0.39) $ (0.3¢) $ (0.49) $ (1.5€)

Basic and diluted net income (losw) ghare amounts included in the above tablescem@uated independently for each of the quarter:
presented. Accordingly, the sum of the quarterlsidand diluted net loss per share amounts maggree to the total for the year.

14. Retirement Plan

The Company has a 401(k) definedrimution plan for the benefit for all employees g®tmits voluntary contributions by
employees subject to IRS-imposed limitations. Thveeee no employer contributions in 2013, 2012 ad#l12

15. Subsequent Events

On February 10, 2014, the Compangredtinto a Contract Manufacturing Agreement (thgréement") with Therapure
Biopharma Inc. ("Therapure") for the manufacturehaf Company's product ARIKAY CE, liposomal amikafoninhalation. Pursuant to the
Agreement, the Company and Therapure will collateot@ construct a production and quality contreleafor the manufacture and testing of
ARIKAYCE in Therapure's existing manufacturing fégiin Mississauga, Ontario, Canada. Therapurémwénufacture ARIKAYCE for the
Company on a noexclusive basis. The Agreement has an initial teffive years from the first date on which Therapdelivers ARIKAYCE
to Insmed after Insmed obtains permits relatethéomtanufacture of ARIKAYCE, and will renew autongatly for successive periods of two
years each, unless terminated by either party byighng the required two years' prior written netto the other party. Notwithstanding !
foregoing, the parties have rights and obligatiomder the Agreement prior to the commencementeofritial term. The Agreement allows for
termination by either party upon the occurrenceesfain events, including, (i) the material brehghhe other party of any provision of the
Agreement or the Quality Agreement expected torttered into between the parties, or (ii) the defaubankruptcy of the other party. In
addition, the Company may terminate the Agreemamnafiy reason upon no fewer than one hundred ey’ advance notice.
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10.8**

EXHIBIT INDEX

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated Decerhti2010, among Insmed Incorporated,
River Acquisition Co., Transave, LLC Transave, lacd TVM V Life Science
Ventures GmbH & Co. KG (incorporated by referemoer Exhibit 2.1 to Insmed
Incorporated's Current Report on For-K filed on December 2, 201C

Articles of Incorporation of Insmed Incorporated,aanended through June 14, 2012
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to lesiincorporated's Annual Report on
Form 1(-K for the year ended December 31, 20:

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Insmed Incorpor@tedrporated by reference from
Exhibit 3.1 to Insmed Incorporated's Current Reparform K filed on March 9, 2012

Specimen stock certificate representing commorkst®@.01 par value per share, of the
Registrant (previously filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Inssinincorporated's Registration Staten
on Form -4/A (Registration No. 33-30098)).

Shareholders Agreement, dated December 1, 201@inemed Incorporated and each
of the listed shareholders (incorporated by refegénom Exhibit 4.1 to Insmed
Incorporated's Current Report on For-K filed on December 2, 201C

Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 10 28mong Insmed Incorporated and
each of the listed shareholders (incorporated fereace from Exhibit 4.2 to Insmed
Incorporated's Current Report on For-K filed on December 2, 201C

Insmed Incorporated Amended and Restated 2000 $toektive Plan (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.3 to Insmed Incorporaérm 1-Q filed on May 7, 2013}

Insmed Incorporated 2013 Incentive Plan (incorpmtdtty reference from Exhibit 99.1 to
Insmed Incorporated's Registration Statement omFs-8 filed on May 24, 2013’

Form of Award Agreement for Restricted Stock Umsued to employees pursuant to
Insmed's 2013 Incentive Plan (filed herewi

Form of Award Agreement for Restricted Stock Uistued to directors pursuant to
Insmed's 2013 Incentive Plan (filed herewi

Form of Award Agreement for an Incentive Stock ©ptpursuant to Insmed's 2013
Incentive Plan (filed herewith

Form of Award Agreement for a Non-Qualified Stocftion pursuant to Insmed's 2013
Incentive Pla (filed herewith).

Employment Agreement, dated December 2, 2010, leetwesmed Incorporated and
Dr. Renu Gupta (incorporated by reference from BitHi0.4 to Insmed Incorporated's
Current Report on Formr-K filed on February 1, 2011

Employment Agreement, effective as of July 18, 2@ftween Insmed Incorporated and
Andrea Holtzman Drucker (incorporated by refereinom Exhibit 10.1 to Insmed
Incorporated's Current Report on For-K filed on July 18, 2011,
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10.10**

10.11**

10.12**

10.13**

10.14**

10.15**

10.16**

10.17**

10.18**

10.19**

10.20

Letter Agreement between Insmed Incogped and Andrea Holtzman Drucker, dated
May 28, 2013 (incorporated by reference from Extili.1 to Insmed Incorporated's
Current Report on Forrr-K filed on May 29, 2013)

Employment Agreement, effective as of May 14, 2d3ween Insmed Incorporated and
Donald Hayden, Jr. (incorporated by reference feodhibit 10.1 to Insmed Incorporated's
Current Report on Formr-K filed on May 17, 2012)

Letter Agreement, dated September 10, 2012, betinsemed Incorporated and Donald
Hayden, Jr. (incorporated by reference from ExHibif3 to Insmed Incorporated's Curr
Report on Form-K filed on September 11, 201:

Employment Agreement, effective as of Septembef@02, between Insmed
Incorporated and William Lewis (incorporated byerefnce from Exhibit 10.1 to Insmed
Incorporated's Current Report on For-K filed on September 11, 201:

Employment Agreement, effective as of November0a,2 between Insmed Incorporated
and Andrew Drechsler (incorporated by referencenfExhibit 10.1 to Insmed
Incorporated's Current Report on For-K filed on November 7, 2012

Employment Agreement, dated December 2, 2010, leetwesmed Incorporated and
Nicholas Labella, Jr. (incorporated by referencenfiExhibit 10.3 to Insme
Incorporated's Current Report on For-K filed on February 1, 2011

Separation and Release Agreement, dated OctoBé13, between Insmed Incorporated
and Nicholas Labella (incorporated by referencenfiéexhibit 10.1 to Insmed
Incorporated's Current Report on For-K filed on October 5, 2012

Employment Agreement, dated December 2, 2010, letwesmed Incorporated and
Kevin P. Tully (incorporated by reference from Bxhil0.2 to Insmed Incorporated's
Current Report on Forrmr-K filed on February 1, 2011

Separation and Release Agreement, effective asly®8, 2012, between Insmed
Incorporated and Kevin Tully (incorporated by refece from Exhibit 10.1 to Insmed
Incorporated's Current Report on For-K filed on July 30, 2012]

Employment Agreement, dated December 2, 2010, leetwesmed Incorporated and
Timothy Whitten (incorporated by reference from Eih10.1 to Insmed Incorporated's
Current Report on Formr-K filed on February 1, 2011

Severance Agreement, dated September 10, 2012 é&etivsmed Incorporated and
Timothy Whitten (incorporated by reference from Eih10.2 to Insmed Incorporated's
Current Report on Formr-K filed on September 11, 201:

Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of June®®,by and between Insmed
Incorporated and its domestic subsidiaries and iescTechnology Growth Capital, Inc.
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 tontesl Incorporated's Current Report on
Form &K filed on July 2, 2012)
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10.23**

10.24**

10.25**

10.26**

10.27

10.28

211

23.1

311

31.2

32.1

Settlement, license and developmenteageat, dated March 5, 2007, between Insmed
Incorporated, Insmed Therapeutic Proteins, Incltri®éharmaceuticals, Tercica Inc., ¢
Genentech, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 1@Insmed's Quarterly Report on 10-Q
filed on May 10, 2007, and incorporated hereindfgrence)

License agreement dated April 25, 2008, betweensknee, Inc. and PARI Pharma Gm
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.22 tened Incorporated's Annual Report on
Form 1(-K for the year ended December 31, 20:

Employment Agreement, effective as of April 1, 2ph8tween Insmed Incorporated and
Matthew Pauls (incorporated by reference from EixHiB.1 to Insmed Incorporated's
Form 1(-Q filed on May 7, 2013’

Insmed Incorporated Stock Option Inducement Awandgdatthew Pauls (incorporated
reference from Exhibit 99.2 to Insmed Incorporadrizgistration Statement on Form S-8
filed on May 24, 2013)

Employment Agreement, effective as of July 29, 2@#8ween Insmed Incorporated and
Christine Pellizzari (incorporated by referencaririxhibit 10.1 to Insmed Incorporated's
Form 1(-Q filed on November 5, 201z

Insmed Incorporated Senior Executive Bonus Plaro(imorated by reference from
Exhibit 10.2 to Insmed Incorporated's Forn-Q filed on November 5, 2013

Lease, dated December 31, 2013, between Denver, Rb@dand Insmed Incorporated
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 tonhesl Incorporated's Current Report on
Form &K filed on January 3, 2014

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into watich of the Company's directors
officers (incorporated by reference from ExhibitlL@ Insmed Incorporated's Current
Report on Form-K filed on January 16, 2014

Subsidiaries of Insmed Incorporated (filed herejv
Consent of Ernst & Young LLF

Certification of William H. Lewis, Chief Executiv®fficer of Insmed Incorporated,
pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 1I3H{a) promulgated under the Securities Exchang
of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of#rbanes Oxley Act of 200

Certification of William H. Lewis, Chief Executiv®fficer of Insmed Incorporated,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptedipatso Section 906 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2003

Certification of Andrew T. Drechsler, Chief FinaakOfficer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer) of Insmed Incorporated, pursu@anRules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a)
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act 8418s adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2(
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32.2

101.INS

101.SCk

101.CAL

101.DEF

101.LAB

101.PRE

The Securities and Exchange Commission has graotgitiential treatment with respect to certain infation in these exhibits. The
confidential portions of these exhibits have besritted and filed separately with the Securities Brdhange Commission.

Confidential treatment has been requested faaieportions of this exhibit. The confidentialrtions of this exhibit have been omitted

Certification of Andrew T. Drechsler, Chignancial Officer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer) of Insmed Incorporated, pursuan18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@dt of 2003

XBRL Instance Documert

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Caluclation Linkbase Docuntr
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docum
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

and filed separately with the Securities and Exglea@ommission.

Management contract or compensatory plan or arraegeof the Company required to be filed as ankgikhi
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Exhibit 10.3
INSMED INCORPORATED

RESTRICTED UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT
UNDER THE 2013 INCENTIVE PLAN
FOR EMPLOYEES

Name of Grantee
Number of Restricted Stock Unit
Grant Date:

Pursuant to the Insmed Incorporated 2013 Inceiftiga (the “Plan”) as amended through the date fiarabthis Restricted Stock Unit Award
Agreement (the “Agreement”), Insmed Incorporatée (tCompany”) hereby grants an award of restricted stock units (the
“Restricted Stock Units” or the “RSU Award”) to ti&rantee named above. The RSU Award shall berezféo herein as the

“Award.” Subject to the restrictions and condisaset forth herein and in the Plan, the Grantek igt@ive the number of Restricted Stock
Units specified above.

If and to the extent that this Award Agreement &ot¥ or is inconsistent with the terms, conditi@msl provisions of any employment,
consulting or similar services agreement betweerGfantee and the Company as may be in effect$wice Agreement”), the Service
Agreement shall control, and this Award Agreemératibe deemed to be modified accordingly so lamguech modification is not expressly
prohibited by the Plan.

The Company acknowledges the receipt from the @eaot consideration with respect to the par vafube Stock in the form of cash, past or
future services rendered to the Company by thet€eaor such other form of consideration as is detdg to the Administrator and permitted
under the Plan and applicable law.

1. Agreement with Terms Receipt of any benefits under this AgreementhigyGrantee shall constitute the Grantee’s
acknowledgement of and agreement with all of tlevigions of this Agreement and of the Plan thatagglicable to this Award, and the
Company shall administer this Agreement accordingly

2. Restrictions and Conditions on Awardrestricted Stock Units granted herein may nadid, transferred, pledged, assigr
or otherwise alienated or hypothecated by the @eather than by will or the laws of descent arstridhution, and shall be subject to all the
terms, conditions and restrictions set forth heegid in the Plan.




3. Timing and Form of Payout of Restricted Stock Unit&s soon as practicable (but in no event latantB0 days) following
the applicable Vesting Date, the vested RestriStedk Units shall be settled in shares of Stock.

4, Vesting of Award The restrictions and conditions in Section 2hi§ Agreement shall lapse on the date or datesfigakin
this Section 4, so long as the Grantee remainsmutogee of the Company or its Affiliates on suclstiteg Date (defined below), subject to
Section 6 below. Except as set forth in SectidelBdw, the Award shall vest in accordance withdbleedule set forth below.

Percentage of Award Veste( Vesting Date
[33 1/3]% [First Anniversary of the Grant Dat

[33 1/3]% [Second Anniversary of the Grant Da

[33 1/3]% [Third Anniversary of the Grant Dat

Except as otherwise provided in Sections 5 andtBisfAgreement, the Grantee shall forfeit any wte@ portion of the Award in the
event the Grantee’s employment is terminated poidhe Vesting Date.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary hereinrothe Plan, the Administrator may at any time &mege the vesting schedule
specified in this Section 4.

5. Change in Contral In the event of a Change in Control of the Conypghe RSU Award shall be subject to treatment in
accordance with Section 15 of the Plan.

6. Termination of Employment Except as otherwise provided herein, any undgstetion of the RSU Award shall be forfeil
without payment of consideration upon the termoratf the Grantes’employment with the Company or its Affiliates &ty reason, except
otherwise provided in Section 5 or this Sectio\itwithstanding the foregoing, upon the Grantegath (while an active employee of the
Company or its Affiliates), the Award, to extentt poeviously forfeited or cancelled, shall immedigtvest as of the date of the Grantee’s
death.

7. Voting Rights and Dividends If and until such time as Restricted Stock Uaits paid out in shares of Common Stock (if at
all), the Grantee shall not have any voting righith respect to any shares of Common Stock undweglthis RSU Award (“Underlying
Shares”). However, bookkeeping equivalents ofli@iidends and other distributions paid with resgedhe Common Stock shall accrue with
respect to the Underlying Shares and shall be ectetiéo additional Restricted Stock Units (roundtethe nearest whole share of Common
Stock) based on the closing price of the CommonrkStm the dividend distribution date. Such addiioRestricted Stock Units shall be
subject to the same restrictions on transferahilityare the Restricted Stock Units with respeetiich they were paid.

8. Adjustments Upon Certain Unusual or Nonrecurringififtg or Other Events Upon certain unusual or nonrecurring events,
or other events, the terms of these RestrictedkSimits shall be adjusted by the Administrator pargt to Section 15 of the Plan.

2




9. Incorporation of Plan Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrainygs Agreement shall be subject to and governed by
all the terms and conditions of the Plan, includimg powers of the Administrator set forth in Sewt6 of the Plan. To the extent any provisior
hereof is inconsistent with a provision of the Pldue provisions of the Plan will govern. Capitelil terms in this Agreement shall have the
meaning specified in the Plan, unless a differemammng is specified herein.

10. Tax Withholding. The Grantee shall, not later than the date ashath the receipt of this Award becomes a taxabknt fol
Federal income tax purposes, pay to the Companyaie arrangements satisfactory to the Administri@iopayment of any Federal, state,
local or other taxes required by law to be withhahdaccount of such taxable event.

11. No Right to Continued EmploymentNothing in the Plan or this Agreement shalliféee with or limit in any way the right
of the Company, its Subsidiaries and/or its Affiimto terminate the Grantsemployment at any time or for any reason in atamoce with th
Company’s Bylaws and governing law, nor shall amynis of the Plan or this Agreement confer upon @eany right to continue his or her
employment for any specified period of time. Neitthis Agreement nor any benefits arising undemRtan shall constitute an employment
contract with the Company, any Subsidiary and®Affiliates.

12. Notices. Any notice or other communication given pursuarthis Agreement shall be in writing and shallpeesonally
delivered or mailed by United States registeredeontified mail, postage prepaid, return receipuesied, to the Company at its principal place
of business or to the Grantee at the address guatjvell records of the Company or, in either casesuch other address as one party may
subsequently furnish to the other party in writigdditionally, if such notice or communicationbig the Company to the Grantee, the
Company may provide such notice electronicallyl(idsg via email). Any such notice shall be deerteeave been given (a) on the date of
postmark, in the case of notice by mail, or (b}lmdate of delivery, if delivered in person orcédenically.

3




Dated:

(1)

INSMED INCORPORATED

By:

Name:
Title:

Grante’s Signature




Exhibit 10.4

INSMED INCORPORATED
RESTRICTED UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT
UNDER THE 2013 INCENTIVE PLAN
FOR MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Name:
Number of RSUs
Grant Date:

Pursuant to the Insmed Incorporated 2013 Incefftiga (the “Plan”) as amended through the date fiarebthis Restricted Stock
Unit Award Agreement (the “Agreement”), Insmed Inporated (the “Company”) hereby grants an award of restricted stock units (the
“Restricted Stock Units” or the “RSU Award”) to ti&rantee named above. The RSU Award shall berezféo herein as the “Award.”
Subject to the restrictions and conditions sehfbdrein and in the Plan, the Grantee shall rede@umber of Restricted Stock Units
specified above.

The Company acknowledges the receipt from the @eaot consideration with respect to the par vafube Stock in the form of cas
past or future services rendered to the Comparthd%rantee or such other form of consideratiois asceptable to the Administrator and
permitted under the Plan and applicable law.

1. Adgreement with Terms Receipt of any benefits under this AgreementhigyGrantee shall constitute the Grantee’s
acknowledgement of and agreement with all of tlevigions of this Agreement and of the Plan thatagglicable to this Award, and the
Company shall administer this Agreement accordingly

2. Restrictions and Conditions on Awardrestricted Stock Units granted herein may nadid, transferred, pledged, assigr
or otherwise alienated or hypothecated by the @eather than by will or the laws of descent arstridhution, and shall be subject to all the
terms, conditions and restrictions set forth heegid in the Plan.

3. Timing and Form of Payout of Restricted Stock Unit&s soon as practicable (but in no event latantB0 days) following
the Vesting Date, the vested Restricted Stock UWihitdl be settled in shares of Stock.

4. Vesting of Award Except as set forth in Section 5 of this Agreetnthe restrictions and conditions in Section 2hid
Agreement shall lapse, with respect to 100% ofRB& Award, on the first anniversary of the GranteDhe “Vesting Date"$o long as (a) tt
Grantee remains a member of the Board on suchngeBtate and (b) the Grantee attends at least sefieatpercent (75%) of the Board
meetings that take place during the period of tim@mencing from the Grant Date and ending of ttet finniversary of the Grant Date.

1




Except as otherwise provided in Sections 5 andtBisfAgreement, the Grantee shall forfeit any wtee portion of the RSU Award
either the following shall occur: (i) in the evéhe Grantee’s service as a member of the Boamtnsinated for any reason prior to the Vesting
Date; or (ii) in the event that the Grantee failattend at least seventy-five percent (75%) oBbard meetings that take place during the
period of time commencing from the Grant Date amdireg of the first anniversary of the Grant Date.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary hereinrothe Plan, the Administrator may at any time émege the vesting schedule
specified in this Section 4.

5. Change in Contral In the event of a Change in Control of the Conyp#he unvested portion of the RSU Award, to the
extent not previously forfeited or cancelled, slralinediately vest as of the date of such Chandgointrol.

6. Termination of Service Except as otherwise provided herein, any undgstetion of the RSU Award shall be forfeited
without payment of consideration upon the termoratf the Grantee’s service with the Company oAftgiates for any reason, except as
otherwise provided in this Section 6. Notwithstagdthe foregoing, upon the Grantee’s death (wduileactive member of the Board) or upon
the termination of the Grantee’s service due tabilty (as defined below), the RSU Award to exteat previously forfeited or cancelled,
shall immediately vest as of the date of the Grlntdeath or Disability. For purposes of this Agrent, the Grantee will be considered
“disabled” if, as a result of the Grantee’s incdpadue to physical or mental iliness, the Grargkall have been absent from his duties to the
Company or its Affiliates on a full-time basis fb80 calendar days in the aggregate in any 12-nueriod.

7. Voting Rights and Dividends If and until such time as Restricted Stock Uaits paid out in shares of Common Stock (if at
all), the Grantee shall not have any voting righith respect to any shares of Common Stock undweglthiis RSU Award (“Underlying
Shares”). However, bookkeeping equivalents ofli@idends and other distributions paid with resgedhe Common Stock shall accrue with
respect to the Underlying Shares and shall be ctetiéo additional Restricted Stock Units (rounttethe nearest whole share of Common
Stock) based on the closing price of the CommonrkStm the dividend distribution date. Such addiioRestricted Stock Units shall be
subject to the same restrictions on transferahilityare the Restricted Stock Units with respeetiich they were paid.

8. Adjustments Upon Certain Unusual or Nonrecurringifig or Other Events Upon certain unusual or nonrecurring events,
or other events, the terms of these RestrictecdkSimits shall be adjusted by the Administrator parg to Section 15 of the Plan.

9. Incorporation of Plan Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrainys Agreement shall be subject to and governed by
all the terms and conditions of the Plan, includimg powers of the Administrator set forth in Sewets of the Plan. To the extent any provisior
hereof is inconsistent with a provision of the Rlgue provisions of the Plan will govern. Capiteli terms in this Agreement shall have the
meaning specified in the Plan, unless a differemmng is specified herein.
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10. Taxes. The Grantee is ultimately liable and respondibiell taxes owed by Grantee in connection witls RSU Award.
The Company makes no representation or undertakiyding the tax treatment of the grant, vestimgettlement of this RSU Award or the
subsequent sale of any of the Underlying Sharé® Qompany does not commit and is under no obtigat structure this RSU Award to
reduce or eliminate Grantee’s tax liability.

11. No Right to ReElection or Continued ServiceNothing in the Plan or this Agreement shall ifgee with or limit in any way
the right of the Company, its Subsidiaries and®Affiliates to terminate the Grantee’s servicetlom Board at any time or for any reason in
accordance with the Company’s Bylaws and goverfdng nor shall any terms of the Plan or this Agreatconfer upon Grantee any right to
continue his or her service for any specified peobtime. Neither this Agreement nor any benediising under the Plan shall constitute an
employment contract with the Company, any Subsydiaud/or its Affiliates.

12. Notices. Any notice or other communication given pursuarthis Agreement shall be in writing and shallpeesonally
delivered or mailed by United States registeredestified mail, postage prepaid, return receiptuesied, to the Company at its principal place
of business or to the Grantee at the address o@dhepany’s records or, in either case, at suchr @tiéress as one party may subsequently
furnish to the other party in writing. Additiongllif such notice or communication is by the Compsmthe Grantee, the Company may
provide such notice electronically (including via&il). Any such notice shall be deemed to havenlgieen (a) on the date of postmark, in the
case of notice by mail, or (b) on the date of delyy if delivered in person or electronically.

INSMED INCORPORATED

By:
Name:
Title:

The foregoing Agreement is hereby accepted antetihes and conditions thereof hereby agreed to éwittdersigned.

Dated:

[Name]




Exhibit 10.5

INSMED INCORPORATED
INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
UNDER THE 2013 INCENTIVE PLAN

Number of shares subject to Option:

THIS Incentive Stock Option Agreement (“Agreemertgted this , betwénsmed Incorporated, a
Virginia corporation (the “Company”), and (“Participant”), is maderpuant and subject to the provisions of the Insmed
Incorporated 2013 Incentive Plan, as amended @hen”), a copy of which has been made availabthadParticipant. All terms used herein
that are defined in the Plan have the same meaiweg them in the Plan.

If and to the extent that this Agreement conflmtss inconsistent with the terms, conditions amalsions of any
employment, consulting or similar services agredrbetween the Participant and the Company as may digect (the “Service Agreement”),
the Service Agreement shall control, and this Awagdeement shall be deemed to be modified accolglsmlong as such modification is not
expressly prohibited by the Plan.

1. Grant of Option . Pursuant to the Plan, the Company, on (the “Date of Grant”), gtad to
Participant, subject to the terms and conditionthefPlan and subject further to the terms anditiond herein set forth, the right and option to
purchase from the Company all or any part of amegaje of shares of Common Stock at the option price of $ per share,
being not less than the Fair Market Value of suwras on the Date of Grant (“Option”). This Optisrintended to be an “incentive stock
option” within the meaning of Section 422 of thedgédo the fullest extent permitted by law, as eahffurther in Section 15 below. This
Option is exercisable as hereinafter provided.

2. Terms and Conditions. This Option is subject to the following termsiasonditions:
a. Expiration Date . This Option shall expire ten years from the D#t&rant (the “Expiration Date”).
b. Exercise of Option. Except as provided in paragraphs 3, 4 and §Qpition shall be exercisable with respect to

twenty-five percent (25%) of the shares of Commtotkssubject to this Option on the first anniveysai the Date
of Grant (the “First Anniversary Date”) and wittspeect to an additional twelve and a half percept5%) of the
shares of Common Stock subject to this Option ersthth month anniversary of the First AnniversBate and eac
sixth month anniversary date thereafter througHdheth anniversary of the Date of Grant. If theefgoing schedule
would produce fractional shares, the number ofeshtor which




3.

the Option becomes exercisable shall be roundedh dothe nearest whole share. Once this Optiorbbesme
exercisable in accordance with the preceding seatiérshall continue to be exercisable until threnfeation of
Participants rights hereunder pursuant to paragraph 3, 4oonitil the Option has expired pursuant to subgraah
2(a). A partial exercise of this Option shall affect Participant’s right to exercise this Optigith respect to the
remaining shares, subject to the conditions offae and this Agreement.

Method of Exercising Option and Payment for Shares This Option shall be exercised by written notice
delivered to the attention of the Company’s ChiefaRcial Officer at the Company’s principal offiteNew Jersey
(see attachment A — “Notice of Option ExerciseThe exercise date shall be (i) in the case of adiicmail, the
date of postmark, or (ii) if delivered in persome date of delivery. Such notice shall be accornegibloy payment of
the Option price in full, in cash or cash equivalecceptable to the Committee, as well as, to xtené permitted by
the Committee, an irrevocable commitment by a brékgay over such amount from a sale of the shafr€mmot
Stock issuable under the Option, the delivery ei/musly owned shares of Common Stock, or withimgdif shares
of Common Stock deliverable upon exercise whichetber with any cash or cash equivalent paid, idass than
the Option price for the number of shares for whitdh Option is being exercised.

Nontransferability . This Option may not be sold, transferred, pleligessigned, or otherwise alienated or
hypothecated by Participant except by will or by Bws of descent and distribution. During Paptait’s lifetime,
this Option may be exercised only by Participant.

Agreement with Terms. Receipt of any benefits under this Agreement byiépant shall constitute Participant’s
acknowledgement of and agreement with all of thevigions of this Agreement and of the Plan thatagmglicable to
this Option, and the Company shall administer #gseement accordingly.

Exercise in the Event of Death In the event Participant dies before the exjuinadf this Option pursuant to

subparagraph 2(a), this Option shall be exercisatiterespect to all or part of the shares of Comr8tock that Participant was entitled to
purchase under subparagraph 2(b) on the date t€ipant’s death. In that event, this Option mayexercised, to the extent exercisable unde
subparagraph 2(b), by Participant’s estate or bypirson or persons to whom his rights under tpiso®@ shall pass by will or the laws of
descent and distribution. Participant’s estatsuzh persons may exercise this Option within ohgdéar of Participant’s death or during the
remainder of the period preceding the ExpiratioteD@hichever is shorter.




4. Exercise in the Event of Permanent and Total Disabity . In the event Participant becomes permanently and
totally disabled within the meaning of Section 223§ of the Code (“Permanently and Totally DisaBi)dukfore the expiration of this Option
pursuant to subparagraph 2(a), this Option shatiXeecisable with respect to all or part of therehaf Common Stock that Participant was
entitled to purchase under subparagraph 2(b) oddteehe ceases to be employed by the CompanysaAffiliates as a result of his becoming
Permanently and Totally Disabled. In that eveattiBipant may exercise this Option, to the extm@rcisable under subparagraph 2(b), withir
one (1) year of the date he ceases to be emplgydtelilCompany and its Affiliates as a result ofiBsoming Permanently and Totally
Disabled or during the period preceding the ExjwraDate, whichever is shorter.

5. Exercise After Termination of Employment. Except as provided in paragraphs 3 and 4 heifabg Participant
ceases to be employed by the Company and its &8i prior to the Expiration Date, this Option shelexercisable for all or part of the
number of shares that the Participant was entitiggirchase under subparagraph 2(b), as well dersietunder any Service Agreement, on the
date of Participan$ termination of employment. In that event, Pgrtcit may exercise this Option, to the extent esalde under subparagrz
2(b) and/or under any Service Agreement, during¢ngainder of the period preceding the Expirati@ieDor until the date that is three (3)
months (or such other period of time provided urader Service Agreement) after the date he ceadss émployed by the Company and its
Affiliates, whichever is shorter, with the undergling of Participant that in the event that Pgpticit is permitted to, and in fact does, exercise
the Option more than three (3) months after the daParticipant’s termination of employment, andfsexercise is not under the
circumstances set forth under paragraphs 3 orebhdehe Option will no longer be an Incentive &@ption.

6. Notice. Any notice or other communication given pursuarthis Agreement shall be in writing and shall be
personally delivered or mailed by United Statessteged or certified mail, postage prepaid, reteceipt requested, to the Company at its
principal place of business or to the Participdriha address on the payroll records of the Companiyn either case, at such other address as
one party may subsequently furnish to the othetypamwriting. Additionally, if such notice or comunication is by the Company to the
Participant, the Company may provide such notieetapnically (including via email). Any such natishall be deemed to have been given (a
on the date of postmark, in the case of notice bi,rar (b) on the date of delivery, if deliveradperson or electronically.

7. Fractional Shares. Fractional shares shall not be issuable herguadd when any provision hereof may entitle
Participant to a fractional share such fractiorlldieadisregarded.

8. Tax Withholding . The Grantee shall, not later than the date aghath the receipt of this Award becomes a
taxable event for Federal income tax purposesi@#ye Company or make arrangements satisfactahyetéddministrator for payment of any
Federal, state, local or other taxes required twttabe withheld on account of such taxable event.




9. No Right to Continued Employment. Nothing in the Plan or this Agreement shall integfevith or limit in any
way the right of the Company, its Subsidiaries ands Affiliates to terminate the Participant’s plmyment at any time or for any reason in
accordance with the Company’s Bylaws and govertang nor shall any terms of the Plan or this Agreabhtonfer upon Participant any right
to continue his or her employment for any specipjedod of time. Neither this Agreement nor anpdfés arising under the Plan shall
constitute an employment contract with the Company, Subsidiary and/or its Affiliates.

10. Adjustments Upon Certain Unusual or Nonrecurring Events or Other Events. Upon certain unusual or
nonrecurring events, or other events, the ternisfOption shall be adjusted by the Administratorsuant to Section 15 of the Plan.

11. Governing Law . This Agreement shall be governed by the lawthefCommonwealth of Virginia.

12. Conflicts . In the event of any conflict between the prawisi of the Plan as in effect on the date hereotlaad
provisions of this Agreement, the provisions of Blan shall govern. All references herein to tleRBhall mean the Plan as in effect on the
date hereof.

13. Participant Bound by Plan. Participant hereby acknowledges receipt of & aghe Plan and agrees to be bounc
by all the terms and provisions thereof.

14, Binding Effect . Subject to the limitations stated above andéRlan, this Agreement shall be binding upon and
inure to the benefit of the legatees, distributaesl, personal representatives of Participant andtlecessors of the Company.

15. Incentive Stock Option Treatment. The terms of this Option shall be interpreted imanner consistent with the
intent of the Company and the Participant thatQpé&on qualify as an Incentive Stock Option undect®n 422 of the Code. If any provision
of the Plan or this Agreement shall be impermigsiblorder for the Option to qualify as an Inceat®tock Option, then the Option shall be
construed and enforced as if such provision haémieeen included in the Plan or the Option. If eamthe extent that the number of Options
granted pursuant to this Agreement exceeds thealiimns contained in Section 422 of the Code orvétiee of Shares with respect to which
this Option may qualify as an Incentive Stock Optithis Option shall be a Non-Qualified Stock Optio

[Signatures on Following Page]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused thigégient to be signed by a duly authorized officed, Rarticipant
has affixed his signature hereto.

INSMED INCORPORATED

By:
Name:
Title:

By:
[NAME OF PARTICIPANT]




Attachment A

Chief Financial Officer

Insmed Incorporated

9 Deer Park Drive, Suite C
Monmouth Junction, NJ 08852-1919

Notice Of Option Exercise: Cash Payment

This letter is notice of my decision to exercise tiption that was granted to me on . The exercise will be
effective on arh exercising the option for shares of Common Stock. Enclosed ishack for $
, which is the aggregate opfioice for the number of shares for which | am ebséng the option.
Please issue the certificate according to thevietig instructions:

Name/entity stock certificate issued
(If entity is a trust, please include date trustwatablished.)

Address to send stock certificate:

Sincerely,

Accepted by

Date:

Note: The date of exercise cannot be earlier thaml#te of delivery of this notice or the postmarkhi¢ notice is mailed.




Exhibit 10.6
INSMED INCORPORATED

NON-QUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
UNDER THE 2013 INCENTIVE PLAN

No. of shares subject to Option:

THIS AGREEMENT dated this , between INSMED INCORPORATED, a Virginiarporation (the
“Company”), and (“Heipant”), is made pursuant and subject to the isioms of the Insmed Incorporated 2013 Incentive
Plan, as amended (the “Plan”), a copy of whichbbeen made available to the Participant. All teusesd herein that are defined in the Plan
have the same meaning given them in the Plan.

If and to the extent that this Agreement conflmtss inconsistent with the terms, conditions amalsions of any
employment, consulting or similar services agredrbetween the Participant and the Company as may digect (the “Service Agreement”),
the Service Agreement shall control, and this Awagdeement shall be deemed to be modified accolglsmlong as such modification is not
expressly prohibited by the Plan.

1. Grant of Option . Pursuant to the Plan, the Company, on (the “Date of Grant”), grantid
Participant, subject to the terms and conditionthefPlan and subject further to the terms anditiond herein set forth, the right and Optioi
purchase from the Company all or any part of ameggte of shares of Common Stock at the Option price of $ per share,
being not less than the Fair Market Value of sudras on the Date of Grant. This Option is intehebe a nonqualified stock option and not
an “incentive stock option” within the meaning afciion 422 of the Code. This Option is exercisasidereinafter provided.

2. Terms and Conditions. This Option is subject to the following termsiasonditions:
a. Expiration Date . This Option shall expire ten years from the D#t&rant (the “Expiration Date”).
b. Exercise of Option. Except as provided in paragraphs 3, 4 and §Qpition shall be exercisable with respect to

twenty-five percent (25%) of the shares of Commtotkssubject to this Option on the first anniveysai the Date
of Grant (the “First Anniversary Date”) and wittspeect to an additional twelve and a half percept5%) of the
shares of Common Stock subject to this Option ersthth month anniversary of the First AnniversBate and eac
sixth month anniversary date thereafter througHdheth anniversary of the Date of Grant. If theefgoing schedule
would produce fractional shares, the number ofeshtor which the Option becomes exercisable sleatblinded
down to the nearest whole share. Once this Opterblecome exercisable in accordance with




the preceding sentence it shall continue to becésadsle until the termination of Participant’s rigihereunder
pursuant to paragraph 3, 4 or 5 or until the Optias expired pursuant to subparagraph 2(a). Aaparercise of
this Option shall not affect Participant’s rightemercise this Option with respect to the remairshgres, subject to
the conditions of the Plan and this Agreement.

C. Method of Exercising Option and Payment for Shares This Option shall be exercised by written notice
delivered to the attention of the Company’s ChiefaRcial Officer at the Company’s principal offiteNew Jersey
(see attachment A — “Notice of Option ExerciseThe exercise date shall be (i) in the case of adiicmail, the
date of postmark, or (ii) if delivered in persome date of delivery. Such notice shall be acconegblny payment of
the Option price in full, in cash or cash equivalecceptable to the Committee, or such other medisadetermined
by the Committee, including an irrevocable commitirigy a broker to pay over such amount from a shthe
shares of Common Stock issuable under the Optieng¢livery of previously owned shares of Commatsor
withholding of shares of Common Stock deliveralpemexercise which, together with any cash or eaghvalent
paid, is not less than the Option price for the banof shares for which this Option is being exsxdi

d. Nontransferability . This Option may not be sold, transferred, pleligessigned, or otherwise alienated or
hypothecated by Participant except by will or by lws of descent and distribution. During Pgptait’s lifetime,
this Option may be exercised only by Participant.

e. Agreement with Terms. Receipt of any benefits under this Agreement byiépant shall constitute Participant’s
acknowledgement of and agreement with all of thevigions of this Agreement and of the Plan thatagmglicable to
this Option, and the Company shall administer #gseement accordingly.

3. Exercise in the Event of Death In the event Participant dies before the exjuinadf this Option pursuant to
subparagraph 2(a), this Option shall be exercisatiterespect to all or part of the shares of Comr8tock that Participant was entitled to
purchase under subparagraph 2(b) on the date ti€ipant’s death. In that event, this Option mayexercised, to the extent exercisable unde
subparagraph 2(b), by Participant’s estate or bypirson or persons to whom his rights under tpiso®@ shall pass by will or the laws of
descent and distribution. Participant’s estatsuzh persons may exercise this Option within ohgdéar of Participant’s death or during the
remainder of the period preceding the ExpiratioteD#&hichever is shorter.

4. Exercise in the Event of Permanent and Total Disabity . In the event Participant becomes permanently and
totally disabled within the meaning of Section 223 of




the Code (“Permanently and Totally Disabled”) beftire expiration of this Option pursuant to subgeaph 2(a), this Option shall be
exercisable with respect to all or part of the skaf Common Stock that Participant was entitleguichase under subparagraph 2(b) on the
date he ceases to be employed by the CompanysaAf€filtates as a result of his becoming Permaneatid Totally Disabled. In that event,
Participant may exercise this Option, to the exéxgtrcisable under subparagraph 2(b), within ohgdar of the date he ceases to be employe
by the Company and its Affiliates as a result aftécoming Permanently and Totally Disabled orrduthe period preceding the Expiration
Date, whichever is shorter.

5. Exercise After Termination of Employment. Except as provided in paragraphs 3 and 4 heifabg Participant
ceases to be employed by the Company and its &8#i prior to the Expiration Date, this Option Ebalexercisable for all or part of the
number of shares that the Participant was entitigrirchase under subparagraph 2(b), as well dersietunder any Service Agreement, on the
date of Participan$ termination of employment. In that event, Pgrticit may exercise this Option, to the extent esalde under subparagrz
2(b) and/or under any Service Agreement, during¢ngainder of the period preceding the Expirati@ieDor until the date that is three (3)
months (or such other period of time provided urater Service Agreement) after the date he ceadas ¢mnployed by the Company and its
Affiliates, whichever is shorter.

6. Notice. Any notice or other communication given pursuarthis Agreement shall be in writing and shall be
personally delivered or mailed by United Statessteged or certified mail, postage prepaid, reteceipt requested, to the Company at its
principal place of business or to the Participdriha address on the payroll records of the Companiyn either case, at such other address as
one party may subsequently furnish to the othetypamwriting. Additionally, if such notice or comunication is by the Company to the
Participant, the Company may provide such notieetsdnically (including via email). Any such natishall be deemed to have been given (a
on the date of postmark, in the case of notice hi},rar (b) on the date of delivery, if deliveradperson or electronically.

7. Fractional Shares. Fractional shares shall not be issuable hereundd when any provision hereof may entitle
Participant to a fractional share such fractiorlldfeadisregarded.

8. Tax Withholding . The Grantee shall, not later than the date aghafh the receipt of this Award becomes a
taxable event for Federal income tax purposesi@#tye Company or make arrangements satisfactahyetéddministrator for payment of any
Federal, state, local or other taxes required twttabe withheld on account of such taxable event.

9. No Right to Continued Employment or Other Service Nothing in the Plan or this Agreement shall ifgee with
or limit in any way the right of the Company, itslSidiaries and/or its Affiliates to terminate farticipant's employment at any time or for
any reason in accordance with the Company’s Bykwesgoverning law, nor shall any terms of the Rlathis Agreement confer upon
Participant any right to continue his or her empieynt for any specified period of time. NeithesthAigreement nor any benefits arising under
the Plan shall constitute an employment contrattt thie Company, any Subsidiary and/or its Affilate




If Participant is not an employee, nothing in thanPor this Agreement shall interfere with or lirmtany way the right of the Company, its
Subsidiaries and/or its Affiliates to terminate thentee’s service, (i) if a member of the Boarttlee Board at any time or for any reason in
accordance with the Company’s Bylaws and govertang or (ii) if a non-employee consultant or advjsa accordance with the terms of the
contract with such consultant or advisor. In nergshall any of the terms of the Plan or this Agrent itself confer upon Grantee any right to
continue his or her service for any specified pkobtime.

10. Adjustments Upon Certain Unusual or Nonrecurring Events or Other Events. Upon certain unusual or
nonrecurring events, or other events, the ternisfOption shall be adjusted by the Administratorsuant to Section 15 of the Plan.

11. Governing Law . This Agreement shall be governed by the lawthefCommonwealth of Virginia.

12. Conflicts . In the event of any conflict between the prawisi of the Plan as in effect on the date hereotlaad
provisions of this Agreement, the provisions of Blan shall govern. All references herein to tleRBhall mean the Plan as in effect on the
date hereof.

13. Participant Bound by Plan. Participant hereby acknowledges receipt of & aghe Plan and agrees to be bounc
by all the terms and provisions thereof.

14, Binding Effect . Subject to the limitations stated above andéRlan, this Agreement shall be binding upon and
inure to the benefit of the legatees, distributaesl, personal representatives of Participant andtlecessors of the Company.

[Signatures on Following Page]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused thigégient to be signed by a duly authorized officed, Rarticipant
has affixed his signature hereto.

INSMED INCORPORATEL
By:

Name:
Title:

[NAME OF PARTICIPANT]




Attachment A

Chief Financial Officer

Insmed Incorporated

9 Deer Park Drive, Suite C
Monmouth Junction, NJ 08852-1919

Notice Of Option Exercise: Cash Payment

This letter is notice of my decision to exercise tiption that was granted to me on . The exercise will be effective on
. | am exercising thption for share€Coimmon Stock. Enclosed is my check for $ , Which is
the aggregate option price for the number of shiareshich | am exercising the option.
Please issue the certificate according to thevietig instructions:

Name/entity stock certificate issued
(If entity is a trust, please include date trustwatablished.)

Address to send stock certificate:

Sincerely,

Accepted by

Date:

Note: The date of exercise cannot be earlier thaml#te of delivery of this notice or the postmarkhi¢ notice is mailed.




Name

APPENDIX A

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

EXHIBIT 21.1

Insmed Pharmaceuticals, Ir
Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, In
Insmed Limitec
Transave, LLC

Virginia

Delaware

England and Wale
Delaware
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EXHIBIT 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm
We consent to the incorporation by reference ifdllewing Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement on Form S-3 Nos. 33328 and 333-188851 of Insmed Incorporated; and

(2 Registration Statements on Form S-8 Nos. 3858, 333-87878, 333-129479, 333-175532, and 38883o0f Insmed Incorporated;

of our reports dated March 6, 2014, with respethéoconsolidated financial statements of Insmedrporated and the effectiveness of inte
control over financial reporting of Insmed Incorated included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K)reémed Incorporated for the year ended
December 31, 2013.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

MetroPark, New Jersey
March 6, 2014
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EXHIBIT 31.1

Section 302 Certification

I, William H. Lewis, Chief Executive Officer of Imsed Incorporated, certify that:

(2) 1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fknsmed Incorporated;

(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does notainrany untrue statement of a material fact ort@amstate a material fact necessary to n
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by

this report;

(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

(4) The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as definec
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iatednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoifee designed under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Designed such internal control over financégdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuoce with generally accepted accounting princjples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrati$slosure controls and procedures and presentidsi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coueyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesegnt's internal control over financial reportthgt occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regig's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeatf, the registrant's internal control over finahcéporting; and

(5) The registrant's other certifying officer anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant's auditors and the audit commitfethe registrant's board of directors (or pesguerforming the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@mifiole in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

Date: March 6, 2014

By: /s/ William H. Lewis

William H. Lewis
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officand Directol
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2003

In connection with this Annual Report on Form 1@Kinsmed Incorporated (the "Company") for the pgrended December 31, 2013 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#tte hereof (the "Report"), I, William H. Lewis, i@hExecutive Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adoptedyant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2010,

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirengnf Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgfgaAct of 1934, as amended; and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finanmaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

By: /s/ William H. Lewis

William H. Lewis
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
and Director

March 6, 2014

This certification accompanies the FormHK@e which it relates, is not deemed filed with tBecurities and Exchange Commission and is r
be incorporated by reference into any filing ofriesl Incorporated under the Securities Act of 1883mended, or the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before er tife date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of geperal incorporation language containec
in such filing.
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EXHIBIT 32.1

Section 302 Certification

I, Andrew T. Drechsler, Chief Financial Officer lofsmed Incorporated, certify that:

(2) 1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fknsmed Incorporated;

(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does notainrany untrue statement of a material fact ort@amstate a material fact necessary to n
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by

this report;

(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

(4) The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as definec
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iatednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoifee designed under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Designed such internal control over financégdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuoce with generally accepted accounting princjples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrati$slosure controls and procedures and presentidsi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coueyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesegnt's internal control over financial reportthgt occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regig's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeatf, the registrant's internal control over finahcéporting; and

(5) The registrant's other certifying officer anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant's auditors and the audit commitfethe registrant's board of directors (or pesguerforming the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@mifiole in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

Date: March 6, 2014

/s/ Andrew T. Drechsler

Andrew T. Drechsler
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office
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EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2003

In connection with this Annual Report on Form 1@Kinsmed Incorporated (the "Company") for the pgrended December 31, 2013 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#tte hereof (the "Report"), I, Andrew T. Drechs{@hjef Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 135Gdpted pursuant to 8§ 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley®2003, that:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirengnf Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgfeaAct of 1934, as amended; and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finanmaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Andrew T. Drechsler

Andrew T. Drechsler
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

March 6, 2014

This certification accompanies the FormHK@e which it relates, is not deemed filed with tBecurities and Exchange Commission and is r
be incorporated by reference into any filing ofriresl Incorporated under the Securities Act of 1833amended, or the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before er tife date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of geperal incorporation language containec
in such filing.
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